
DECLARATION OF JOAN DONOVAN

I, Joan Donovan, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, hereby declare as follows:

1. I am a person over eighteen (18) years of age and competent to testify. I make this Declaration

on personal knowledge and in support of my disclosure that leadership at Harvard University’s

Kennedy School ("HKS") were inappropriately influenced by Meta/Facebook. A significant

conflict of interest arising from funding and personal relationships has created a pervasive

culture at HKS of operating in the best interest of Facebook/Meta at the expense of academic

freedom and Harvard’s own stated mission.

2. Beginning in October 2021, my academic research was perceived by HKS Dean Doug

Elmendorf as adverse to the school’s relationship with Facebook/Meta and led to the shut down

of independent research that I and my team were conducting into misinformation and

disinformation on social media platform systems. Ultimately, in August 2023, the Kennedy

School culminated their years-long systematic effort to silence my team’s work by terminating

my employment contract and shutting down a fully-funded research program within the

Kennedy School. These efforts impacted my fellow researchers within the institution and

prevented my colleagues within the field more broadly to meaningfully collaborate on

misinformation and disinformation – issues that are clear and present dangers to our democracy

and democracies around the world.

3. I currently serve as an Assistant Professor at Boston University’s College of Communication

where I hold dual appointments in the Division of Emerging Media Studies and the Journalism

Department. Until August 2023, I served within Harvard University’s Kennedy School as the

Director of the Technology and Social Change Research Project ("TASC") while concurrently

serving as the Research Director of the Shorenstein Center on Media, Politics and Public Policy.

My focus is on the harmful effects of misinformation and disinformation, media manipulation,

online extremism, and politics, their effects on society, and how to shape policy to protect

American democracy and national security. I received my Ph.D in Sociology and Science Studies

from the University of California San Diego, and was a postdoctoral fellow at the University of

California, Los Angeles’ Institute for Society and Genetics.

4. Prior to joining the Kennedy School, I served as the Research Lead for the Media Manipulation

Initiative at Data & Society, a nonprofit research institution studying the social impact of data

and emerging technologies. While there I mapped how interest groups, governments, political

operatives, corporations, and others use the internet and media to disrupt social institutions. It is
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because of my work at Data & Society that the Kennedy School recruited me to join the school,

promising to support my work both financially and administratively which I accepted. I accepted

this position believing that I would have the academic freedom to conduct meaningful research

with the support of a highly respected institution.

5. I began working at the Kennedy School in December 2018 on an initial one year contract as the

"Director of the Technology and Social Change Project." Despite Shorenstein Center’s

assurances regarding support for my work and my research team, my employment offer was

bereft of any additional funding support for researchers or administrators.

6. Doing all of my own fundraising was the heaviest burden. Despite being told that the Kennedy

School’s Shorenstein Center would take care of the funding, in early 2019 I eventually had to

negotiate $700,000 from the Miami Foundation to pay for researchers, an administrator, and my

own salary. During the duration of my time at Harvard, I secured over $12 million in funding for

research, policy recommendations and public education. In April 2019, the then-director of the

Shorenstein Center’s appointment ended, and I subsequently renegotiated a three-year contract

with Nancy Gibbs, the new Faculty Director, and Setti Warren, the center’s Executive Director.

7. In February 2020, I received a promotion to Research Director for the entire Shorenstein

Center. These were tangible accolades for my research, my public research profile, and my ability

to bring new philanthropic interest to the Shorenstein Center. I viewed this as an honor and

treated the position accordingly.

8. Despite further success and praise from the leadership as Research Director, beginning in Fall

2021 HKS leadership suddenly began restricting my research capabilities. Furthermore, and just

as concerning, they directed that both my research and my own voice become less "prominent"

or publicly accessible – be it to other academics, researchers or the public at large. This was the

beginning of a nearly two year process of silencing TASC’s research culminating in the

dissolution of TASC.

The Facebook Factor

9. As my research and expertise developed, my work was gaining attention among leaders within

social media companies and led to oftentimes uncomfortable outreach from the very platforms I

was researching. For example: in 2019 Amber Heffernan, who was then with Global Strategic

Initiatives at Facebook, asked me to speak with Facebook employees about online hate issues. In

2020, she invited me to present my research as part of a "fireside chat". Nathaniel Gleicher, who

is currently the Director and Head of Security Policy at Meta, offered to provide me with an
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embargoed copy of the company’s transparency report if I agreed to comment to the press

about it – the implication was that my comments would ostensibly be positive. I believed this

because he told me that he wanted me to have an early copy of the transparency report because

he thought the media would be contacting me. Working in my field, I had become aware that

"access" often came with expectations. Over time, it became apparent that leaders within

Facebook were trying to influence me by offering to "fund" my research – something that I

viewed as an inherent conflict of interest. And so, I refused such offers of monetary resources

and data.

10. Furthermore, I was well aware that Facebook had a history of offering financial support to

researchers that came with expectations, examples include Dr. Hany Farid from University of

California Berkeley and Dr. Taylor Owen from McGill University. Dr. Farid told me that he had

to return over a million dollars to Facebook after he was contacted by a Meta executive

following some critical, but honest, comments made by Dr. Farid to the media. Dr. Owen, a

professor of public policy and researcher of disinformation had a different but equally

uncomfortable experience, where Kevin Chan, a prominent Facebook executive in Canada was

appointed as an advisory board member of the Max Bell School of Public Policy at McGill

University. Mr. Chan took it upon himself to use an advisory board meeting to disparage Dr.

Owen and his research as it pertained to Facebook. Mr. Chan, then, requested that the school

"fact-check" their tweets about Owen’s research and not to promote his research from their own

Twitter account. It was clear that what Mr. Chan found objectionable was not factual errors, but

rather the divergence of Dr. Owen’s research findings and Facebook’s public narratives. Mr.

Chan also offered funding for a journalism program at McGill, but the funding was turned down

after Dr. Owens intervened to explain that Meta funding journalism programs presented a

conflict of interest. With that said, my status within the Kennedy School, and professional

reputation outside of the school, appeared to be on solid footing at that time. However, things

changed beginning in the Fall of 2021.

11. In October 2021, Frances Haugen’s lawful disclosure about Facebook putting profits over

people and the platform’s impact on global society, safety, and security more broadly, became

public. Her disclosure, including thousands of internal Facebook documents, was so significant

that it was not only the topic of conversation among researchers within my field, but her

disclosure was – for weeks – the top news story in the mainstream press. The same week that

the public learned about Ms. Haugen’s disclosures, Kennedy School leadership asked that I speak
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before the school’s "Dean’s Council", a group of approximately 50 top donors who provide the

Kennedy School with substantial multi-year funding. I accepted this invitation and viewed it as

an honor.

12. When the Dean’s Council met on October 29, 2021, Ms. Haugen’s disclosures had already

become publicly known. As a result, the majority of the conversation focused on Facebook and

her disclosures. Ms. Gibbs acted as the host of the event and interviewed me about media

manipulation, disinformation, journalism, and democracy. The event was scheduled to last an

hour. The panel was split into two parts. The majority of the time I spoke with Ms Gibbs about

the impact of disinformation on journalism and democracy. Although, we began with the top

line story of the week, Francis Haugen’s disclosures of Facebook’s internal research that proved

what outside researchers had found for years, i.e. Facebook knew its products were harmful to

the public as they promoted poor mental health in teens, produced inciting effects, and spread

misinformation far and wide. The final 15 mins of the panel was devoted to questions from the

donors. Ms. Gibbs opened with questions about the Facebook disclosure. At that moment, I was

one of the only researchers in the world who had access to the documents – a fact I provided

during this event. I told those present that these Facebook documents are "the most important

documents in internet history." During the talk, I raised the same concerns about Facebook’s

impact on democracy that were then being discussed in the mainstream press and media outlets

– around the world. That is to say, my comments and concerns were not in any way out of sync

with public discourse.

13. As Ms. Gibbs was interviewing me, one member of the Dean’s Council, Elliot Schrage, the

Former Head of Communication for Facebook and, from my experience, he is known in the

misinformation research community as Facebook’s "fixer" within academia, became increasingly

and visibly agitated. During the interview portion of the meeting, Mr. Schrage was rocking in his

chair in a visibly agitated manner and raised his hand several times attempting to interject during

the discussion. Throughout the audience questions portion of the event, Mr. Schrage

monopolized the discussion by accusing me that my reading of the documents was inaccurate

and that he disagreed with all prior discussion about Facebook. I tried to answer Mr. Schrage’s

allegations, but he kept speaking out angrily. Eventually, [REDACTED], a member of the Dean’s

Council who introduced the session, had to intervene. Mr. Schrage’s conduct was so

overwhelming and disruptive that [REDACTED] was forced to raise her voice in an attempt to

try and calm Mr. Schrage. It was tense, awkward, and embarrassing for everyone involved.
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14. I texted Ms. Gibbs that evening because I was worried I was going to lose my job based on Mr.

Schrage’s anger and the minefield of pro-Facebook influence at HKS. I was very upset by the

interaction and was scared that my Dean’s Council interview would lead to trouble for me or my

team within HKS. I wrote in a text chat:

15. Just ten days later on November 8, 2021, I and Ms. Gibbs received a highly unusual1 email from

Douglas Elmendorf, the Dean of the Kennedy School. He began his email by explicitly

referencing the Dean’s Council discussion from the prior week. He asked to schedule a time to

meet with me and other deans to discuss my research in the near future. Typically when Dean

Elmendorf communicated with me, he would either ask about my research, generally or praise

1 Previously Dean Elmendorf ’s communications with me were full of praise. For example on August 8, 2019 he wrote in
an email: “Hi Joan, I hope your summer has been going well – and that you’ve had some time for relaxation alongside all
the wonderful work you’ve been doing. I’m so pleased to see the difference you’re making in the way that news is
reported and information is conveyed. I think you’re working at such a fascinating and crucial intersection of technical
challenges and human challenges, and I eagerly await your steps forward. I would be happy as a citizen for you to be
doing this work anywhere, but as the HKS dean, I am especially happy for you to be doing this work with Nancy and
others here. Thanks for that! Best, Doug”
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me for a public appearance or OpEd. However, in this instance, the dean was laser-focused on

Facebook. He explicitly noted that he was not as interested to learn about my overarching

research, but rather specific questions arising from the Dean’s Council meeting. He wrote the

following:

Subject: misinformation

Hello Joan and Nancy,

Your interesting discussion with the Dean’s Council a few weeks ago reminded
me that I haven’t sat down and talked with you about this work in a while. I
mentioned my interest to [3 HARVARD DEANS’ NAMES REDACTED], who
were all eager to learn more themselves. Can the six of us meet sometime in the
next few weeks?

Given the limited time we’ll have and the complexity of the work you’re doing, I
think it’d be better not to try for an overview but instead to focus on a few key
issues drawn from the questions raised by the Dean’s Council and my own
limited reading of current events. In particular, I’d love to hear more about:

● How you define and measure the problem of misinformation that shows
how the current situation is different from (or similar to) misinformation in
earlier eras?

● How you define the problem of misinformation for both analysis and
possible responses (algorithm-adjusting or policy-making) when there is no
independent arbiter of truth [emphasis supplied] (in this country or others)
and Constitutional protections of speech (in some countries)? I don’t mean the
mechanics, but the principles; for example, how could one decide when
objections against vaccines are okay or not okay, when rejection of
human-caused climate change is okay or not okay, etc.

● How the research you’re conducting provides a basis for comments
you’re making about current events. I understand why Nancy started with the
news about Facebook, but someone pointed out to me that very little that has
appeared in the Misinformation Review seems to be about Facebook, which
makes me wonder how the current state of research on misinformation does (or
doesn’t) overlap with interest on the outreach side.

Thanks,
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Doug

16. When I read this email from Dean Elmendorf, it was obvious to me that Facebook, either

directly or through intermediaries, was communicating with him about my research. It became

apparent very quickly that Dean Elmendorf was being told Facebook’s position on my team’s

research and my interviews in the media concerning Facebook. I thought the agitation

demonstrated by Mr. Schrage based on the confluence of my disinformation research, my receipt

of the entire contents of Frances Haugen’s cache of internal Facebook documents, and my view

of the significance of these documents was likely shared by Meta leadership and former

leadership who were close to the Dean. What struck me as particularly notable was his use of the

phrase "arbiters of truth". This phrase had become a meme among misinformation researchers

because Facebook public relations reiterated it so often. Moreover, at that time Facebook was

also pushing the idea that the words "misinformation" and "disinformation" were too ill defined

to be enforced – so his questions matched Facebook’s public narrative. For example, Facebook

advocated using the phrase "real-world harm" in place of the word "incitement" in an attempt to

redefine and reset the dialogue and the research around social media impact more broadly –

distancing themselves from any responsibility for the consequences of their decisions.

17. I was well aware of tactics like this from studying the tobacco industry earlier in my career.

Throughout the 1970s and 1980s, tobacco companies wanted to brand everyone as either "active

or a passive smokers," that meant, even children or those who were simply dining in a restaurant

were all "passive smokers." For corporations, controlling the narrative about harm caused by

their products is a key part of communications and public relations strategies. Thankfully for the

public, through the work of researchers and anti-smoking advocates, the term "secondhand

smoke" won out. Through my study of the Tobacco industry playbook, I understood the battle

over who gets to define misinformation and disinformation in starkly similar terms to the earlier

debate over "passive smokers" vs. "secondhand smoke".

18. I was also wary of Mr. Schrage because of media reports and discussions amongst colleagues

that worked closely with Mr. Schrage on the Social Science One project for using media

manipulation as part of his job.2 For example in 2018, CNBC reported that Mr. Schrage tasked a

politically-affiliated public relations firm to push negative narratives about Facebook's

competitors, namely Apple and Google.3 After Dean Elmendorf ’s email on November 8, 2021, I

3 https://www.cnbc.com/2018/11/21/facebook-elliot-schrage-takes-the-blame-for-hiring-definers-pr-firm.html
2 https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/craigsilverman/funders-are-ready-to-pull-out-of-facebooks-academic-data

7

https://www.cnbc.com/2018/11/21/facebook-elliot-schrage-takes-the-blame-for-hiring-definers-pr-firm.html
https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/craigsilverman/funders-are-ready-to-pull-out-of-facebooks-academic-data


believed Mr. Schrage, and likely others, were using the same approach against me and my team.

Further, I had been warned by other faculty at Harvard and other universities that Mr. Schrage

and Sheryl Sandberg, former COO of Facebook, were particularly strategic when influencing

academia, the media, and their powerful peers. The Wall Street Journal reported that Ms. Sandberg

had pressured The Daily Mail to drop stories related to her boyfriend’s restraining order on two

occasions in 2016 and 2019.4 From these reports, it seemed that her media manipulation tactic

was to contact those in very high positions to request they look into the story as it was

developing. As reported by The Wall Street Journal, Ms. Sandberg was very concerned the negative

press about her boyfriend would tarnish her reputation as an advocate for women, so she killed

the stories.

19. On a different matter, Ms. Gibbs emailed me and Dr. Latanya Sweeney, the Daniel Paul

Professor of the Practice of Government and Technology at Harvard Kennedy School and my

co-principal investigator, on 04/23/2021, that Facebook had reached out to host some private

meetings with other researchers at Shorenstein. I advised Ms. Gibbs to stay away from Facebook

as they would want to know about my research. Dr. Sweeney also expressed concern that

Facebook would attempt to co-opt Shorenstein research for its own purpose. Ms. Gibbs wrote

to us:

Thanks for this essential context.

They don’t scare me. Sheryl made her priorities clear to me a year or two ago, when she
called and asked if I’d talk with her about "the narrative around Facebook." I told her I
was always happy to talk, but the problem was not the narrative, it was the product. She
stopped calling after that.

So, we do this the right way.

Thank you both for your integrity and strength.
Nancy

I believed Ms. Gibbs was telling the truth that she valued independent research, but as I came to

learn it was not a universal value held across HKS or Harvard University.

20. Moreover, faculty colleagues at Harvard also informed me that Mr. Schrage and Sheryl Sandberg,

former COO of Facebook, both had close personal relationships with Dean Elmendorf as

4 https://www.wsj.com/amp/articles/sandberg-facebook-kotick-activision-blizzard-daily-mail-11650549074
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donors and alumni. Notably, I was aware that Dean Elmendorf was Sheryl Sandberg’s

undergraduate advisor in 19915 and continues to maintain a close personal relationship with her.

21. In fact, Dr. Sweeney once told me that she had attended a dinner at Ms. Sandberg’s home along

with Dean Elmendorf, just prior to the start of the pandemic. She was so struck by the closeness

of their decades-long friendship that she confided in me her own concerns about Dean

Elmendorf ’s close, personal relationship with Ms. Sandberg and the potential conflict of interest

with the work we were doing. Dean Elmendorf would go on to attend Sheryl Sandberg’s

wedding on August 20, 2022 in Wyoming, where he was photographed by People Magazine.6 A

mere four days afterwards, Dean Elmendorf told me that he was shutting down my research

team and would not honor my employment contract, which was to conclude on 12/31/2024.

22. Before that meeting on August 24, 2022, I had already been called into the Dean’s office to attest

for the integrity of my research. Dean Elmendorf ’s email in November 2021 was alarming, not

only because for the first time he was singling out and questioning the very basic tenets of my

research, he was also suggesting that my public comments were out of step with the rest of the

field about Facebook’s role in disseminating misinformation. I found his position confusing

because anyone who read the news that week was inundated by the bad press about Facebook

stemming from their own internal documents. I was but one voice in the chorus of professors,

Members of Congress, researchers, pundits and human rights advocates discussing the issues. I

sought to defend the integrity of my work and quickly responded to him on 11/08/2021,

writing:

Subject: Re: misinformation

Hi Doug,

This sounds like a great idea. I wanted to put a few ideas out in the open so we
can discuss.

Most of our research is available at mediamanipulation.org, which will give you a
sense of how we define these categories of misinformation and disinformation
and deploy them in the context of our research. Most disinformation campaigns
are multi-platform and involve some public planning, so my team does not only
study Facebook, or twitter, in isolation. Rather, we make incidents into
intelligence by following events as they spread online. We use no data provided

6 https://people.com/human-interest/inside-sheryl-sandberg-and-tom-bernthals-western-wedding-in-wyoming/
5 https://www.thecrimson.com/article/2016/5/24/Sheryl-Sandberg-profile/
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by platform companies and conduct all of our research independently. Mis and
disinformation is best discussed within a specific case, where we can point to
evidence and discuss intention. Tech companies often point to these words as
empty signifiers, which I disagree with. If misinformation was not a problem on
their products, why build teams and spend millions to try to eradicate it?

It is the position of tech companies that the definitions of misinformation and
disinformation are more murky than it seems. In some instances, we are unable
to conclude who/what is behind a particular campaign and in that case we will
report that absence as well. Usually our case studies involve finding a group of
people using one platform to coordinate and then they deploy the harassment or
fake evidence on another platform. Typically, disinformation campaigns will pop
up in the context of breaking news events, but we do not publish research until
months have passed and we have made sure that our work is sound.

We study Facebook in a number of ways, including using FB’s own tool
"crowdtangle" to glean insights from public pages. It is a notoriously difficult
platform to explore, but researchers often discuss how to keep up with new
methods.

In our case studies, we do not make proclamations that a vaccine is okay or not
okay or other moral judgements about politics. What we look for is instances
where individuals or groups manipulate the design of social media to achieve
some specific ends, be in political or profitable gain. We look for behaviors
where individuals or groups have created fake accounts, or bought advertising, or
have sought to wedge public issues in some underhanded way by hiding their
identity, affiliations, or intentions. In this way, we do not generally speak about
what is good or bad for a society, but rather what is true or false about a specific
public event.

I believe there is a bit of a mix up with the Misinfo Review, which is [NAME
REDACTED]’s project. I do provide some mentorship to the post doc editor on
the project, but I am not writing or vetting papers on that project. Largely, I try
to help when needed.

I have been researching Facebook for over a decade. My speciality is Internet
studies and I have several peer reviewed papers about the relationship between
internet technology, social movements, and social change. I also have numerous
papers and articles that involve studies of Facebook both directly, where I
investigated how rumors of the efficacy of hydroxychloroquine spread early in
the pandemic, and indirectly, where Facebook is one of several companies
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implicated in the circulation of dangerous misinformation. Here is a short paper
that encapsulates how we do our research and the way it relates to more
contemporary historical case studies
https://jods.mitpress.mit.edu/pub/2gnso48a/release/8

Best,
Joan

23. At this point in time, not only did I have lawful access to the Facebook documents, I was

working with Dr. Sweeney and Ms. Manley to publish them – in the public interest. Dean

Elmendorf would come to learn about the document project, that same day 11/08/2021, in a

meeting with Dr. Sweeney. This public access effort would become known as the Facebook

Archive or FB Archive. Also on November 8, 2021, as our Facebook Archive team was

preparing for Dr. Sweeney to attend a meeting with Kennedy School leadership to discuss the

FB Archive project, I sent this email to Dr. Sweeney, Ms. Gibbs, and Ms. Manley writing:

From: Donovan, Joan M <[EMAIL ADDRESS REDACTED]>
Sent: Monday, November 8, 2021 8:35 AM

Subject: Re: fbarchive.org

This all looks incredible to me!

Just a heads up, Nancy I got an email this morning from the Dean asking very
specific questions about Facebook and how the research at TASC is conducted.
At the deans council meeting Elliot Schrage was very angry with me and now the
Dean wonders how we can assess misinformation when no one is "an arbiter of
truth." So, they did go to the Dean after that council meeting. This is really going
to bring the heat.

I am going to meet with [REDACTED] on Wednesday at 115pm about helping
to clean the archive. I will also invite [REDACTED] too. Anyone else I should
include? It’s a cursory meeting to see how many people we can assemble. I’ll
include y’all on the invite too.

Best,
Joan
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24. Later that morning but before the meeting, Ms. Manley and Dr. Sweeney suggested taking TASC

and my name off the project so as not to agitate Dean Elmendorf. Dr. Sweeney memorialized

this in an email:

Subject: Re: fbarchive.org

Hi,

Thanks for the heads up Joan. Here is what I suggest…

1. Let’s remove the explicit listing of TASC, minimally, or of all three
groups, when the website updates later today. No reason to put a target on the
project that allows FB to claim bias before we even do anything. Otherwise, we
have to deal with their discrediting campaign before we can even launch. We can
still include logos for the Tech Lab and the Data Privacy Lab. Doing so may
reduce the heat. Just throwing this out as a possibility.

2. At the right time, we should invite Facebook to help annotate the
documents and offer explanation. We realize that one document or a couple of
images cannot convey the whole story, so we welcome Facebook to join the
platform and provide tags and discussion to further understanding. If Facebook
is concerned about "truth", and we certainly are, this seems a good opportunity
for Facebook to clarify.

Joan, I am not sure what all the extra people and names mean, but that seems a
conversation for our next meeting. Maybe we can spec out who is doing what
and in which version at the meeting.

[REDACTED] had mentioned a group email that we all share. If we want a
group email, we have to set it up independently of HKS. The schools, FAS and
SEAS, for example, make bright lines between activities sponsored by research
efforts and those sponsored by the schools themselves. FAS, for example, does
not control a legitimate research effort, and in exchange, the research effort is
not sponsored by the school. I am not sure how Shorenstein in this model. My
view: Shorenstein has a legitimate and substantive role to play in the project as
part of its research agenda, which is why the explicit inclusion. But that’s just my
opinion.

If folks want a shared email, we can use Google and hiver, for example. But the
email should not have a *.harvard.edu name. We can use Google and hiver or
even AWS for *.fbarchive.org addresses. What do you think?
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After Laura’s edits, I think this is where we are with the content…
Note: Laura, used "primary" instead of "principal" goal because we may have
other goals.
Note: used fbarchive.org as Laura suggested to keep the branding clear.
Note: included TASC and Shorenstein unless you advise otherwise. Replaced
"in" with "across"
Note: the research aims are more generalizable than the goals of the website,
which is why they are listed separately.
Let me know if there are any further or additional edits.

We have established the Facebook Archive (fbarchive.org) with two primary
goals: (1) to provide researchers and journalists around the world with
searchable, indexed access to curated versions of the internal Facebook
documents; and (2) to encourage collaborative analysis of the documents to
improve understanding.

fbarchive.org consists of images of documents taken by Francis Haugen, the
whistleblower who disclosed tens of thousands of pages of internal Facebook
research. Teams at Facebook used social science and data analytics to help the
company's leadership understand adverse consequences from their decisions and
technology designs. The documents provide a wealth of material for academic
and journalistic study and a unique opportunity for collaborative investigation
and understanding.

We have removed personal names and other sensitive content that appear in the
images for privacy reasons. We are unable to share the raw material as we believe
it would be irresponsible to release images without this type of redaction and
curation.

fbarchive.org is a research project across the Public Interest Tech Lab, the
Technology and Social Change Project, and the Shorenstein Center at Harvard
University. Our research aims are to construct an innovative tool for
collaborative investigation of image artifacts, to curate content about the images
for improved understanding, and to measure and assess the de-identification of
personal names found in images.

We welcome collaborators and participants.

—LS
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25. On the origins of the FB Archive, I came into lawful possession of Frances Haugen’s trove of

documents made available to Congress and from Congress to some journalists in early October

2021. On October 16, 2021, I sent this email to Dr. Sweeney, my most trusted colleague, about

my plans to make an archive from the Facebook documents.

Subject: Fb whistleblower docs?

Hi Latanya, [REDACTED] has the FB whistleblower files (tens of thousands of cell
phone pictures of computer screens). Would you want to talk with me and
[REDACTED] about possibly making a searchable archive of these documents for the
public interest? [REDACTED] will be in town next week along with my whole team and
we would really appreciate any time you could spare to talk this through and possibly
have you host it.

I can be in touch with [REDACTED] about scheduling if this is something of interest.

Hope you’re doing well!

26. In early November 2021, during a convening of fellow internet researchers, it became apparent

that I was the only one in the room who had possession of the entire cache of Frances Haugen’s

Facebook documents. I had several offers for collaboration to share the documents with other

researchers. I also fielded phone calls from potential funders of any project related to the

Facebook documents. I chose to work with Dr. Sweeney because she was the shoulder I leaned

on when I needed to decode the politics of HKS. I regard Dr. Sweeney to be brilliant at

computer science, the foremost authority on privacy in technology, and had a vision to build the

FB Archive on the base of a data sharing platform that she had designed previously. Dr. Sweeny

recommended that we keep the entire project to a limited number of people on a "need to

know" basis. We spoke to Ms. Manley about Shorenstein using some of the Director’s funds to

bring on more staff. One night in October, Ms. Manley, the TASC program manager, and I

worked late into the evening crafting a proposal explaining the project and its goals. This

document became the "about" page on FBArchive.org, and was the draft proposal that was

given to donors in November and December of 2021.

27. Despite Ms. Manley and Dr. Sweeney’s concerns about Dean Elmendorf ’s closeness to

Facebook and my vulnerable non-tenure track position as a staff and adjunct faculty member, I
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believed that I had academic freedom and that if any university was fortified against incursion by

big tech, it would be Harvard. I responded by saying in an email,

As much as I want not to paint the target, my team would feel awful if they thought I
had backed down from this. So let’s go ahead with the listing of TASC and I’ll roll with
the waves.

28. Ms. Gibbs responded to me separately about my message to the dean, she said,

"I assumed Eliot was behind Doug’s message— but your response was thoughtful and
thorough, and in a way I’m glad for chances to school them on the thoroughness and
scholarly rigor of your research. It’s gonna be an interesting couple of weeks."

29. We each came to the conclusion that Facebook was creating a fuss with Dean Elmendorf. I

responded to her, "Thanks for the vote of confidence. I knew the companies would come for

me but I just hate the idea that the dean's office and influential people are saying stuff about "my

research" without having read it. Lots of people at FB like my research and use it. But I

digress… another day at the office."

30. For the next two months, I was out of office on disability with a particularly serious case of

COVID and the meeting with HKS leadership was moved to January 11, 2022.

31. On December 8, 2021, the Harvard Crimson reported that the university would receive a

donation of $500 million dollars by the Chan Zuckerberg Initiative, the largest donation in

Harvard’s history.7 While still hospitalized, I worried a lot about the upcoming meeting and

sought advice from Ms. Gibbs, Ms. Manley, and Dr. Sweeney, all of whom believed the meeting

was motivated by Mr. Schrage’s reaction to my presentation during the October 2021 meeting of

the Dean’s Council. Ms. Gibbs assured me that Dean Elmendorf is a rational and ethical man

and that his reaching out to me was a sign of his respect for TASC’s research. I feared the

explanation was much more simple: I was being called into the Dean’s office for offending

donors from Facebook. I believed that a moral or ethical man would also extend some

compassion for the person facing backlash because of donor anger.

7 https://www.thecrimson.com/article/2021/12/8/chan-zuckerberg-donates-500-million/
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32. On January 11, 2022, I attended a meeting with Kennedy School leadership, including Dean

Elmendorf, [NAME REDACTED] (Academic Dean), [NAME REDACTED] (Academic Dean

for Teaching and Curriculum), [NAME REDACTED] (Dean of Research and Policy), Dr.

Sweeney, Ms. Manley, and Ms. Gibbs. The meeting was somewhat confusing to me as much of

our research was already publicly available and I was asked not to use slides or go into detail.

Dean Elmendorf wanted to know more about how we conduct our research and I attempted to

explain our methodology of using case studies, but was told not to get into the specifics. Dean

Elmendorf interrupted me several times as I answered questions posed and he pressed me about

defining misinformation, a well known Facebook talking point. He interrupted my answer saying

he did not want to hear details, and yet his questions asked for specificity about how we do our

research. So, I told him that there is no way for me to explain our research without pointing

towards specific case studies because misinformation and disinformation is best understood as

an event with historical examples. It struck me that Dean Elmendorf was frustrated. Dr.

Sweeney did offer another answer, explaining that my research is qualitative and anthropological,

so it’s not as cut and dry as quantitative research. I assured HKS leadership that we employ a

rigorous methodology and can substantiate and cite all of our claims, be they about specific

actors or algorithms. I left this Zoom meeting with a lot of anxiety that Dean Elmendorf was

questioning the integrity of our research with a purpose. I felt that the Dean was digging in an

effort to poke holes in the work.

33. After this meeting, Dean Elmendorf followed up with Dr. Sweeney, who passed along his

feedback. I still do not know why he did not want to communicate with me directly rather than

going through a third party. She told me to bulk up the methodology section of the Casebook

methods web page. We made these adjustments and she passed them along to Dean Elmendorf.

34. I became more alarmed as my work became increasingly difficult to perform in a very real way.

Following the January 2022 meeting, my program was being starved of personnel and the grants

management process ground to a halt. I planned to host a podcast as part of our public

engagement efforts, which were part of our grant deliverables. In the podcast, I would conduct

interviews with different technology stakeholders, but the Dean’s office would not sign the

contract, despite the funding already available in an account held by Harvard. I tried to plan for

the fall semester by requesting three fellows but despite repeated efforts, I did not receive a clear

reply from Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley in time. I also put in a hiring request for an event staffer

because we were planning a conference in Spring 2023, another grant deliverable, and the FB

16

https://mediamanipulation.org/methods
https://mediamanipulation.org/methods


archive project was intended to include workshops, but was told by different staff members that

my request for a position was “in progress” for months.

35. By Spring 2022, the FBArchive project had slowed to a crawl. Because it was woven into the

culture of HKS that anything that touched Facebook was likely to face backlash from Dean

Elmendorf. Dr. Sweeney and Ms. Manley were coming up with strategies to avoid upsetting

Dean Elmendorf. They drafted a letter that they hoped Dean Elmendorf would send to Mr.

Schrage and Ms. Sandberg. Dr. Sweeney wrote to me and Ms. Manley on 04/12/2022:

Hi,

I think more of it as an short email to Doug that recommends a research message to
Eliot and Sheryl. Maybe I should send the message to keep it more aligned with the
research mission. I would write something like the following. See what you and the
others think…

Doug,

one of the groups that can benefit the most from making fbarchive public is Facebook
itself. The documents reveal several issues that Facebook struggles with, and for which,
the best solutions are not known. They are just open questions. FBarchive provides a
perfect opportunity to get a thousand great minds to work on content moderation
approaches and other difficult issues Facebook faces. These issues lie at the intersection
of technology design and accompanying policy, and so fbarchive makes the environment
ripe for research and insight.

If you find it helpful, you might share the idea with Eliot or Sheryl that Facebook may be
the biggest benefactor. You might even go further and suggest that they have researchers
who work with us in some capacity after fbarchive launches.

--LS

I do not know if this email was ever sent to Dean Elmendorf.

36. By November 2022, I came to realize that Dr. Sweeney was taking the FB Archive on an

independent path from our original vision and agreement. This was made clear in a Knight

Foundation conference in November 2022, where Dr. Sweeney presented some features of the

project – but not other critical components of the project to achieve the public interest goals

such as allowing for annotations on the archive itself, collaborative special collections, and

support for discussion amongst researchers on the archive.
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37. In March 2023, in response to an email from Ms. Gibbs asserting that HKS "owns" all the IP of

my work at Harvard, I specifically asked her:

I saw in your press releases a claim that the tech lab will keep the fb
archive, but that was never discussed with me and Latanya. I am a
partner on that project despite how it was framed in the media.[8] I don't
think it's fair that you told the media the project will continue without
interruption as my team plays a large role in the workshops once the
tech platform is finished.

38. I forwarded this email exchange to Dr. Sweeney because it involved the FB archive project, she

responded on 03/07/2023:

Hi Joan, The email exchange is painful to read, better yet, it is hard to imagine your
experience. I am very sorry that you are having these kinds of communications. Take
some time to take care of yourself. As you could expect, I have had no conversations
with anyone about those issues.

However, I did see that you mentioned FBarchive. I sent you a text message earlier to let
you know that we are near the end now (at last!). So, keep an eye out for launch. I will
send you messages.

We will compose a history page, as I have done with several of my projects to enumerate
contributions. Project history pages usually have entries at milestones and record the
people involved and the nature of their contributions. The history page for FBarchive
will of course memorialize the contributions made by you and TASC. Examples: the
datamap and vote flare.

I know the email exchange you shared can be distorting, especially read out of context.
But in terms of IP and FBarchive…

The technological IP (design, architecture, and implementation) in FBarchive belongs to
the Lab alone. No one can claim IP over the original content of course, but the Lab also
has IP in the redaction strategy used. Your team contributed the citation reference used
to identify each image and document, and of course, you were part of the original
concept. This is the kind of details that we will document on the history page.

A while ago, the FBarchive Privacy and Safety Board had a discussion about the scope of
content and activities related to FBarchive. Here’s the jest. Anyone can host workshops,

8 https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2023/02/02/misinformation-harvard-donovan-close/;
https://www.thecrimson.com/article/2023/2/2/donovan-forced-leave-hks/
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write papers, make podcasts, or host social media discussions about its contents. None of
these have to be us, or some of those may be us in our various Lab or Center roles but
not FBarchive itself.

Also, FBarchive will not publish summaries on the site itself (though we have assembled
topical and subject indices). As we near launch, the Board will revisit, but I think these
rules of engagement seem the simplest and cleanest way to avoid Facebook and others
believing we have some grip with Facebook or some other agenda. I will keep you and
your team members in my prayers as you work through this period.

My hope is that you land somewhere great and do amazing work. Success is the best
response. —LS

39. I responded that day to Dr. Sweeney:

Thanks Latanya for this information, The IP issues came up because Nancy had said the
school owns all TASC IP. Good to know this does not extend to the FBArchive project
too. I was asking for clarity specifically about what IP she was referring to in her earlier
email. Happy to know the project does truly reside in your hands alone. That is good
news to me. It’s been a tough few months, and I’d like to be kept in the loop for the
project roll out.

Best,
Joan

40. I still don’t quite understand all of the exchanges around IP, only that I created my scholarship

with the clear intention to publish open access in compliance to the requirements of grant

funding. On March 18, 2023, I specifically asked Dr. Sweeney about the IP issues related to the

FB Archive and included it in my email seeking clarification of the assertions of IP ownership

being pushed by the Dean and Ms. Gibbs, writing in relevant part:

I did speak to Latanya and she told me that she retains all of the IP for Facebook
archive. This is good news as FB Archive and platform accountability will be a focus of
fall research papers and workshops. What kinds of IP should I be concerned about here?

41. Beginning in early 2023, Dr. Sweeny was excited to loop me into the progress on her side of the

FB Archive project – much of which dealt with developing the archive platform which could be

accessed by the public. In early March, Dr. Sweeny told me that the FB Archive was near the end

of the prep and could "soon launch". At the start of April 2023, Dr. Sweeny said that the FB
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Archive was "near launch". Later that month, Dr. Sweeney advised that everything on our end

for the FB Archive was done but she was waiting for "Facebook lawyers to clear."

42. On 05/26/2023, Dr. Sweeney reached out to me to let me know she was launching the FB

Archive and wanted my approval for the history page. Not long after a journalist reached out to

ask if I had already left Harvard because she noted that the TASC logo and my name was

removed from the FBarchive website. I made a few suggestions related to naming the TASC

team and another contributor from UT Austin. On 06/02/2023, I sent the following email:

Hi Latanya,

I just noticed my team’s name/logo was removed from the FB archive entirely. I’m also
not able to sign into the platform and gain access to the documents either.

Can you tell me when I and the TASC team were erased from the project’s front page? I
ask because you ultimately had to be the one to direct someone to do it.

The internet archive has TASC still up there on March 5, 2023, so this turn was very
recent.

I don’t believe it is fair that I’m undergoing an immense pressure to leave the school and
having my credibility tore apart in the media [examples provided below]9, while also
being stripped of my name on the work I fought so hard for. Having my team's name
removed from the archive is incredibly upsetting to all of us, especially those who took
on this risk and lost. I don't know how to explain to them what happened here. It’s
gutting.

I am very grateful for all the work you put into it to carry it forward while I was
experiencing pressure and isolation from the Dean, Nancy, and Laura. I don’t mean to
put this all on you. I’m asking for some insight, not laying the blame.

To be very clear, I don’t know who made the decision to remove me from the meetings,
minutes, and the website. Please tell me how that came about.

9 https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2023/02/02/misinformation-harvard-donovan-close/;
https://www.bostonglobe.com/2023/02/03/business/harvard-winding-down-misinformation-expert-joan-donovans-re
search-over-school-policy/; https://www.semafor.com/article/02/02/2023/harvard-joan-donovan-disinformation
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In the fall of last year, I felt as if some decisions were happening under my radar. For
example, when [NAME REDACTED] was let go without speaking to me and it was
later communicated that it was simply because the project needed more "tech help."

Then, I stopped getting calendar updates or notes from [NAME REDACTED] and my
team was no longer included in correspondence. You and I had agreed that some of
those meetings were rather pointless and I trusted that I would be brought back in when
the launch was happening. I still work here even if no one will interact with me.

I want you to know that absolutely NO ONE communicated to me that I was being
removed from the FB Archive, only that it would continue with the tech lab when I left.

I also did not fully understand what you meant with TASC being deprecated to an
"about" page. I was confused by that initially because the "about" google doc was
somewhat out of line with what happened internally and historically, but now I
understand what purpose it serves.

To be clear, the early history is wrong in that document about the initial drop and the
chain of events. I'm sure someone has poured over this line by line legally, but we must
always come correct. Again, I don’t think this was done maliciously on your part, but I
do want to know who wrote this history.

Furthermore, no one has the right to erase my name from my research projects. Whether
Laura and Nancy like it or not, we agreed to a clear 3 way partnership on this and we
SHARED a vision for implementation, resources, and engagement.

Isolating me and deleting my team's name/contribution as a founding partner feels like
retaliation. I need you to remember where we began this. Do you recall what I wrote/
said on Nov 8th, 2021 when the Dean asked me on what basis am I making public
comments about Facebook, you and Laura asked if I wanted to take my name off the
project after?

I said that it was important to me to represent this work and see it through. We also
planned strategy for roll out with press that was more than simply promoting the
archive, but also creating public knowledge about its contents. This plan now seems to
be buried.

I want to reiterate that I think it's a waste of public impact to tone down the press
engagement because we let down the same groups we aimed to serve with this project in
the first place.
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I see there is also an intro to the platform for June 9th and I wonder why I had to find
out about that like every other participant? Why am I being treated this way?

I hope you understand where I’m coming from, and that you know I do value you as a
colleague and friend. This is an awful way to find out that one's own intellectual
contribution can be relegated to the dustbin of history. Nancy and JZ both told me that
"at Harvard you eat what you kill." And unfortunately, this time it's my spirit.

You know what this feels like so I don't have to describe it to you. Please tell me how did
this happen?

Best,
Joan

43. Dr. Sweeney responded on 06/02/2023:

These are two different issues. Let me explain. First, there are a few different FBarchive
websites operational at present as we shift from alpha to beta to the public launch and
we still have the curtain page too. I was waiting until the History page went live on the
beta website to contact you and all the others who have worked with us to get us to this
point in order to facilitate your access to the beta website and discuss next steps, but
before I did so, I wanted you to see your names and contributions listed on the history
page. I was expecting to send the email to you and the others on Monday (when I return
from vacation, but I can see if I can get that to you this weekend or later today! It will
describe how to get onto the beta platform, etc.).

I suspect when you ask about TASC being removed from the FBarchive website, you
mean the curtain page (fbarchive.org). As we transition towards public launch, we want
to list the organizations active at that time in the project. In short, the list of direct
contributors is not a historical attribution but a contemporary one. This is why the
history page is so important because it identifies how the project evolved and who was
involved and how at each stage of its journey. I will make sure TASC is named explicitly
in the history page as your prior email message identified.

We are making tons of changes constantly, so it is all a moving target. I think the change
to the curtain page involving the removal of TASC would have occurred just after the
beta launch when other updates had to be made. I am not certain of the date but it was
recent. I am not sure what orgs are listed on the current version, but as we move towards
the public launch, I would expect New America, Shorenstein, and the Data Privacy Lab
to be listed because they are making direct contributions to the public version. Does that
make sense? Again, the listing there is not a historic one but a contemporary one.
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Joan, I certainly know and understand your pain, but all my projects have followed this
same attribution approach of using the history page to document contributions in
context and allowing the current version of the project to reflect current activity. A good
example is https://thedatamap.org. Also, I can definitely assure you that none of this has
anything to do with the issues you are having with HKS. In fact, you can be assured that
I will make sure you are properly and fully attributed to the FBarchive project, which is
why you are so prominently identified by name for your contributions.

You are not being removed from FBarchive. Your important, critical and vital
contributions are captured on the History page, or at least that is my intention to forever
record that. In terms of moving forward, we need to figure out what you, through TASC
or other group, want to do in sponsorship and how to do what you want to accomplish.
We can talk about these details next week by phone or in person if you want.

Joan, I have shared the history page with you. What do you consider incorrect? What
would you have it say? No one is removing you. But I thought we are talking about
TASC and its contribution?

Yes, these are plans we had originally. But things evolved over the year, especially after
some discussion with the Privacy and Safety Board months earlier. Commentary about
the archive is being kept separate from the archive itself,
so this changes some of the mechanics of those original plans but does not prohibit your
vision or intended uses. And, you and I have been talking about possible media options;
nothing has been decided on media.

I am very sorry Joan because I think I am to blame for the confusion and
misunderstanding. I was just following the way I always do projects, but I think the
current setting for you gives it an unintended color.

Let’s talk!

P.S. The Tech Lab has been the overwhelming contributor to the project as we approach
$1M in people and resources spent and tasks include the platform’s design and function.
But the concept starts with Frances and you, which I tried to accurately capture on the
History page.

44. My response on 06/02/2023:

Thank you for your answers, but I think my point is much more banal.
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No one told me or my team that we were no longer active participants. Moreover,
hard costs do not dictate who counts as a partner org on projects, contributions do. But
if you need an accounting of my hard costs, I can contact [NAME REDACTED]. Has
any funding come in for fbarchive? If so, from who? Were they under the impression it
was in partnership with TASC?

TASC made many contributions including getting the documents and categorizing them,
as well as promoting the archive in public forums, and having my team write testimonies
and 1pagers, reviewing abstracts and holding office hours with students and so many
meetings. I do see your point that this is how you've always done projects, but I disagree
that we are not active participants.

I have been working with civil society and scholars on these documents (using pinpoint)
and many of the invited scholars to fbarchive are people I personally brought to the site.
I also disagree that we should have our logo removed especially because under the
circumstances it harms my professional reputation as I have been promoting the launch
for over a year.

Thanks,
Joan

45. Dr. Sweeney replied promptly:

First, no one told you that you are no longer an active participant because no one is
saying that –not me, not the website, no one. What we do have to do, and is the point of
the email message to you and others on Monday, is to figure out what you want to do
and how we can help you achieve it. The project is now starting its next stage, with
development behind us and the public launch ahead. This is exactly the team to
memorialize how we got to this point and contributions made in the first stage and to
draft what the next stage looks like. In short, what do you want to do?

What does TASC want to do? This would have been my question in the Monday email.
But let me know now or let’s have the conversation now. As for costs, I mentioned the
$1M figure, in part as a measure of my own pain related to the effort and the time it
took.

Of course, not everyone has to provide direct costs, and I think you were incredibly
instrumental in providing valuable resources that are not direct costs. For these reasons,
it is important that the history statement about the earlier stage provide proper
acknowledgement of contributions.
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Sometimes you say TASC and other times you say you, but these are not the same. Is
there any further change needed to the history document?

I want your spark to shine and for you to make the most of FBarchive and the
documents. What do you need or want to do to make that happen in the public release?

I don’t understand what harm you are talking about. Everything is still in flux as we
move towards the public release and contributions made in getting us to the public
release are documented on the History page. I don't know what role you or TASC want
to play yet going forward, and while you say you want to be on the curtain page, you
have not stated what you want to do in the next step. I cannot presume because so much
is in flux at your end, but I am also not presuming the other way (no involvement) either.
I am just asking, or would have asked on Monday when I returned from vacation.

What is the level and nature of participation for you? for TASC? Happy to hop on the
phone or zoom or meet in person. Whatever works best for you.

46. I took the weekend to cool off and replied to Dr. Sweeney on Monday, June 5, 2023:

I just reached out for a call.

I disagree that changes to the technology should mark changes in partnership to the
project. That’s a very technocratic way of thinking about progression. I understand that
this is the way you’ve always done projects, but this was a 3-way partnership.

To me that means, we should make bigger decisions together and that the point of all the
early work was to get to this point of public release.

When it comes to the drafting of this history page, it is the case that it documents the
history from the tech lab perspective. It does not record the longer history of TASC
combing through the documents and retrieving information to substantiate the
legitimacy of these documents or the decision to make an archive in the first place. That
is when I brought the documents to you with the idea of doing a "rap genius" for these
documents.

At some point, there was a decision to remove TASC from the curtain page and delete
language in the "about" page regarding our partnership. That had to be done consciously.
There was also a decision to remove me from meeting invites and from notes emails.
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I was under the impression we were in a holding pattern until the platform was worked
out and that I would be included just as soon as it was nearing completion. Now I realize
that was an assumption.

Best,
Joan

47. Dr. Sweeney responded the same day:

Hi Joan,

Great. I think a phone call does more service to us than email. But I wanted to respond
by email promptly in an attempt to help alleviate concerns. There is a lot going on in
your message and a lot of confusion, and we do need to unpack it in order to move
forward constructively.

With all due respect Joan, I’ll be honest. I have no idea what TASC means. I don’t know
anything about its future, its plans, or its current situation. I am not sure what TASC is
or will be. I am not part (and don’t want to be part) of any conversations concerning it.

On the one hand, TASC is part of Shorenstein, and as such is include in the Shorenstein
listing. But in my heart, TASC is your project that goes with you and gets continued life
in your vision. But where is it going? Will it have that name? Even if so, what would
TASC be doing with FBarchive? Without some understanding, it seems unwise to
explicitly list TASC as an active participant out of historical gratuity and thereby push
FBarchive into uncertainty without even knowing the reason for what TASC is doing
with FBarchive. If you have some answers, then let’s talk concretely and make
meaningful plans. When we began, we had lots of ideas that as time has passed are no
longer possible in the ways we had envisioned for a host of reasons. So, it is prudent to
reassess at this point and see if we can make some of those plans of interest to you work
in new ways. I’m trying to make what you want to do possible. That transcends the
listing of groups on a website and focuses on actual participation.

Let’s do what makes sense in the setting we are in now.

If you have some specific language you want to see in the History page, please send it to
me. I thought I added those points but perhaps attributed them to you and not TASC.
Please advise.
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Joan, if you tell me what you want to do, what you want to make happen with the
archive, we can work to make it happen. You had mentioned your hosting workshops or
writing commentaries. Is that the kind of things you want to do? Please advise.

--LS

P.S. As for meetings and some kind of secretive exclusion from them, that never
happened. I directly communicated with you and said that we have had no or very few
meetings and that in the best interest of the interactions that were (are) unfolding
between you and the others, it makes the most sense for me to make sure you are kept in
the loop through direct communication between us. I have kept my word. As we got
closer to the launch of beta, I let you know about progress and delays and kept you
informed. As we are drafting the website, I asked you to edit the History page. Even our
discussion about TASC’s being listed as an active participant is timely as the website is
under construction through the beta phase. Today, I will send you a message about how
to get on the beta platform and other next steps. There is no conspiracy here or your
being kicked out or excluded from meetings or decision-making. I am trying to
coordinate plans for the next stage now as I have expressed in each of my email
messages to you this weekend. Without knowing what you want to accomplish or do, it is
hard to do that. If all you want is what has already been done, then let’s make sure it is
made clear on the History page. Let me know what you want to do.

--LS

48. I was particularly struck by the claim that I was making up some "secretive exclusion" and

"conspiracy" when it was factually clear that I was being excluded from the FB archive meetings,

and internal emails purposefully. In my view, these words are just another way of calling

someone “crazy” by suggesting their experience is not real. To me, this fit the pattern of

isolation and exclusion that had permeated my experience at Shorenstein from Fall 2022

onwards, when Laura Manley cornered my employee and attempted to solicit a complaint about

my management. I realized that Dr. Sweeney was not going to relent or acknowledge that I had

IP rights to my own project. I was also very hurt that my legitimate concerns had been reduced

to making accusations with loaded words implying paranoid behavior.

49. I sent her a response.

Dear Latanya,

I want to start off by apologizing. I think this discussion is going in a direction that I did
not intend. I did not mean to imply there was a secretive exclusion, but rather the

27



opposite. It was a conscious choice to remove TASC and I needed clarity on it. I am not
alleging any misdeeds. Granted, I was blindsided by the erasure from the site. Again, I
assume no malice.

I get that my tone might come off blunt and/or bruised. Mostly, because I am very
confused. I understand that you want me to layout exactly how TASC will participate in
the archive going forward. Nothing has changed this end. We have far less people power,
but there remains a strong will to dig into the archive and create workshops for
journalists and researchers, while also writing up findings. This is why I have sought early
access since 2022 so that I could plan ahead. I can’t be very specific without seeing what
it is.

TLDR;

My bigger issue is one of attribution, collaboration, and citation. Perhaps, I should have
prefaced this by saying I was contacted on Thursday by The NY Times asking "why did
Harvard remove TASC from the FB project page?" The reporter also contacted a few
other TASC fellows believing they got a scoop that I had quietly left Harvard. This is
what I mean about erasure harming my professional reputation. Different stakes for me.
This was the first time I noticed the change.

I understand I can be a bit muddy about "the who of TASC" as I do represent the
research, but there’s a much larger group of junior scholars and journalists. Some of the
people at TASC prefer to go unnamed as individuals, but as a team we all are sensitive to
removal of attribution from the web copy.

TASC is group of researchers and fellows located at Shorenstein, but is not encapsulated
as the Shorenstein center. The members of TASC who gave input on the FB papers
include [12 NAMES REDACTED]. I don’t know who wants to be named explicitly.
Moreover, I don’t view attribution for intellectual labor as mere "historical gratuity," so
much as an issue of fairness.

My disagreement is about the politics of citation between junior and senior scholars and
the dynamics of power/control at play within our project. Early on, TASC was
approached by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED] to partner with them on the
publication of these papers. After discussions with TASC, we believed these men would
likely takeover rather than collaborate.

Throughout the first year of working with the tech lab, I was confirmed in this choice as
I was excited by your leadership and learned a lot from being in your shadow as I saw the
features evolve. I even adopted your teaching model. It was inspiring to be so close to
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the development cycles and learn to organize projects from you. Even though this is
difficult to discuss, it is helping me understand a rift in citational cultures of
technoscience and social science. I could be wrong but this is the divide I see: you view
the site’s progress from pre-beta, to beta, to launch as markers guiding the project’s
phases, which determines timeline, use cases, and participation. The website is a living
and evolving process, not a product unto itself.

For me, the fbarchive is a major publication/output and the website is where
citation/attribution occurs both historically and professionally. Whereas I see this as a
last milestone for the TASC team, you are right that it will have associated maintenance
and projects built out of it going forward. I think this disciplinary difference of approach
is where the misunderstanding is rooted, not in any conspiracy.

Overall, this discussion is an important lesson for me about interdisciplinary
collaborations and creating agreements early on. I made the assumption when we wrote
out the original "about page" and the funding proposal that there was a tacit agreement
to work as partners for the long haul. I understand why you don’t want to be involved in
conversations about TASC, or even with me about FB archive.

TASC never should have become an issue for you at all. I regret trying to save it when I
should have just gotten a lawyer and taken medical leave.

Whatever my regrets, when I felt the brunt of the clampdown from HKS, you were there
for me in very important ways. I will always be grateful. I remain very thankful for your
mentorship and the work you put into helping me grow through this awful time.

With apologies,
Joan

50. Dr. Sweeney responded on 06/07/2023:

Hi Joan,

It has been a busy day, but I wanted to respond to your message before conceding that
this is really the next day (after midnight). Please see comments in context below.

Thanks for sharing what you would like to do. Let’s discuss the best ways to make those
things happen.
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First, you can access the beta version of FBarchive by following the instructions that
[NAME REDACTED] sent you on May 26. But I think you had setup an account a
while ago but perhaps you have not yet used the system. If you already have an
account, and I think you do, go to https://beta.fbarchive.org and login with HarvardKey
or the email account you setup the account. If the system does not recognize your
account, then you can create a new one (see instructions in the next paragraph). If there
are members of TASC that you want to have an account, have them follow the
instructions that [NAME REDACTED] sent you earlier. I have attached a copy to this
email for your quick access. Basically, a person sets up an account, but because access is
still limited, they also complete a form to ignite the approval process. For organization,
be sure to have them say "TASC".

Access to the beta platform will allow you and TASC members to begin to "dig into the
archive." We are asking everyone with access to the beta platform to help us make
improvements and itemize some utility the platform enabled. We are having a couple of
zoom sessions for discussions. It would be great for them to participate. You are free to
"create workshops for journalists and researchers". Please do so! And we hope your
workshops will have published findings or other reports. Obviously, once the platform is
public, anyone can host a workshop and I hope many people will do so on lots of
different topics. We are asking that no one host a workshop until the platform is public.
But the beta launch provides a good opportunity to dig in and craft some ideas for
workshops.

We don’t have a process in place for FBarchive to be the host of a workshop though we
just hired a new full-time facilitator (PhD from Harvard Gov) who will help figure all
this out and help support workshops and research in the archive. So, if you have an idea
for a workshop, you should plan on hosting it yourself but we can help. We have said the
same to Shorenstein also.

Heads up! Many months ago, the Privacy and Safety Board came to a stark reality check
based on the content of the archive: Facebook has no idea how to do moderation at
scale, nobody does, so we don’t want any content on the platform that requires
moderation. We are encouraging discussions to be on Reddit or elsewhere. We are
thinking we will be able to have a list of workshops, papers, and discussion thread
locations on the site (more for the new facilitator to figure out). Another heads up! The
beta version doesn’t yet have tags and a means to configure your own document of
images.

That will be added shortly, and certainly before the public launch.
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Delighted that a New York Times reporter cared enough to be checking the website so
regularly to notice! Says a lot about what a big deal you are. Hope they continue to keep
an eye on the archive and even use it (smile).
Happy to list them in the history page and provide access to the beta platform. You can
see a link to the current version of the history page at the bottom of pages on the beta
platform. When you say that these people gave you input on the documents, I assume
you mean with respect to the class. We will ask each of these people if they want to be
named on the history page in that capacity.

Yes, conversations started among three of us, but the project evolved and expanded over
time. That is the difference between a project and a publication. More than 100 people
have worked on FBarchive in a meaningful and productive way over the year or so of
effort. Members of the privacy and safety board spent crazy hours on Friday nights
sweating details on specific images and crafting the policies that we would follow and
shape what those initial ideas would really be. A dedicated group was meticulous in
review, re-review, and review again and again of tens of thousands of images. It has been
an amazing process and evolution. Tremendous gratitude goes to everyone to getting the
platform to the beta version.

There does seem to be some kind of difference here. But I don’t think it stems from a
technology versus social science perspective because I have worked with lots of social
scientists on projects and papers previously. I think the difference is whether we see the
effort on FBarchive as a living project or a static publication. This conversation reminds
me of authorship conversations on a paper: At first, when the idea for the research paper
begins, members of the group have ideas, but then the work gets done and along the way,
ideas are reshaped and contributions vary, leading to final discussions about the order of
names and in some cases, who should be listed as an author. This is what your
statements remind me of, the final attribution for a static production. But FBarchive is
not a static publication. We have plans to expand its content, for example. So, If you
believe FBarchive is an ever-evolving project whose future is not just maintenance of its
current content, then you want a history page to memorialize its phases (list the
"authors" at each stage) and allow it to grow and evolve with new and different
participants. And even if you think of FBarchive as a source for a static publication, then
it has already spun a series of papers. The first would be its original idea, the next paper
would be the initial design document, the third would be the citation format, the fourth
paper would be the policies from the Privacy and Safety Board, the fifth would the user
interfaces that have been explored, and so on. The authors of each of these papers would
be different people. So even if I took a paper attribution perspective, there have been lots
of "papers" that are enumerated and described on the history page.
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Joan, you are a tough cookie with a lot to offer. You have to find the place and space that
will let you grow and shine as big and bright as you can. When I say I don't want to be
involved in conversations about TASC, I mean I don't see how it helps anyone for
me or FBarchive to be needlessly engaged in your disputes with HKS. I don't
mind talking to you about FBarchive and other projects and offer you personal cheer and
support.

--LS

51. We continued like that for a few more email exchanges, but I had to give up because we were not

seeing eye to eye. Moreover, I believe the statement highlighted above was the real reason I was

excised from the project. Dr. Sweeney saw me as a liability and that I was the cause of problems

at HKS.

52. Later in early September 2023, Dr. Sweeney reached out via text and offered to name me as a

"founder" of the FBArchive.

53. I still have not received an answer about who decided to limit, and later expunge, TASC’s

participation in FB Archive and if there were any donors for the project. I decided not to engage

as I do not believe it was fair how HKS, particularly the leadership of Shorenstein, took over and

told the press they were going to continue the project without TASC. I see the statements made

by Ms. Gibbs to the media about continuing the FB Archive as a tacit admission that it was my

project to begin with. Otherwise, why mention it to donors and the press?

54. Admittedly I remain astounded that for most of my time at HKS, senior faculty and supervisors

have laid claim to my research, my resources, and my projects. Ms. Gibbs laid claim to FB

Archive in the press and to News Leaders internally. She is also representing herself as the

Principal Investigator of the DIGI project, another effort I started, which was later usurped by

Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley. The Belfer Center took millions from TASC and did the equivalent

of three zoom convenings and one anodyne report published on the Shorenstein website, with

no list of authors, conflict of interest or funding. Instances of Ms. Gibbs and other professors

asking me for funding for positions, events, and fellowships unrelated to the underlying

proposals was all too common.

55. Throughout June 2023, Latanya held several webinars to train people to use the platform, but I

was not involved. Moreover, the credentials I was given for the FB Archive at that time to sign in

did not work. On October 18, 2023, I signed into the "Beta" release of the FB Archive by
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creating new credentials. I have no idea what impact working with Facebook’s lawyers has had

on the final product.

56. Furthermore, I was still reeling from her explicitly saying she did not want the FB Archive to get

wrapped up in my issues with HKS. I told her my issues with HKS began because of the

FBArchive. If I had continued to do multi-platform research and had not received the entire

cache of Frances Haugen’s Facebook documents, I would have likely been allowed to continue

my work along with fundraising and rebuilding the Shorenstein Center’s reputation with donors.

If Elliot Schrage had not become enraged by learning I received the cache and my views on the

importance of the documents for researchers and the public, the Dean would never have begun

his campaign to lower my public profile which had previously been a boon for HKS. Instead,

beginning from that fateful Dean’s Council meeting, the Dean systematically set about stopping

my work, controlling my speech, ensuring I had no academic freedom and forcing me out of

Harvard entirely. Meanwhile, in many news articles, Ms. Gibbs gloated that the Shorenstein

Center would keep FBArchive.org and continue researching misinformation.10

57. What was disappointing about the unraveling of the TASC team is how much trauma could have

been avoided if the Shorenstein Center had stood up to Dean Elmendorf and advocated for

TASC to continue through June 2024 without the egregious and anti-academic restrictions.

Moreover, if minimizing the public impact of the FB Archive project was Dean Elmendorf ’s

true priority, he accomplished that by interfering with the funding, the timing, the original vision

and goals, and the accessibility of what has been released as the FB Archive. I was tied up in

seemingly endless red tape internally and trying desperately to complete the modest goals listed

in [redacted as “Donor B”] and [redacted as “Donor F”] grants. I also had to balance this with

a smart team of veteran and junior researchers alike, which included mentoring many on the job

market and personally connecting them to new opportunities. It all became too much to handle

and I shut down mentally in July 2023 and took the month off.

58. On October 18, 2023, Dr. Sweeney gave a presentation at the Berkman Center and announced

that the FB Archive had launched the day before. Given my concerns about the project, I

immediately began searching for news of the FB Archive launching. I could find only one item

that mentioned the matter in a Shorenstein Center publication known as the Journalist Resource

which drew little attention.11 In fact, the tens of thousands of dollars spent on media consultants

11 https://x.com/journoresource/status/1715014366406279445?s=46&t=AqqVI6j5tsL0CHookhZ2SQ

10 https://time.com/6324817/managing-ai-social-media-disinformation/;
https://www.thecrimson.com/article/2023/2/2/donovan-forced-leave-hks/
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was for naught as there was no public discussion of the archive. On October 19, 2023, I

attempted to access the FB Archive with new credentials and discovered that although I was

now allowed access, there was no interface for mobile and it was buggy as I was not granted

access the following day.

59. As I examined the FB Archive on November 19, 2023, there are no features for collaboration,

but search and content tagging are operational. It is not possible to tell if every file or image

from Frances Haugen is properly retrievable and displayed within the FB archive. I do not know

the extent of the redactions within the database.

60. From the history page of the FB archive:

The Public Interest Tech Lab received an anonymous drop of the internal Facebook

documents, which arrived as more than 2,000 PDF files that jointly contained over

20,000 photographic screenshots. Dr. Joan Donovan immediately recognized the

valuable insight the documents provided to research on mis/disinformation, the

challenges inherent in moderating social media at a global scale, and to public

understanding of these phenomena. Seeing an opportunity to use the files to start a

dialogue aimed at creating a safer digital environment, Dr. Latanya Sweeney and the

Public Interest Tech Lab at Harvard University began the process of designing

FBarchive, a first-of-its-kind platform for the public release of whistleblower documents.

With this in hand, the Public Interest Tech Lab and the Shorenstein Center on Media,

Politics and Public Policy at the Harvard Kennedy School of Government provided

initial administrative and financial support for the creation of a first-of-its-kind archive

for whistleblower documents. Media support was provided by the Public Interest Tech

Lab, the Shorenstein Center, and the Technology and Social Change Project at Harvard.

61. The history page lists me as a contributor and follows with a long list of outright lies. First, the

history page claims the documents were given to Dr. Sweeney’s lab by an anonymous source.

The subsequent sentence implies that I saw the documents because Dr. Sweeney’s lab gave me

access, which is untrue. Two years prior on October 16, 2021, I emailed Dr. Sweeney asking her

to collaborate on “making a searchable archive of these documents for the public interest.”

Further, I assembled the initial group that began sifting through and validating the documents
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and planning the archive from my own team of researchers and fellows, including bringing on

Dr. Amelia Acker from UT Austin, an accomplished information scientist who studies digital

archives. Financial and administrative support was provided by my team before Dr. Sweeney or

Ms. Manley joined and I continued to provide resources by assigning members of my research

team, program manager, and media consultant to attend FB Archive meetings with me

throughout 2022. Importantly, the Program Manager for TASC was initially managing the FB

Archive calendar and meetings for several months before another administrator was hired by the

Shorenstein Center. As a matter of course, this was also not a first-of-its-kind archive for

whistleblower documents, as any historian of archives will acknowledge there are many similar

archives of whistleblower documents, including the entire corpus of Wikileaks archives to name

the most notable.12 What would have made the FB Archive notable was the collaborative

infrastructure that TASC and I thought was coming.

HKS Fundraising: Bait and Switch

62. As discussed above, HKS leadership had become reliant on my ability to raise funds for TASC –

and as I learned other uses. Based upon my experience from when I first arrived at Harvard, I

was privy to or involved in raising any and all funds that would allow the TASC team to do our

work. That, however, changed in 2022 when I learned that TASC’s work and my credibility were

used without my knowledge to secure funding for non TASC-related HKS matters.

63. At the end of June 2022, I learned about a grant to the Shorenstein Center of $5 million from

[redacted as “Donor G’]. [Donor G] contacted me directly to let me know that she was so

proud to be supporting my research at the Shorenstein Center. She invited me to New York City

for dinner and underscored just how excited she was about funding my research on

misinformation. She had also made a documentary film about 2020, featuring a lengthy

interview with me and quoted my research. I was stunned because I did not hear about [Donor

G]’s financial support for my work from either Ms. Manley or Ms. Gibbs. I reached out to them

immediately and scheduled a Zoom meeting to discuss the funding [Donor G] described me so

effusively. I gave no indication to [Donor G] about my lack of awareness regarding her generous

donation.

12 https://wikileaks.org/wiki/Leaked_Files
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64. Ms. Manley and I discussed this discrepancy and she sent me the gift terms, and emailed me and

Ms. Gibbs, she wrote, "Hi Nancy, I spoke with Joan earlier today and she mentioned that she's

meeting with [Donor G] on July 13th. Joan said that [Donor G] talked about the gift supporting

her work. Have you heard anything about this at all? Attaching the gift proposal that we sent

over a month ago for reference. Thanks, Laura"

65. Ms. Gibbs responded:

Hey Laura, I know [Donor G] is a big fan of Joan and sees her as a crucial part of the
Center’s work— but no, there was never anything about directly supporting Joan or
TASC. (Worth checking with [2 NAMES REDACTED], who also discussed gift terms
with her. ) The only new specific projects we discussed were, above all, the documentary
programming, and then the new Student Media initiative.

In addition to core staff/support, we talked using some of the gift for Center research
generally, the kind of "venture funding" we could use to launch new projects while we try
to build support for them (like we did for Misinfo review). This should be a benefit to all
initiative across the whole center. Pretty sure all the various gift terms drafts reflect that
but you can check.

Best,
NG

66. When we next met, Ms. Gibbs became very angry with me and asked me if I thought I deserved

this money after all the center has done for me. She accused me of having "raised a center in the

middle of Shorenstein." I pointed out that I was trying to gain clarity on this specific gift. She

then alleged that I had misrepresented my research to funders because I had solicited funding

for the same project across multiple foundations. I was shocked by her accusations and seeming

lack of awareness that coalition-style funding is preferred by many foundations – particularly for

significant research projects. I explained that the funders understand that they are contributing

to a large research project called "Casebook", and that all the funders names are listed on the

website. In fact, it was the foundations themselves who encouraged me to seek funding in this

collaborative way. I reiterated that I was seeking transparency on this particular gift as it was

relevant to the fundraising I do for my team. It was reminiscent of confusion over a similar gift

in 2019 also from [Donor G]

67. In the winter of 2019, there was a $300,000 donation by [Donor G] to the Shorenstein Center.

During a visit to the Center in March 2019, [Donor G] gave me a hug and said she was proud to
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be supporting my research. She said she had sent an "extra check" to the faculty Director, in

addition to her annual donation, to support TASC. When I asked the faculty Director about this,

he admitted there was a $300,000 donation from [Donor G] coming into the "Director’s

Initiative" earmarked for TASC research. He was going to check to see if it had come in. I

followed up with him via text the next day, but he only replied to wish me well on a conference

presentation. In early April 2019, the Faculty Director left and Nancy Gibbs was appointed

Faculty Director in his place. None of the 2019 $300,000 donation from [Donor G] went to

support my work. My experience with the 2021 donation from [Donor G] to the director’s

initiative, managed by Ms. Gibbs now, repeated the 2019 experience. [Donor G] believed she

was supporting my work with her donation, but based on their statements and actions, I

understood that Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley had no intention to do so.

68. I doubted Ms. Gibbs’ explanation as [Donor G] was on the Shorenstein Center’s advisory board

before Ms. Gibbs or myself joined HKS. Given the enthusiasm and specificity from [Donor G]

over dinner, I did not believe that [Donor G] would donate $5 million without even mentioning

my work. When I read the gift terms, certain turns of phrase popped out as representative of my

research projects:

"The Shorenstein Center on Media, Politics and Public Policy is requesting $5 million in
current-use funding support as part of our five-year organizational planning and growth
strategy to address the Center’s mission of protecting the information ecosystem and
supporting healthy democracy. Given the seismic shifts in our information landscape,
the Shorenstein Center is looking to bolster its current work and provide new
opportunities for faculty, students, fellows, and members of the public to participate in
reimagining our press and media institutions for the 21st Century."

"Given the rapidly changing information ecosystem, faculty, fellows, and other
researchers at the Shorenstein Center constantly have ideas and opportunities to conduct
time-sensitive research projects that require small amounts of funding. A large part of
this proposed new funding would go towards establishing a Center-wide research fund
that faculty, fellows, and programs can apply to for research support. The fund would
allow members of the Shorenstein Center community to support new project ideas, test
initiatives, conduct surveys, receive additional support needed to conduct research, hire
post- docs to support faculty or program work, etc. This fund would provide essential
seed capital to test ambitious research ideas and innovations, with a particular focus on
research that is relevant and applicable to our crises of racism, polarization, and
division [emphasis added].
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69. In fact, on 9/16/2022, when [Donor G] phoned me following a meeting she had with Ms.

Gibbs and Dean Elmendorf, she told me that she was very disappointed in the actions of

leadership to shut down TASC. She informed me that she had made a "large donation" to

support my work and she did not know what the school was going to do with that funding now.

She also said that good philanthropists trust those who receive donations, so she was going to

wait and see what happens. She offered to introduce me to other Deans and University

Presidents, but I did not avail myself of this opportunity because I was consumed with worry

about my team, my work, and my ability to meet grant deliverables given the constant

bureaucratic blockades that became my new normal at HKS. Frankly, for the first time in my life

I wanted to quit and do something else. I felt absolute shame and guilt for having my employees

suffer by their associations with me and to the generous donors who wanted to support our

work whose funds were being diverted to anything but what they intended.

70. In the week following this incredibly disappointing exchange with Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley, I

met with Sue Hendrickson, the Executive Director of the Berkman Klein Center for Internet

and Society, to discuss moving my team to their center. I was not permitted to make progress in

my research and the uncertainty and delay of decisions on staffing and contracts had slowed our

pace to a crawl. Ms. Hendrickson expressed confidence that the transition would be possible and

that she could get me the same title as Research Director and would work with my funders and

Harvard HR to move my research team and funding received to support our work. I was very

relieved to have this option open up, although I was aware there were hurdles to get through

related to moving a multi-million dollar research operation.

Democracy and Internet Governance Initiative ("DIGI")

and [redacted as “Donor E’}

71. Also in July 2022, I discussed the fate of a project called Democracy and Internet Governance

Initiative (DIGI) with Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley. DIGI was funded by TASC in July 2021 and

included a partnership with the Belfer Center at HKS. In July 2021, Ms. Manley was the manager

of Secretary Carter’s Technology and Public Purpose team (TAPP) before moving to the

Shorenstein Center in September 2021. As far as her coming to Shorenstein, I was a big

advocate for Ms. Manley as I liked working with her. DIGI was also referred to as "a table" and

"a task force" in the details below.
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72. Ms. Manley and I initially began designing a "cross-center task force to address disinformation

and public policy" in early 2021 after I told Ms. Manley that I wanted to do something big and

publicly impactful about internet policy. I met with [Donor E’s Principal] approximately a dozen

times and traded many emails with him about making a large donation to TASC during the

period February- June 2021. One such meeting in mid-March 2021 included Secretary Carter,

Ms. Gibbs, and Ms. Manley, where we talked about a potential task force on internet policy.

[Donor E] thought this was a good idea, but wanted it to be truly public-facing, complementary

(rather than redundant) to his other investments at the Aspen Institute and at Stanford

University. [Donor E’s Principal] specifically stated that he did not want "another white paper

from Harvard."

73. In terms of public facing outputs, I assured [Donor E’s Principal] that we would do a podcast to

explain why the public needs to care about internet governance. Moreover, we agreed that we

must document this moment in internet history as it could be an important factor in solving new

problems caused by emerging technology. I said that once we had a solid set of innovative policy

recommendations from focus groups and interviews, we would socialize these findings in a

report with in-person events in DC and Silicon Valley. [Donor E’s Principal] and I also

discussed making more multi-media outputs from DIGI as not all people get their information

from reading. After the meeting., I wrote an email and suggested to Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs

that we include a position in the budget for a podcast/video producer on June 15, 2021, I wrote,

"I think that 80K or a portion of it could go to a part-time comms person or to an audio/video

contractor for a podcast/video series."

74. [Donor E] also stipulated to me that the funding was for TASC and it was my decision to do the

taskforce or not. The letter that accompanied his gift also made this explicit. [Donor E’s

Principal] trusted those he gave funding to and did not seek to guide the research agenda in any

way. [Donor E’s Principal] always made clear how much he valued independent research and

wanted more public engagement with research to guide journalism, policy, and public discussion.

He insisted on a strong public communication plan as part of his philanthropic strategy.

75. In a text message on 3/10/2021, Ms. Gibbs asked me about Belfer’s role in DIGI (sometimes

referred to as the task force or the table):

Gibbs: But is there any risk of them just taking over?
Donovan: Nah because I’m only bringing them in on the table and report.
Gibbs: I love how you roll....
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Donovan: Probably 25% or 30% of the gift will go to the "Taskforce"

76. [Donor E’s Principal] stipulated on numerous occasions that he wanted the funding to remain

in my control, so I worked with him and the Gifts Proposal Advisory Committee (GPAC) to

make the gift letter terms reflect a previous gift he made only to TASC. This was the budget I

submitted to GPAC to reflect these allocations:
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77. On March 29, 2021, Ms. Gibbs brought up in an email that there was no "rent" allotment for

additional staff. Ms. Gibbs also suggested adding some of Dr. Sweeney’s salary to the budget

because it would come out of the overhead of HKS. Finally Ms. Manley requested that 8% be

taken off the top of the [Donor E] gift for Belfer overhead while Ms. Gibbs requested another

8% be taken off the top for Shorenstein. These costs combined with HKS’ customary 20% gift

fee would mean overhead from the gift would use up 36% of the gift funds before work was

even started. This hedging for more funding was disruptive to the internal process and made me

worry that if we were having this many issues now, what was to come when the research work

actually started?

78. At one point, Ms. Manley, who was working for the Belfer Center at the time, asserted that "The

good thing about a gift is that it can be spent down pretty much as we see fit, especially if there

aren't any reporting requirements. I can work up an internal spend down budget separately, if

helpful!" I called her to address this. [Donor E’s Principal] made clear from the start of the

proposal discussions that any funds he would provide to HKS was for TASC and could only be

used for purposes at my direction. [Donor E’s Principal] explicitly reminded me and others

involved from Harvard of this throughout the process. The Belfer Center did not seem to

understand or remember the clear terms of the gift. In fact, the title of the fund was "[Donor E]

Gift Fund for TASC."

79. I received this email from Ms. Gibbs on 4/2/2021:

Hi Joan,
Almost there!
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I gave [NAME REDACTED] a thumbs up, but I have two questions for you, just so I’m
clear.
First, this asks for $10m to fund work over two years. I had thought we were saying
$10m was for 4 years, and if we only got $5m, that would be 2 years.

Second, while I’m glad the "initiative" includes more than the task force, (I,e. The J
school outreach, DRN etc) does that make things complicated with Belfer? Does ash
think the $10m is just for the task force? Or how would we split the grant between the
centers if it includes a bunch of stuff that Belfer is not part of? I know you’ve been
threading this needle carefully, so I just wanted to understand your thinking.

Step by step....
Hoping you have a great weekend,
NG

80. I responded on 4/3/2021:

Hi Nancy,
All good questions. [Donor E’s Principal] had initially asked TASC for a proposal for
the consortium, which is how our first meeting came together with me, you, and
[NAME REDACTED] on March 8. After that, I sent him a concept note for $20 million
over 4 years. He asked for a more specific plan related to moving policy. Laura and I had
already been talking about a Taskforce, so I brought her in and she got Ash to agree to a
meeting. After the meeting with Ash, [Donor E’s Principal] asked for a letter just about
the taskforce, so we sent a letter asking for $10 million for 4 years.

At that point it was difficult to tell what [Donor E] wanted to fund and at what level.
Last Friday, [Donor E’s Principal] came back saying he was willing to fund Shorenstein
at $5m now and $5m in September, but that it’s a gift and it’s up to me how to spend
the money. He liked the idea of the taskforce but didn’t want it to run for 4 years and he
believed it could be done for $3 million based on the cost of the Aspen Commission.

[Donor E’s Principal] also said I could choose not to do the taskforce and I responded
that it’s a crucial part of research. He said if I wanted $10m that he would be willing to
send that much as long as a significant proportion of the money to go to bringing
together disinformation research and journalism.

Following that conversation, I spoke with you and Laura and said that the money will
come in at $5 and $5, but that [Donor E] wants it mostly to go to the consortium (which
we are now calling an initiative) and that I am going to participate in the Aspen
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commission in the meantime. Over last weekend, Laura and I created the budget that
went to GPAC and we decided that we would just send [Donor E] the final gift terms
and not create another concept note. As far as I know, Ash has been updated along the
way. Ash knew that we were baking the taskforce into a bigger proposal with
Shorenstein. $2.5 million should be MORE THAN ENOUGH to fund the taskforce for
2 years.

As well, I don’t want to set the expectation that the other $5m is a done deal. It’s not. If
Aspen goes up in flames, the degree to which I’m involved will influence [Donor E]
decision to continue funding TASC. There’s a lot I can not control. So if you do talk to
Ash, let him know the money was and continues to be at [Donor E]’s will. Which means,
Belfer should also do some fundraising on the taskforce too. We will continue to ask
other donors for more funding too. Because the [Donor E] funding is a gift, it doesn’t
matter how it gets spent or when. The reason why the gift terms say a lot of different
things isn’t to say we have to do them all, but rather to say we can choose to work in
these streams. It’s binding in the sense that we cannot spend the money on researching
gene editing because that is an entirely different topic.
[...]

81. [Donor E’s Principal] said if things went smoothly with the first donation we could resume

discussion about the second $5 million in September. The second installment now predicated on

our use of the first installment.

82. After [Donor E] sent $5 million to TASC, a sub-gift of $2.5 million went to Belfer pursuant to

an MOU between Shorenstein and Belfer, and TASC received a return of $653,554 to cover

TASC staff ’s percentage of effort on DIGI. All of us were to share expenses on other budget

line items, such as research assistants, travel, and media, when the need arose.
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83. This is the budget approved by Ms. Gibbs and The Belfer Center on June 30, 2021:

84. Also on June 30, 2021, the day [Donor El] was supposed to have wired the donation, I received

an email from [Donor E’s Principal] that said "extreme bureaucracy" was holding up the

transfer. Ms. Gibbs sent an email to [Donor E’s Principal] on 7/1/2021:

Dear [Donor E’s Principal],

Hope all’s well. I understand there is some concern at [Donor E] about the signed gift
terms; like you, I’m eager to resolve this so we can move ahead with this crucial work. As
you know, we anticipate using every penny of this important gift for Joan’s work,
so if there is anyone at [Donor E] you’d like me to talk to, I’m happy to call them
[emphasis added]. As ever, I’m grateful for your vision and generosity in making this
happen. I could not be more committed to the success and impact of this work.

Warmly,
Nancy
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85. On July 2, 2021, [Donor E] wired $5 million to support TASC. Within the gift terms signed by

Dean Elmendorf and [Donor E’s Principal], an unspecified amount was going to be dedicated

to forming a joint "taskforce" on Information, Technology, and Public Purpose, later to be

renamed the Democracy and Internet Governance Initiative (DIGI), in partnership with Belfer

Center.

86. The relevant clauses in the gift terms contract read as follows:

The Gift of [Donor E] to the President and Fellows of Harvard College ("Harvard" or
the "University"), a Massachusetts educational, charitable corporation, for the benefit of
the John F. Kennedy School of Government ("Harvard Kennedy School") establishes
the current-use [Donor E] Fund for the Technology and Social Change (TASC)
Research Project.

[...]

The primary purpose of the Fund is to advance Harvard Kennedy School's research on
misinformation, including how to detect, document, and mitigate media manipulation
campaigns. Activities the Fund may support include but are not limited to the
Shorenstein Center on Media, Politics and Public Policy's Initiative on Information,
Technology, and Democracy; the Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs'
Taskforce on Information, Technology, and Public Purpose; faculty, student, and staff
research; events, convenings, conferences, seminars, workshops, lectures, and meetings;
travel; communications; curriculum development; publication and dissemination efforts;
pre- and post-doctoral fellowships; visiting fellowships; internships; and administrative
costs including but not limited to staffing and general operations.

[....]

If, at some time in the future, the designation of the Fund is no longer appropriate, the
Dean of Harvard Kennedy School, in consultation with the Donor, may direct the Fund
to another purpose at the School. However, if for any reason this consultation cannot
occur, the Dean has the discretion to direct the Fund to a project or purpose deemed to
be best in keeping with the Donor's intent. [emphasis added]

87. To my knowledge, Dean Elmendorf never sought a consultation with [Donor E] for the use of

the gift funds used outside of TASC. Given that TASC is now shut down, the terms cited above

require that such a consultation should be sought with regards to the use of the unspent gift

funds. Moreover, I later learned that on July 13, 2023, when Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs

presented a white paper to [Donor E’s Principal] and attempted to raise more funds from
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[Donor E], they neglected to disclose that millions of dollars of his original gift to support

TASC still remained unused in HKS coffers. Moreover, they did not inform [Donor E] that they

were terminating the TASC project and laying me off as of August 31, 2023.

88. Ms. Gibbs sent this Memorandum of Understanding to the Belfer Center to underscore what

this funding was going to be used explicitly for DIGI research and not as unrestricted gift

funding by the Belfer Center:

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU)
for the Democracy and Internet Governance Initiative

Between Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs and
Shorenstein Center for Media, Politics and Public Policy

SUMMARY
The Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs ("Belfer") and the Shorenstein
Center for Media, Politics and Public Policy ("Shorenstein") secured a gift of $2,500,000
from [Donor E’s] in June 2021 to carry out work for the Democracy and Internet
Governance Initiative ("DIGI") over 24 months.

This MOU outlines an agreement between the Belfer and Shorenstein
Centers on how the funds will be distributed and spent down.

TRANSFER OF FUNDS
● Shorenstein will receive the gift of $5M from [Donor E] in summer 2021.
● Shorenstein will transfer $2.5M to Belfer for the DIGI within 30 days of
receiving funds from [Donor E].
● Belfer will transfer $653,554 back to Shorenstein to cover the cost of their
personnel and fringe within 30 days of receiving funds. See attached budget for the
DIGI budget and associated expense categories as agreed upon by both Belfer and
Shorenstein.

COVERED EXPENSES
The Belfer Center will be responsible for the following expenses related to DIGI:
● Belfer personnel and interns and associated fringe rates
● Contractors (e.g. media/production specialists, graphic design, research support)
● Programming-related expenses and supplies (e.g. space rental, equipment,
catering, travel)
● 8% Belfer administration fee on the direct costs being spent by Belfer
● 20% University overhead on the direct costs being spent by Belfer and
Shorenstein
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The Shorenstein Center will be responsible for the following expenses related to DIGI:
● Shorenstein personnel and associated fringe rates
● 20% University overhead on the direct costs being spent by Shorenstein

REPORTING
● For any changes to expenses that exceed 10% or more of any original budgeted
line item, both Centers must approve.
● For any new expenses that were not included in the original budget both Centers
must approve before purchases or commitments are made.
TRANSFER
This MOU may not be assigned or otherwise transferred to another organization, in
whole or in part, without the express prior written consent of the other organization.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this MOU has been executed by the duly authorized
representatives of the Parties on the day, month and year first written below.

The Finance department informed me that this agreement was executed and the funding could

be released as specified in August 2021.

89. When the DIGI project was announced, I learned that my role at DIGI was reduced to

essentially just a collaborator rather than a co-chair with Ms. Gibbs and Secretary Carter. When I

sought support in this unexpected change of circumstances, I came to realize no one would

support my having a meaningful role in DIGI. This experience was indicative of a future pattern

of dismissiveness, taking credit for other’s work, and obstruction that plagued the entire DIGI

project.

90. In September 2021, DIGI began preparations for its first zoom conference to address

misinformation and public policy. The invitations drafted by the Belfer team did not include any

mention of the TASC project and was overwhelmingly cut from the same cloth, established

white men, rather than a diverse set of relevant participants across professional sectors. TASC

had to argue for inclusion of Black, Indigenous, people of color, and LGBTQ+ representation at

the convenings, especially when assigning presentation roles.

91. I did not go to [Donor E] for the second $5 million in September 2021 because I did not

personally see significant progress happening with DIGI. I was embarrassed at how quickly it all

fell apart and was turning into the most expensive project I’ve ever been part of with the lowest

quality outputs. Over the next few months, I was very disappointed with the management of

DIGI and felt the project was rather irrelevant because it lacked any meaningful public
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engagement or academic rigor befitting a large-scale research project – and one of the initiative’s

primary objectives.

92. Although TASC was responsible for fact-checking, review, and some research for DIGI, I was

not permitted to attend DIGI research meetings with Belfer staff. I would later learn that the

meetings were not geared toward producing the research needed for DIGI’s success. Given the

representations and assurances made to [Donor E], I found this to be troubling mismanagement

of resources.

93. One of my team was permitted to attend Belfer research meetings for DIGI and told me in

January of 2022 that the research team was tasked with doing research for a different purpose

and were not focused on culling policy recommendations from new internet studies research.

Nevertheless, I continued to ask for permission to join the DIGI research meetings, and was

consistently rebuffed and denied access by the interim director after Ms. Manley left Belfer to

join the Shorenstein Center.

94. I told Ms. Gibbs about my concerns and the conflict between the intent of the funding and the

use of the funding in February 2022 and her suggestion was to leave it alone. At one point, I was

told by Ms. Manley that Belfer could "just take all the money because the gift terms don’t state

your name". Obviously this was in direct contradiction to the explicit assurances Ms. Gibbs

made to [Donor E’s Principal] himself. There was an imbalance of commitment to the success

of DIGI as the stakes were much higher for me than for anyone else associated with DIGI as I

had personally brainstormed the vision for the [Donor E] gift with [Donor E’s Principal].

Moreover, funders speak to each other often and I was horrified that DIGI took $2.5 million out

of circulation within the field, but could not produce anything publicly noteworthy. This was

shameful for me professionally, and for the larger institution – but I was seemingly the only one

who constantly worried about our integrity in effectively and properly using donor funds as

intended. One of the major goals of the DIGI taskforce initiative was to create a robust and

informed public dialogue about internet policy. The TASC team developed the podcast I had

previously discussed with [Donor E’s Principal], and worked to achieve the deliverable

beginning in January 2022.

95. All efforts to produce the podcast were denied by Belfer and I finally began to understand I was

being manipulated into leaving the project and discouraged from raising an issue.

96. As a result of redirecting the use of the research team and restructuring focus groups into large

convenings, the DIGI team did not gain much, if any, new insights from the convenings or the
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briefs. If we had organized the experts into focus groups during phase one as planned, we would

have a robust set of new data to draw upon for phase two and for written reports. Moreover, if

we had produced policy briefs based on innovative research from the field of internet studies

and analyzed the growing body of international policies about technology, we would have had

ample material from which to produce truly innovative and meaningful findings.

97. By the end of July 2022, I was emotionally, physically, and mentally exhausted and beaten down.

I realized that at virtually every turn, the HKS bureaucracy was stalling or halting our work. For

example, I had tried and failed to bring on a new events staff member to fulfill a grant

deliverable of holding a convening and I was being ignored by the administration whenever I

inquired on the matter. In another example, even though I was now going to fund the podcast

outside of DIGI, the podcast was now in limbo with the HKS administration, who had

questions about the content and contract. I would soon learn why my work had ground to a halt.

98. After October 24, 2022, Ms. Gibbs became the lone chair on the DIGI project. I suggested to

her that we actually deliver on the donor’s expected outcome. I explained that DIGI was

rudderless and several of Belfer’s research assistants asked me confidentially for help because

they were feeling lost. There remained over $1 million dedicated to DIGI under Belfer’s control.

Ms. Gibbs told me she reached out to get a handle on what was happening. Later in December

2022, Ms. Gibbs finally got an answer from the Belfer Center on the status of the funding.

Ultimately, the Belfer Center denied her, the sole co-chair, control of the DIGI budget and had

allocated it to another tenured professor at the Belfer Center. I never heard another word about

DIGI after this. Currently, on the Shorenstein website, DIGI is listed as an active program,

where Ms. Gibbs is the sole principal investigator. There is no mention of funding past or

present.

99. Dean Elmendorf himself informed me that he was the one now blocking the podcast, among

other restrictions. On August 24, 2022, I had a one-on-one 45 minute meeting with Dean

Elmendorf that made everything clear. During most of the meeting, he was reading from a

pre-written script and appeared to deviate very little from what was on the paper in front of him.

He opened the meeting by telling me that HKS was going to create a tenure-track position in

information and democracy, and that I was welcome to apply for the job. He said, "there is no

guarantee you will be hired. It will be an international search." I thanked him for the opportunity

to apply.
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100. Then, he informed me that at his direction and supported by Nancy Gibbs and Laura

Manley, the Kennedy School will be "winding down TASC". He told me in no uncertain terms

that if my team were smaller, he could "ignore" us. However, he continued, because I had

become "too prominent", he had to "wind it down". He said he was not going to approve any

expenditure or hire that "increased my public profile." He stipulated that I could (a) not start any

new projects, (b) hire new people unless I lost people from my team, and ( c) that I could no

longer fundraise. As a direct result of these restrictions, I was not going to be able to raise any

funding for the FB Archive, hire new staff to conduct research within the archive, or conduct

workshops to teach others’ how to navigate the archive.

101. He said there was an HKS policy in the faculty handbook that said "only tenured faculty can

run projects." It was common knowledge at Harvard and at many other Universities that this

rule could be waived by the Dean – and in fact in numerous prior fully executed grant

agreements, I was clearly named as the director of the projects proposed. He informed me that

he would support me transitioning to another position outside the university, but he specifically

stated that he would "not entertain the notion of giving the funding back to [the first name

of Donor E’s Principal] " (emphasis added). At that time, I had approximately $3.1 million

dollars in gift funding from [Donor E] in an account operated by Harvard. Dean Elmendorf

told me that if I left Harvard, an action he supported, [Donor E’s] gift funding would remain at

HKS because it was the property of the presidents and fellows of Harvard.

102. When I was hired as a project director in December 2018, I was never told, implicitly or

explicitly, that only tenured professors could direct a project. While I understand that such an

overarching policy does exist, it is my understanding that exceptions to this general rule are

routinely granted at Harvard, which was true in my case.

103. This was devastating. The Dean was obviously not going to allow me to do any meaningful

work or use any of the research funding I raised based on these many new restrictions. I could

not feasibly apply the millions of dollars in research funding I had raised for the purposes

intended, if I could not hire staff or start new projects. Moreover, it was going to be impossible

to complete on-going projects without hiring flexibility.

104. At this point I was painfully aware that in raising money to do the mis- and dis-information

research that was more important than ever post-insurrection and pre-2024 elections, I had

vouched for HKS as a reputable institution which would responsibly house and enable this

work. In my commitment to ensuring this research would be done pursuant to a rigorous,
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transparent and objective approach, I had secured over $12 million in funding from major

foundations. When I realized this work would not be permitted to happen, I was deeply

humbled and my pain for the field of researchers whose funding had been reduced was

gut-wrenching. With the horror of these realizations, I asked Dean Elmendorf what had changed

in my relationship with HKS. I said I was hired as project director and had up to that point been

freely allowed to operate managing my projects with Dr. Latanya Sweeney as my co-principal

investigator (a designation that allows for the management of grants.). As I sat at his table

sobbing, he briefly deviated from his script to explicitly say in a patronizing manner, "I want

you to know that you do not have academic freedom." I asked, "what was that supposed to

mean?" He replied, "I want to remind you that you’re staff here."

105. At that moment, I recalled the prior sequence of events beginning with the Dean’s Council

meeting when Elliot Schrage became enraged over my statements and possession of the

Facebook Files. The email from the Dean shortly thereafter where he questioned my

methodology for the first time, specifically focused on Facebook, the announcement of

Harvard’s largest gift ever from the Chan-Zuckerberg Foundation, which must have been

months in the works, the consistent concerns by my colleagues to frame anything that may upset

Facebook in ways that could appease the Dean and my colleague’s surprise and concern upon

discovering how very close a relationship the Dean maintained with Sheryl Sandberg. I realized

he must mean that he would no longer allow me to do any work given the possibility my work

could upset Facebook. Dean Elmendorf would starve my team of staff, funding and bureaucratic

approvals to control what we could do at HKS and if Facebook decided to sue over the FB

Archive project that Dean Elmendorf was not going to protect me in any way – least of all any

academic freedom I thought I had at HKS. At that moment, I was intimidated into submission

and I was afraid for my team, my career and my family since the Dean was clear that he would

not hesitate to use any avenue he could to control and silence me and the entire TASC team.

106. Then apropos of nothing, Dean Elmendorf said that people may disagree with his decision

and think he was mistaken for letting go of TASC, but that he has dealt with criticism before and

he was not worried about his personal reputation. I was confused by the proactive defensiveness

of this statement because I had not asked a question about that.

107. I did ask him if Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley knew about this decision, to which he replied

they supported this decision. I told him that I hoped to move my team to another center, outside

of HKS, so that I could continue working with my team and using my funding. He asked which
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centers, and in complete candor, I told him I was already in conversations with the Berkman

Klein Center at Harvard Law School and Latanya Sweeney had mentioned moving TASC to her

Data Privacy lab in the Institute for Quantitative Social Sciences (IQSS).

108. I tried to stress to Dean Elmendorf that my mission was the same as that presented publicly

by Harvard University: "to share the light with the world." When he took aim at diminishing my

public reputation, he was really preventing public access to TASC research and obstructing the

fundamental academic right to inquiry.

109. What I found particularly threatening and resolute of the Dean’s intentions was that he

concluded the meeting by saying, "If anyone can come back from this, my bet is Joan Donovan."

To me, that underscored the gravity of the action they were taking against me. He was

deliberately rendering me unable to conduct essential research and taking every action he could

think of to silence my voice as a researcher at a time where it mattered the most for the public

and for policy makers – including denying access to the funds raised to do the work. I

understood that this "wind down period" would consist of continual blockades using

bureaucratic red tape, increasing restrictions for me and my team and anything else he could

think of to render me unable to exercise discretion over my budgets and to put me on the bench

until he could force me out involuntarily or through sheer misery.

110. In fact, I have never received clear communication about any of my budgets or funding

balances from Harvard despite asking the Shorenstein Finance Director and Human Relations

repeatedly over the years. I was led to believe this was due to one finance manager who was let

go for incompetence in 2022, and the most recent finance manager complained of being too

understaffed. I have not been allowed to audit the expenditures on my grants or gifts at any time

by Harvard – other than one oversight process driven by [redacted as “Donor F’] in Spring

2022. Particularly, as this "wind down process" went on, neither HR or the finance manager

would provide itemized budgets or projections.

111. After the devastating meeting with Dean Elmendorf on August 24, 2022, I called Ms. Manley

when I got to my car. I was heartbroken and crying uncontrollably. The Dean had succeeded in

making me feel that my career was over and I was utterly terrified for my staff, who were in need

of contract renewals, stable employment and healthcare. Many were coming up for a contract

extension, but I did not know what was going to happen to them and feared the worst. Ms.

Manley told me she had no knowledge of the Dean’s plan and she asked me what I was going to

do.
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112. Because Dean Elmendorf had explicitly told me Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs supported his

decision and because of the false tone of her denial, I no longer believed her. I informed Ms.

Manley that the Dean told me she knew and she expressed shock. In answer to her question, I

told her I planned to move my team to another center at Harvard, outside of HKS, because I did

not want to lose millions in research funding to be misused or diverted in ways directly

contradicting donors’ intent. She suggested I leave Harvard entirely or start a non-profit. I also

perceived that her close association with me could become problematic for her if I remained at

Harvard. At the end of our conversation, Ms. Manley said she was going to get to the bottom of

the issue, but had never heard of the rule that Dean Elmendorf was referencing as the pretext

for "winding down" TASC.

113. Given the events of August 24th, I was troubled by a situation that occurred earlier that

month. In the beginning of August, Ms. Manley, Ms. Gibbs, and I went to New York to visit a

donor and Shorenstein Board member at his home. We had an informative conversation and the

donor told me to submit a proposal for more research funding. When we left, Ms. Manley and

Ms. Gibbs told me I should ask for $20 million because as Ms Manley insisted "he can afford it".

I thought that was too much and said so. Ultimately, I did not submit any proposal because I was

increasingly frustrated by the lack of support by HKS to my team’s staffing needs and contracts.

Now, I wondered if Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs knew about my impending termination when

they had been actively encouraging me to make this exorbitant fundraising ask.

114. I was designated as a principal investigator on December 12, 2019 by the leadership team of

HKS, which came in the form of an email from [NAME REDACTED], the Academic Dean

wrote:

Dear Joan, We were delighted to learn about your important work through the proposal
to [Donor E] . I am sorry for my late response but it took us a bit to figure out how to
resolve the question of PI-rights (which we normally cannot give to an adjunct faculty).
We have now come to the conclusion that we should grant an exception in this case and
allow you to be the PI for the [Donor E] proposal (with oversight from Nancy as the
center director). We wish you the best of luck! [ACADEMIC DEAN’S FIRST NAME
REDACTED]

115. This email was in reference to an initial gift from [Donor E] for $1 million to the TASC

team in the winter of 2019. In conversation with [ACADEMIC DEAN’S NAME REDACTED]

during the fall of 2020, we renegotiated the rules for my PI-status. I reiterated my position that I
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would not stay at HKS if my name was not on my funding. I witnessed exploitation of research

funding from others and knew that if I did not have my name on my budgets then I did not have

any claim to it if something went askew. On December 16, 2020, after several conversations with

[ACADEMIC DEAN’S NAME REDACTED] to discuss my PI-status, we arrived at another

agreement, which was summarized in an email from [NAME REDACTED], the Senior

Associate Dean for Research and Policy, he wrote,

Hello Joan, Latanya, Nancy and Setti – I hope this note finds each of you well as we
push towards the end of this week and the blessed University holiday break. I am writing
at the request of the academic deans’ office to document the agreement for Joan and
Latanya to collaborate going forward as co-principal investigators in new Technology
and Social Change sponsored proposal submissions and in new project implementation.

My high level understanding of this arrangement is detailed below. [Disclaimer: I have
not been directly involved in all of the earlier discussions, so I may get some of the
details wrong. If so, please jump in with any material corrections.] The School’s hope and
expectation is that the Co-PI structure for TASC would be mutually beneficial and would
have a positive impact on the various TASC research and training efforts and in the
project’s broader impact. We would hope for synergies to emerge across the breadth of
the co-PIs’ work, including as Latanya begins to establish the brand new Public Interest
Technology Lab at the Shorenstein Center. Most of our sponsors, including those for
TASC, require completing forms and other grant materials that include the designation
of a single, lead PI. Internally, Harvard’s grants management system (GMAS) also
requires naming a lead PI in several places. In such cases, we agree that Joan would be
named as PI and Latanya as co-PI.

In the accompanying proposal narratives and budget justifications as applicable, Joan and
Latanya would agree on a description of an appropriately robust co-PI project leadership
structure. Other aspects of this arrangement would be determined by mutual agreement
of the co-PIs, with an eye for what might be most meaningful and feasible. Effective
immediately, this agreement would apply to all new and competing renewal TASC
proposals going forward, would remain in place until June 30, 2022, and would be
renewable thereafter, based on mutual agreement. Please let me know if you have any
questions. Thank you.

Best wishes for the holidays to one and all.
[NAME REDACTED], Senior Associate Dean for Research Policy and Administration

116. This was the agreement that was still in effect when I met with Dean Elmendorf on

8/24/2022.
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117. Before I called Ms. Gibbs on August 24, 2022, I looked up the policy that I was supposedly

violating in the faculty handbook about "Principal Investigators", it read,

Every external proposal must have a faculty principal investigator (PI). The PI must
signify his/her willingness to undertake direct, active responsibility for seeing that the
proposed work is carried out according to the terms, conditions, and policies of both the
sponsor and the University. The principal investigator must be centrally engaged in a
project in ways that are reflected in the proposal budget as well as proposed activities.
Only individuals with full-time Harvard faculty appointments or others explicitly
designated by the Dean may serve as principal investigators.

I realized then that the Dean had succeeded in causing me to question my own understanding of

the rule. Thankfully upon reviewing it again, it became clear to me that the Dean had decided to

retroactively remove his designation to justify his actions, but would not say as such.

118. When I got home that day, I called Ms. Gibbs and asked if there was anything that could be

done to salvage the TASC funding as I had millions for research in the Harvard bank. She said

that the writing was on the wall for months, but I must have missed the signs. I asked her when

she heard about this, and she told me Dean Elmendorf did not consult her. I told her he said

otherwise and like Ms. Manley, she expressed surprise. Then in an abrupt change of subject and

tone, she made a request that I "leave behind News Leaders," an educational program funded by

the [Donor F] where the TASC team educated news executives about our research. Ms. Gibbs

liked the program because it allowed her to rub elbows with her former colleagues in

newsrooms. It was clear from the sharp pivot of the subject that not only did she know this was

coming but that she was already planning to take over one of my impactful programs. It was

such a deep betrayal. I hung up the phone and ran to the bathroom vomiting. I screamed and

cried into a pillow all afternoon and finally went to sleep after taking medication for panic

attacks. Nancy continued to send me texts that day and night saying that "Sorry— don’t know

what happened but we got disconnected. I’m really sorry you’re having to sort through so many

weird and conflicting signals. I think this is all still unfolding, and there are a bunch of things I’m

going to try and get".

119. On August 31, 2022, I contacted Jen Goodman with Human Resources to learn more about

my rights. My email read, "Hi Jen, I'm having some issues with upper management changing the

terms of my employment and I need to document it. Can we talk tomorrow?" My biggest fear

was that even though I was told I had time to "wind down," I believed that I would be treated
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differently and that I would experience retaliatory actions that would continue to prevent me

from carrying out my research and meeting grant commitments. Because I had indicated my

desire to go to another center at a different school within Harvard and continue my project, I

feared I would be pushed out and isolated at Shorenstein and the wider Kennedy School or that

my move to another center at Harvard would be sabotaged. I conveyed all of this to Ms.

Goodman and she said there was not much that could be done, but it seemed "out of order with

typical processes for winding down projects" as HR was not notified beforehand. Particularly,

I feared that the Dean’s continual creation of new restrictions for me was creating internal

confusion, which would just further delay any administrative action at all on my requests for

hiring, planning, or doing public engagement.

120. Ms. Goodman encouraged me to document the meeting with my supervisor, I sent this to

Ms. Manley:

Hello Laura,

At the beginning of the meeting, Doug told me about the faculty job opening and
encouraged me to apply, but stipulated there are no guarantees. He informed me that he
wanted me to wind down TASC and prepare to leave HKS. He said I could not
fundraise anymore, but he would honor any outstanding grant commitments. He would
not allow any new gifts to be processed. I informed him that I was expecting 30k from
[redacted as “Donor A', $150k from [redacted as “Donor C”], and $100k from [redacted
as “Donor I”]’s covid project to be processed soon. I disagreed with the position that I
cannot fundraise as it makes it difficult to do my job as research director.

I was worried that I did not have enough funding raised or employees at Shorenstein to
continue meeting the goals of the TASC project. Moreover, I had just gone on a
fundraising trip with Nancy and Laura. I asked him if it would be okay if I put new
funding elsewhere at Harvard as I spent down funding at HKS, (naming both Berkman
or IQSS as possible options).

It was my understanding from the discussion that he would be fine with me placing new
funding at another center so that I would not miss a year of fundraising. I would only
transition out of HKS, if the faculty position did not work out. We did not talk explicitly
about moving any funding, only that I would want to continue my research at
Shorenstein and place new funding elsewhere so that we could create a smooth exit.

I also asked for clarity on the timeline for leaving Shorenstein and he said he would
honor the commitments of the contracts and talk with [ASSOCIATE DEAN’S NAME
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REDACTED]. For example, our recent grant from [redacted as “Donor H’] goes until
Aug 2024. I don’t know what that might mean for the TASC team or my position as
Research Director at Shorenstein.

Going forward I need clarification on several issues with the goal of creating a mutually
beneficial and quiet transition plan.

First, what is the policy on moving or spending gift funds to other places at Harvard
University?

Second, the $3 million cap falls under which university rule?

Third, what is the rule for staff holding two positions at different places within Harvard
at the same time?

Fourth, what can I do to ensure the continuity of my research while this transition plan is
enacted?

Fifth, am I allowed to raise new funding at HKS for the next year and, if so, how much?

When I first came to Shorenstein, I had to work every day to rebuild the reputation of
the center in the wake of losing several programs in 2019. I put all of myself into the
center and I am proud of what it looks like today. I worked closely with Nancy and Setti
to win the trust of the board and foundations, and we did it by creating a sustainable
research agenda that attracted top talent back to Shorenstein. That kind of field-building
is a testament to having a strong culture of academic excellence and rigor. During the
pandemic, it was immensely rewarding to share our vision of Media and Internet Studies
with the world, while teaching a new wave of
outstanding students how to analyze media manipulation and disinformation. I consider
HKS and Shorenstein my academic home and would not want to do anything to disrupt
that.

I also want to express my apologies for how things went down recently with the
Misinformation Review. While I helped [NAME REDACTED] get the project off the
ground and did some initial fundraising for him, I was not part of the editorial team that
published the ADOS paper and haven't worked at the project since the beginning of the
pandemic. I did work hard to help find a solution afterwards, but I am sorry for what
happened overall. I am invested in Shorenstein's success and overcoming the institutional
challenges associated with this emerging field of research.
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Throughout this transitional period, I will continue to conduct this research with
transparency, integrity, and accountability. That includes ensuring senior leadership at
HKS is routinely engaged in the agenda of TASC. I would appreciate the same
operational visibility from the administration. To that end, I would appreciate help in
fashioning a transitional plan that does not disrupt the on-going work of the TASC
project, while also meeting the goals of senior leadership. If possible, I would like this to
be a win-win situation, but I do not have enough information to know what the desired
outcome from HKS is.

My goal is the same as Harvard’s mission. I want to do the work of research and
education at a place where my team adds value to the institution. That means bringing in
resources to facilitate cross-disciplinary collaborations, mentoring colleagues and
students to use their education for public service and social good, while also sharing our
knowledge publicly so that stakeholders can make decisions in the public interest.

Of course, I hope that all of this becomes moot if I can clinch the faculty position, but
like the Sox in 2004, it’s a long shot.

Best,
Joan

121. On September 15, 2022, I had a follow-up meeting with Dean Elmendorf, with both Ms.

Manley and Ms. Gibbs present. During this meeting Dean Elmendorf reiterated that I was

prohibited from hiring any new employees, unless they were to replace those who left, and that I

and TASC are prohibited from starting any new projects. I was also told I could not fundraise

for my research.

122. Dean Elmendorf sent this follow-up email on 9/19/2022:

Subject: Follow-up to our meeting last week

Dear Joan,

Thank you for meeting with me and Nancy and Laura last week. I know you were
disappointed by the directions I spelled out, and I am sorry about that.

As I mentioned at the meeting, I want to summarize what we discussed:

● As I said in our previous meeting, I think you’re doing interesting and important
work—but the Kennedy School requires all projects to be led by a faculty member.
When TaSC was small, having this project led by a staff member was a small
inconsistency with our rules, and we approved it as an experiment; now that TaSC is big,
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having the project led by a staff member is a big inconsistency with our rules and our
structures for academic work.
● Therefore, as I said before, I cannot allow this arrangement to continue
indefinitely. I also cannot allow the project to get any bigger than it is now, again because
it is not faculty-led.
● We will launch a search for a faculty member focused on information and
democracy, but unfortunately we can’t do that right away as I had hoped because high
inflation and the performance of financial markets have made us defer a set of faculty
searches and other important investments that we had been planning. We’ll be happy to
have you apply in that search, but as mentioned previously, there are no guarantees about
the outcome. Given the uncertainty of our timing and the uncertainty of the outcome
once we launch, you should make other plans before your project needs to end here in
its current form.
● I can let the project continue at the Kennedy School until June 2024 if you want,
but by then it needs to have been fully wound down here. In the meantime, you can’t
expand it here, specifically:
○ You can’t raise more money. You have sufficient balances to cover your current
run rate on spending until June 2024.
○ You can’t hire more people; this means no increase in the number of staff plus
fellows, or in the number of LHTs.
○ You can keep doing the things you’re doing, but you should not be starting
substantial new work.
○ You can’t shift part of your operation to another school at Harvard because
you’re on our staff and our responsibility. If some other Harvard school wants to hire
you, we would of course help to facilitate that transition. I suggest that in any discussions
you have with other schools at Harvard, you should be sure they understand that hiring
you means taking you and your whole team and taking full responsibility, and you should
be sure that you and they agree on the specifics of the role you’ll play and the
prerogatives you’ll have. That will allow us to help with a smoother transition.
○ If you were to move outside of Harvard, we would also work with you to ensure
as smooth a transition as possible.
● In addition, Sarah Wald will need to work with you and OGC to clarify the
intellectual property rights to your work, because under Harvard’s policies the work
product of staff members is Harvard’s IP.

I recognize that there will be questions and issues that arise, and I urge you to keep in
close contact with Laura and Nancy so that we are all on the same page. Again, I
understand and am sorry that these restrictions are disappointing to you.

Best wishes,
Doug
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123. I responded on 9/26/2022:

Dear Doug,

Thank you Doug for the directions here. It has been both disappointing and confusing.
When I first came to the Kennedy school, I was on my back foot after having been
recruited by [REDACTED], but I stayed because Nancy and Setti were able to provide
me with a promotion to research director. It has been difficult to raise the center back to
its world-class status as a place for policy and journalism research, but we did it in short
order. Now the center is more vibrant than ever. While I imagined I’d grow into my gray
at Shorenstein, I realize that’s not the plan now and will keep you informed as I consider
pathways.

If you could help me by letting me know who you are talking to about my future course,
it will help me field different concerns.

Best,

Joan

124. Dean Elmendorf sent a very vague reply on 9/27/2022:

Dear Joan,

Thanks for your message. I’ve talked with some key supporters of the Shorenstein
Center about the Kennedy School’s requirement that all projects be led by faculty
members and about the implication that I can’t let your project run indefinitely or
become bigger under staff leadership. I’ve also discussed the structure and finances of
TaSC with a few people at HKS and elsewhere at Harvard, in order to facilitate any
coming transition. But I’ve been clear in all of these conversations that I can’t speak for
you or your plans, and I’m sure that none of these people would be surprised if you
reached out to them yourself.

Best,
Doug

125. Since these meetings, my team has lost nine full-time employees. I was only allowed to bring

on one new fellow. It was a struggle to get that contract approved, even though I started that

request before this series of meetings. Since then, we have not had any of our requests approved

from Shorenstein leadership and routine actions are much harder to accomplish, like getting

budgets drawn up or grant work passed through the office of sponsored research. This has led
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to frustration among my program manager and coordinator, who have told me they fear for

their jobs because they have continuously been ineffective at resolving pending issues.

126. Across the TASC team, the unstable working conditions caused sadness and low morale as

they watched our numbers dwindle and feared their contracts would not be renewed in 2023.

While I know the goal of HKS and Shorenstein’s leadership was explicitly to reduce the

prominence of my and my team’s research, I was not able to carry out the projects we had

designed when the administration was increasingly isolating the team and leaving us to languish.

We were intentionally being understaffed throughout 2022.

127. At this meeting, I was scared and confused as the conditions I agreed to work under had

shifted dramatically. By my own calculations I had over $4.5 million in research funding held at

Harvard, which was set to languish if I could not continue our research programs. After this

meeting, I also feared retaliation from senior administrators who may pass me over for

opportunities to network within the university. Moreover, I feared that my name would be

poisoned within the leadership of Harvard as I would be branded a difficult woman. What’s

worse though is that not only am I being harmed professionally by these new restrictions, it is

impacting extremely talented junior scholars on the TASC project.

128. Dean Elmendorf also told me that the Kennedy School will now exercise its ownership of

my book, "Meme Wars". Even though some staff at Harvard had published books without

Harvard seeking to own the copyright, he stated there was a policy that all staff ’s research was

owned by the University. I asked if this policy applied to writing that was not part of the grants

or gifts agreements and was conducted entirely off campus and without university support. I also

had a separate contract for the book publication. He reiterated that the school owned "all staff

research."

129. The word "staff" was the important distinction here, as "faculty" own their IP rights, but

staff do not. But I actually had two job titles at Harvard, one is a staff designation, the other is as

a faculty member. I taught a course on media manipulation and disinformation campaigns, so

my research directly informed my course offering. Below is a screen capture from my
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employment profile taken on 8/27/2023:

130. As noted above, when I inquired specifically about the [Donor E] funding, Dean Elmendorf

said that he would "not entertain the notion" of returning any of the unspent [Donor E]

funds or engaging the provost on the matter. Given this, Dean Elmendorf further reiterated that

I was barred from engaging in any further fundraising. As the [Donor E] gift terms stated that

he was required to have consultation with [Donor E] if he wanted to use the funds for purposes

other than TASC – unless it was not possible to have such consultation. I asked [Donor E’s

principal] if he had been consulted and he said, “no.”

131. Dean Elmendorf also delivered the news that there would be no tenure track position

opening for information and democracy, which he told me about in the August 24, 2022

meeting. While I was always skeptical that this job actually existed, Ms. Gibbs appeared horrified

to learn that it was not going forward. She questioned what had happened, and Dean Elmendorf

replied that increasing inflation was to blame. I always believed that the job was conjured as a

way to quell any internal advocacy by Ms. Gibbs or Dr. Sweeney to retain my team. In fact, Dr.

Sweeney and I had discussed the position at length because Dean Elmendorf had told her about

it during a private meeting in August. However, when Dean Elmendorf announced a different

position at a faculty meeting in early September, I noted to Dr. Sweeney that I had doubts it was

going forward.

62



132. Following the August 24th meeting with Dean Elmendorf, I spent time trying to find a new

place within Harvard University where TASC can continue at either the Berkman Klein Center

or the Institute for Quantitative Social Science. For context, back in July 2022, I met with the

Berkman Klein Center’s relatively new director, Sue Hendrickson, and we discussed the

challenges I had with the Kennedy School. During that meeting, she told me that she would

support having TASC move to the Berkman Klein Center. During a meeting with Jonathan

Zittrain in October 2022, I subsequently learned that Dean Elmendorf reached out to Jonathan

Zittrain, the Faculty Director of BKC and Dean John Manning, the Dean of the Harvard Law

School, and this stalled the progression of TASC moving to BKC. Mr. Zittrain said that Dean

Elmendorf said I "bragged" to him that I was "leaving for BKC." Never did I display such a

flippant attitude towards Dean Elmendorf. From this, I realized that Dean Elmendorf was

sabotaging my efforts to stay at Harvard and deliberately alienating me from colleagues.

133. Further, I was receiving pushback from Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs, individually about

moving internally inside Harvard. They each explained that BKC would be another difficult

situation, where I would be shut down if I angered donors or powerful professors. They warned

that Facebook was even more heavily entrenched in the Law School. At that time, Monika

Bickert (Facebook’s Head of Policy Enforcement), Sheryl Sandberg, and others from Facebook

were Harvard alumni. Several Facebook employees, including Ms. Bickert, collaborated with

several initiatives at BKC and the Law school more broadly. In fact, the plan for the "Facebook

Oversight Board" was hatched during a vacation taken by Noah Feldman, a Harvard Law School

Professor, at Sheryl Sandberg’s home.

134. For further context on Facebook’s penetration of different schools within the Harvard

umbrella, on 2/12/21 The New Yorker reported on the initial meetings between the Harvard

professor and Facebook,

In 2018, Feldman was staying with his college friend Sheryl Sandberg, the chief operating
officer of Facebook, at her home in Menlo Park, California. One day, Feldman was riding
a bike in the neighboring hills when, he said, "it suddenly hit me: Facebook needs a
Supreme Court." He raced home and wrote up the idea, arguing that social-media
companies should create "quasi-legal systems" to weigh difficult questions around
freedom of speech. "They could cite judicial opinions from different countries," he
wrote. "It’s easy to imagine that if they do their job right, real courts would eventually
cite Facebook and Google opinions in return." Such a corporate tribunal had no modern
equivalent, but Feldman noted that people need not worry: "It’s worth recalling that
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national legal systems themselves evolved from more private courts administered by
notables or religious authorities." He gave the memo to Sandberg, who showed it to
Zuckerberg. For a few years, Zuckerberg had been thinking about establishing a
"legislative model" of content moderation in which users might elect representatives to
Facebook, like members of Congress. A court seemed like a better first step.

In November, 2018, Feldman gave a short presentation to Facebook’s corporate board,
at Zuckerberg’s invitation. "I didn’t feel like I was convincing my audience," he told me.
Feldman recalled that some members felt such a body wouldn’t sufficiently improve the
company’s legitimacy; others worried that it could make decisions that would contradict
Facebook’s business interests. A few minutes in, Zuckerberg defended the proposal. He
noted that a huge proportion of his time was devoted to deliberating on whether
individual, high-profile posts should be taken down; wouldn’t experts be better at making
those decisions? The idea remained controversial, but Facebook’s corporate structure
allows Zuckerberg to make unilateral decisions. Soon after, he ordered the project to
begin. "I was kind of stunned," Feldman told me. "Like, holy shit, this is actually going to
happen."

135. Later, in February 2019, Mark Zuckerberg engaged in a rare interview with Jonathan

Zittrain, BKC’s faculty director, about issues related to content moderation and the future of

Facebook. At this point, Facebook’s public relations strategy was relying on the prestige of

Harvard to bring legitimacy to their corporation. This intellectual support from Harvard had the

effect of pivoting mainstream media and congress’ attention to the formation of the oversight

board and away from the manifold flaws in Facebook’s product design and moderation process.

136. Despite her encouragement for me to leave Harvard altogether, on December 1, 2022, Dr.

Sweeney set me up with a meeting with Gary King, Director of the Institute for Quantitative

Qualitative Social Science (IQSS) located in the Faculty of Arts and Sciences, in the hopes that I

could move my TASC project into her Data Privacy Lab located at IQSS. Dr. King took the

meeting with me, but was reluctant to open up a pathway to collaboration. As the meeting

ended, he gave me this advice, "When you become persona non grata of a Dean at Harvard, it’s

best to leave quietly. You can raise money somewhere else." This was a surprising statement

since earlier in the conversation, Dr. King said he did not know anything about my situation at

HKS. I was relieved to hear that and saw it as an opportunity not to dredge up anything

negative. I told him about my plans to work on the FB Archive and continue my media

manipulation research. He said that Latanya Sweeney was "spread too thin across the university"

and that "it would be hard to convince the Dean of FAS that she was providing oversight." He
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suggested that I approach a professor in the government department who did not have research

funding and offer to partner with them. I was baffled by this advice and did not follow up any

more about moving to IQSS. I informed Dr. Sweeney of what happened with Dr. King and told

her I planned to move forward with BKC.

137. On December 8, 2022, I texted Dr. Sweeney:

He didn't seem interested. He said I must have said something that embarrassed the dean
which is why Doug isn't trying to retain me. Then he suggested that I approach a Gov
dept professor that doesn't have funding and see if they will PI my work through iqss. I
asked him if he was interested in being PI and he said he's too busy to commit to
anything. He also recommended that I leave Harvard and just raise new money because
that's the only way to protect me and my team. I left really disappointed. He didn't seem
like he would get in the way of anything but he also seemed wary to help me. I asked him
about working with you at iqss and he said that he is unsure of what you are doing at iqss
now that you're at Shorenstein."

138. Throughout the fall of 2022 I had numerous meetings with staff and faculty associated with

BKC. In one meeting in October 2022 with Mr. Zittrain, we devised a plan to have a BKC

affiliated faculty member and tenured anthropology professor, [Name Redacted], serve as PI on

TASC, and move the management of the team and resources into BKC. I worked diligently

throughout the fall to make this work, including six meetings with the collaborating Professor.

The idea to move to BKC was stopped following a Crimson article on February 2, 2023 with the

headline, "Harvard Misinformation Expert Joan Donovan Forced to Leave by Kennedy School

Dean, Sources Say."13 Ms. Hendrickson, the Executive Director of the Berkman Klein Center for

Internet and Society, told me on a Zoom call that given how relatively new she was that she did

not have the "political capital" to bring on someone that Dean Elmendorf had "targeted."

139. Even though I was barred from fundraising for my own work, Larry Bacow, then President

of Harvard, invited me to be a panelist for Harvard’s Global Advisory Council held at the

Kennedy School in October 2022. The invite was issued on August 14, 2022, just ten days before

Dean Elmendorf shut down my project. I immediately accepted President Bacow’s invitation

with excitement. I took the invitation to be a great indication that Harvard University valued

TASC’s research and wanted to highlight it. I had feared being blackballed from university events

after the fallout from angering Elliot Schrage. When I met with Dean Elmendorf on August 24,

13 https://www.thecrimson.com/article/2023/2/2/donovan-forced-leave-hks/
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2022, he forbade me from fundraising, but did not mention this event set to happen in October

2022. I fully expected the President’s office to cancel my participation, but it went forward.

140. At this prestigious dinner, I was among 100 very influential people. [REDACTED] a

Professor of Government at the Faculty of Arts and Sciences, and I were interviewed by the

multi-billionaire donor, [REDACTED]. All of the upper-level deans and administrators from

across Harvard were in attendance. I felt it was hypocritical for me to be on the panel knowing

that any funding raised would not go to support my work. However, I was also wary of

retribution and did not want to give Dean Elmendorf any further basis to harm my team, my

work or my career knowing how closely he was monitoring me and my team. At this event, I did

not tell anyone what was happening to me and the TASC team.

141. None of this is conducive to a sustainable working environment for producing rigorous

academic research. Moreover, the scrutiny over my project by the Dean has caused gridlock

among decision-makers within the school who did not know how to enforce restrictions targeted

only at me. Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley both had remarked on several occasions that they did not

know what I could or could not do because the restrictions were so vague – and ever evolving.

Overall, Dean Elmendorf ’s intent was to reduce the public profile of me and my team, which he

stated several times during our meetings. He succeeded in this as I did not publish any white

papers, new academic research papers, or do much press after January 2023, as I did not want

my team to suffer in retaliation for my "public profile".

142. In late 2022, Ms. Manley began a campaign to make me so miserable I would be forced to

resign. On November 28-30, 2022, I was a panelist for a Knight Foundation event in Miami. Ms.

Manley also attended the conference. I used this as my opportunity to update funders in person

that I was asked to leave HKS. Most expressed their shock and dismay at the decisions of HKS,

as some of these same funders provided support to other failed projects at Shorenstein.

Approximately 10 funders from 6 foundations attended a dinner I hosted with Dr. Sweeney,

where Dr. Sweeney and I were discussing the FB Archive. Even though I could not raise money

I did believe that the project was going forward as a partnership between the TASC team and

Dr. Sweeney’s lab and within the framework of our original vision, where any money raised for

the project would be part of budgetary discussions.

143. I heard from one funder at the event that Ms. Manley was soliciting funding for Shorenstein

and discussing the FB Archive project too, but she was surprised when a funder mentioned that

he knew HKS leadership had asked me to leave. The funder told me that Ms. Manley tried to
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explain that there was a policy being enforced that said only tenured faculty can run projects, but

that didn’t make sense to him as he had funded other projects at Harvard which were not

supervised by a tenured faculty member. He said the reasoning on behalf of HKS was "weak"

given the powers of Deans to "make things happen." He said he was "surprised it took HKS this

long to kill the project, given what happened to the Information Disorder Lab," which was a

similar disinformation/media manipulation research project at the Shorenstein Center, that was

shuttered in 2019 following a disagreement with the Dean about policy enforcement related to

conflicts of interest. When that project shuttered in October 2019, I understood that it had a

multi-million dollar budget, of which only a portion of the remaining funds were returned to

donors and the remainder kept by the University.

144. Also at the Knight conference, a colleague warned me that Ms. Manley was asking other

researchers about me. She asked him, "Do people in the field even like Joan?" He was caught off

guard and told her "Yes, she has done great work and mentored so many different researchers."

He noted to me that it was obvious that Ms. Manley was trying to dig up dirt about me and he

left the group conversation.

145. Efforts to drive me out of HKS continued to escalate. On December 12, 2022, Ms. Manley

requested a face to face meeting in her office with one of my employees, who had worked for

me for two years conducting research on conspiracy theories within communities of color. In the

meeting, Ms. Manley reportedly told my employee that "Joan is selfish," and "a liar." Ms. Manley

went on to sow discord between my employee and myself by saying "Joan will leave without

notice," and that "you will lose your job." Then, Ms. Manley attempted to solicit a complaint

about me.

146. My employee came directly to my office after her encounter with Ms. Manley to tell me she

would call me that evening – after she's had a chance to discuss the encounter with her therapist.

She phoned later that evening to tell me the specifics of her meeting. She feared going to HR

because of retaliation. She needed a contract extension and thought that Ms. Manley would hold

it up if a complaint surfaced about their conversation.

147. I assured her that I would keep her name confidential and should she make a report, I’d

think it would do more to protect her than cause harm. Eventually, we both made reports to

HR. Because HKS was intentionally understaffing TASC in order to accelerate the "wind down

process" I reported this to HR, claiming Ms. Manley’s actions were blatant retaliation and

another move towards constructive discharge. My employee’s report described the meeting and
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Ms. Manley’s creation of a toxic work environment by pitting her against me, her supervisor.

After an investigation, HR called the incident "unprofessional conduct." There was no attempt

at mediation. My employee and I began working from home permanently in December 2022.

148. When I spoke to HR on December 13th about all of this, they encouraged me to make a

written complaint. Here is the text of that complaint filed on December 24, 2022:

Subject: Confidential Complaint

Dear HKS HR,

On Monday December 12, 2022, my manager, Laura Manley, called for a meeting with
one of my employees and divulged confidential information about my work contract,
called me a "liar" and suggested that my employee was in a precarious position because
they worked for me. Laura concluded the meeting by encouraging my employee to come
right to her or HR if problems developed with me. This toxic situation has marginalized
me as an employee and created a hostile working environment for the TASC team.
Because I work on issues of immense public importance, I must have safe and secure
working conditions. Periodically, I receive death threats for the work I do. I no longer
trust my manager to ensure my safety. Moreover, by attacking my character and involving
one of my employees in a dispute I have with HKS and Shorenstein leadership, Laura
has created an untenable situation, which needs HR’s attention. My employee has asked
not to be named for the time being in this complaint because they are afraid of further
retaliation from Laura. They told me they intended to document this with HR.

Details: On December 12, 2022, I was contacted by my employee in the morning who
told me that Laura Manley wanted to meet with her. Later that evening my employee
called me to say they were "shocked" at what Laura told her. My employee said from the
moment they sat down, Laura was sharing confidential information about me. My
employee recounted statements from Laura including, ‘I want to tell you my side of the
story of what is happening with the TASC team.’

I do not tell employees the details of my issues with HKS because it is not their business
and can make them feel unwelcome or precarious. This employee does not manage
anyone or have any reason to meet with Laura outside of professional development.
Previously, I informed this employee and the entire team that I do plan on leaving
Shorenstein if I can find an appropriate center for myself and the team. Following the
meeting with Laura, my employee reported to me that they felt they were ‘being put in
the middle of a disagreement that they didn’t understand.’ They believed Laura was
trying to "dig up dirt" on me. My employee reported feeling "fearful" that Laura may do
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something to prevent their contract renewal as a way of punishing me. My employee left
with the impression that Laura has a grudge against me.

During their meeting, Laura went on: ‘Joan is lying about what is happening to her and
her status at HKS.’ ‘Joan is talking to other universities and is only looking to take care of
herself. She plans on leaving the team behind.’ Laura had no reason to tell my employee
any information about my current employment situation and is not privy to the details of
negotiations I may have with other universities. I have kept Nancy and Laura informed
of discussions I’ve had with other centers at Harvard and as my supervisors they remain
fully informed of the outcomes of these meetings. I have been transparent with my
supervisors and have answered every question honestly. However, Laura has made it
clear that she doesn't want me to move to the Berkman Klein Center, which she views as
a direct competitor to Shorenstein for fundraising.

Laura also reportedly told my employee: ‘Joan’s job was always temporary and that it
could not go on indefinitely. Joan has known this since she started and is lying about it.’
The first time I had heard this rationale for my termination was in a meeting in Nov
2022 with Nancy and Laura. When Nancy Gibbs took over as faculty director, I was
given a promotion to Research Director and the center started to pay 3% of my salary. I
was encouraged by Shorenstein leadership, particularly the board, to
continue research on technology’s impact on democracy and journalism and to have a
significant public presence in the media. Our shared goal was to make Shorenstein a
world-class research center for journalism and public policy. I believed that I was core
staff and would continue to stay in the position if my work was exceptional and followed
standard academic conventions. Laura went on, "Joan is telling donors lies about why she
is being let go." My employee does not interact with donors. I should be informed, if
Laura or anyone at the school is talking to donors about my employment. There is no
reason to tell my employee this. I have made no public statements about my termination.
I have requested that Nancy, Laura, and the Dean tell me if they are discussing my
employment with funders and have heard nothing from them since September on this
matter.

My employee said that Laura continuously referred to my actions as "lying" and me as a
"liar" throughout the meeting. This is an attack on my integrity and requires HR
intervention. Lastly, Laura concluded the meeting by asking my employee if they have
any issues with me and when the employee replied "no," Laura asked that if anything
comes up that they go to Laura or HR about it immediately. I have always told my
employees to go straight to HR if they have issues with me. Moreover, Laura’s attempt to
drum up problems (where there are none) singles me out and is a retaliatory action
because I expressed that I must leave HKS because of the recent restrictions targeted
only at me. Not only does Laura’s harassment impact me, but my employee also now
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feels targeted and may want to change the frequency of their attendance in the office to
minimize interactions with Laura.
While I do not know Laura’s motivations to meet with my employee, based on their
discussion, Laura had no other agenda items and used the time to berate me and sow
dissension. I’m at a loss here because I just want to do my research in a safe and
supportive environment.

As a manager, I must assert Laura’s direct targeting of my employee is unethical and
caused trauma. This must stop. Based on these circumstances, I have no faith that Laura
will protect my rights as an employee and ensure my safety and that of my team. I fear
further retaliation for making this complaint to HR, so please treat with care. I currently
do not have legal representation, but reserve the right to involve an attorney if the
situation worsens.

Sincerely,
Joan Donovan

149. In light of the events that followed, I believe Ms. Manley wanted me to leave Harvard

University entirely - long before I realized she did. The heightened scrutiny over my project by

the Dean caused gridlock among decision-makers within the school who did not know how to

enforce restrictions targeted only at me. It was very frustrating for many people across the

school. Overall, Dean Elmendorf ’s intent was to reduce the public profile of me and my team,

which he stated several times during different meetings and email. He was successful in that I

felt completely alone and was now being targeted by my direct supervisor.

150. Ms. Manley took up a campaign within HKS to sow rumors and create a toxic work

environment with the obvious goal of pressuring me to leave Harvard. On December 18, 2022, I

received this email from Ms. Gibbs about an upcoming conference TASC was planning to meet

the requirements of a grant with [redacted as “Donor B”],Ms. Gibbs wrote,

Subject: Heads up

Joan, Heads up on two important things—after a rather tense annual report meeting
with the Dean and all of central command:

First, on Digi, it appears that the Dean agrees that Belfer should continue to control to
funds with the existing people they’ve enlisted work on it. ([REDACTED] has been
adamant about this in emails to me.)
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And second: I know your team has been at work on the PI Tech convening. Given
Doug’s concerns, I worry the school might push back, as I know THEY know about it
from the room bookings. Not sure what’s going to happen but didn’t want you to be
blindsided.

Talk soon, NG

151. Minutes later, I received a text from Ms. Manley that read, "did you see the email from

Nancy? It’s not looking good…" I did not respond.

152. I took mental note of the all capital "THEY" in Ms. Gibbs’ response. I thought, wouldn’t the

Dean know about the conference from Ms. Manley and Ms. Gibbs? Or was I being so tightly

surveilled that a room booking by my junior staff was flagged by Dean Elmendorf ’s team?

Nevertheless, I responded that evening with this email:

Nancy,
Thank you for the – frankly scary- update. As for DIGI, thank you for raising the
concerns with Belfer about the project. When I designed the project and raised the
funding from [Donor E] it was [Donor E’s Principal]’s understanding that I would be
driving the research and public engagement.

Since then, I have been marginalized and blocked from carrying out the research design
and deliverables. Now that some of the Belfer research assistants from this have reached
out to me for guidance-- because of the lack of intellectual leadership--I am concerned
we will not meet the goals of the project to educate the public on technology’s impact on
democracy.

As for your second update, I want to lift up that [Donor B] gave us money for PII
(including for a conference and other workshops) as well as core support to do this
work. This is not a new project but something that has been going on for the last 18
months, and everyone was looped in. That said, we anticipate that there will be ongoing
hurdles and will adjust accordingly. I don’t need to remind you that we are at an
incredibly important historical juncture where journalism must meet the challenges
facing our democracy. The new restrictions placed on TASC have been detrimental to
my team’s ability to do our jobs and shine a light on the dangers that tech poses to the
future of both journalism and democracy.

Some examples of those restrictions:
After two months of planning by two full-time employees, our podcast (a core product I
had discussed with [Donor E] was blocked by Dean Elmendorf. One of those
researchers left because of this.
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After a discussion with you and Laura last month, an "audio documentary" seems to be
back on the table possibly? I’m anticipating a "no" from the Dean, even though we
amended the contract specifically to take out the language of "podcast." We put in a
request to hire an events person back in June to help plan the Public Interest internet
(PII) conference after discussions with [Donor B]. It has yet to be approved. We already
pushed the conference back because we weren’t allowed to hire and we still haven’t been
given a clear answer as to why not.

In August, a researcher was reassigned to plan the PII conference for the Spring. A
considerable amount of work has already taken place as most on the TASC team are also
involved in the event. We are asking Latanya Sweeney to keynote. Freezing the
conference up would lead to another significant effort by our team resulting in no
product, like the podcast.

We have open requests for 3 fellows for Spring 2023 ([3 NAMES AND NETWORKS
REDACTED]). No word on this yet either.

Pending grants: 150K from [Donor C] and 30K [Donor A] are still under review. Since
August I have only been allowed to bring on 1 full-time fellow (and that was difficult).
I’ve lost SEVEN full-time people. I also moved two full-time fellows to part-time. That’s
a loss of 9 FTEs. We are a shell of our former team.

Despite being told that I would have until 2024, my sense is that I am being pressured to
leave by having so many requests denied or left to languish? Dean Elmendorf expressed
that I was "too prominent," but these restrictions most adversely impact the people on
my team and their research. I am doing the best I can to manage the team and maintain a
sense of normalcy under these new and unprecedented restrictions. However, It is
burning out staff and researchers to have such unpredictable working conditions and
added scrutiny on our research agenda.

This is especially disappointing given the enormous responsibility TASC has to represent
this research to millions of people globally and the newsrooms, technologists, and
politicians who look to us for guidance. I’m really at a loss for how to continue under
such circumstances. I appreciate anything you can do to ensure the continuity of our
work in the coming year.

Happy Holidays,
Joan

153. Ms. Gibbs replied on 12/20/23:
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I understand why this is scary, and so I’m glad the Dean wants to meet in person so we
aren’t always playing telephone. It seems to me when I look at his guidelines that nothing
limits you and your team continuing your research, adding cases to the casebook,
etc.—in other words, the core work of researchers at research centers. Where they have
drawn lines is on expansion (ie staff) and public facing/high profile activities, which is
why you’ve run into hurdles all along on the podcast and now a large convening. Smaller
private sessions would probably be Ok, but anything big and public that requires [2
NETWORKS REDACTED] is likely not. Am here….

154. Then, later on December 20, 2022, Dean Elmendorf sent this email that dashed any hope of

completing this grant deliverable:

Subject: Getting together -- and your upcoming conference

Hello Joan,

A few months have passed since we last talked, and I’d like to arrange a time in early
January to catch up on your plans for the TASC project. My assistant, [NAME
REDACTED], will follow up with you shortly.

In addition, I understand that you are planning a large convening at HKS in the spring.
However, a large convening seems inconsistent with the guidelines I established in
September regarding new or expanded activities. So, please do not finalize any plans for a
conference or invite any speakers or attendees until we talk. I hope you have a good
winter break.

Best,
Doug

155. With regard to having a "good winter break," I spent that period waiting in fear and anxiety

for whatever worse things would be coming at me from HKS. My physicians prescribed

anti-anxiety medication and worked to address my now-chronic insomnia. Of course the

convening the Dean referred to was not a "new" project as it was a requirement of the [Donor

B] grant agreement and we had been working on it together for months at that point. Both Ms.

Manley and Ms. Gibbs were not only well apprised of the progress all along, they each

participated in the planning of the convening. I had to tell the TASC team that the conference

was likely not going to happen due to Dean Elmendorf ’s restrictions. Not only had he killed the

podcast that was two full-time employees’ work product for several months, but now most of

the team was affected as each employee was set to moderate a panel and/or present research.
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This was my personal breaking point. It was crystal clear that I was not going to be able to fulfill

any of my grant deliverables nor perform meaningful research at HKS. Dean Elmendorf was

ensuring that there would be no academic freedom for me or my team. It was humiliating to be

in this position and have members of Congress, international human rights organizations, and

dozens of journalists hold me in such high regard, when I could not even protect my research

team from HKS’ suppression of their research, which now directly impacted their ability to gain

notoriety and associate with others in the field. I desperately wanted to quit for my own mental

well-being, but I knew I could not do it before helping my employees.

156. My primary concern was to secure positions for my staff whose contract renewals were

constantly being delayed and whose terms became shorter and shorter creating painful anxiety

and uncertainty. I began widening my search for new jobs, but I was stymied by my

unwillingness to further endanger my team by talking about what was happening to me at HKS

and the shocking conflict of interest of Dean Elmendorf in his unwavering commitment to

protecting Facebook’s interests. Moreover academia is a tough place to be successful and

tenure-track jobs are scarce – especially after the Crimson article made clear I was being pushed

out.

157. There were different rumors circulating about my employment around Harvard and across

numerous universities and newsrooms. HKS had issued several statements to the media about

the shutdown of TASC. I was given an email that Ms. Gibbs had written to the board of

Shorenstein, by a reporter at The Washington Post, who asked me to comment. I declined but

inquired as to where he got the email with information about me, the TASC team and our

funding, and he said that HKS comms sent it to him.

158. At this point, I realized Ms. Manley was trying to sabotage my work. I did not know what

her motives were – whether to earn favor with the Dean’s team or to distance herself from me as

"persona non grata" – as was made clear to me by Dr. King at IQSS. Ms. Manley told me at a

conference in November 2022 that she felt outside the "circle of trust" with the Dean’s office

and she was being treated in ways that she felt were sexist and racist. We had commiserated

together about feeling isolated, which was why it was such a painful betrayal for her to contact

my employee to solicit a complaint just a week later.

159. On January 3, 2023, I wrote an email to HR following up on my complaint:

Hi Pam and Jen,
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Laura reached out via text to have a meeting with me about the Thursday meeting with
the Dean. I’m very anxious about how this will play out. I do not know what to say to
her.

I have a meeting scheduled with Nancy, Laura and Dean Elmendorf and Sarah Wald on
Jan 5th because the Dean believes I am in violation of the rules he set for me at our last
meeting in September. At that Sept meeting, the Dean stipulated that I cannot start any
new projects and to keep in touch with Laura and Nancy about my plans. Throughout
the fall, my team was planning for a Spring conference that I informed Nancy and Laura
about during several meetings. There was no friction from them about it.

However, after the Dean had meeting with Nancy and Laura in early December, the
Dean emailed me asking that I stop the conference planning until I meet with him
because he believed it violated the special rules he made up in September. One week
prior Laura was in communication with my program manager about the conference.

This was the same week Laura called me a liar to my employee. Laura remarked that ‘the
conference was not listed in the grant budget’ and we replied that it was in the grant
narrative. We did not know the reason why Laura asked these questions. I feel scared and
saddened that it has come to this. It’s been devastating to me to see our research and
programs frozen and then to be personally attacked by my supervisor.

I do not want to lose my job or endanger the employment of my team. I do not want
this to escalate.

I’m not going to come to the office until there is a clear plan for how to address what
happening, especially the harassment. I will likely take the meeting with the Dean via
zoom, but I am hoping to be able to bring an advocate. Is there a policy for this? I do
not feel safe in this environment.

In August, the Dean told me that I was "too prominent" and I don’t know what that
means for my career or my work at HKS. I do not believe I am being treated fairly or
that I am being managed in good faith.

Since I have arrived at HKS, I have held conferences on campus or virtually. The
conference in question was part of a grant narrative from 18 months ago and is not the
last conference I must deliver before I leave. I would like to know if the confusion by the
dean about this conference might also be related to Laura’s harassment of me?

The goal of my work has not changed. I do research and education related to technology,
journalism, and democracy. I have made an appeal to the Berkman Klein Center to bring
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our work over there, but I am afraid that the transition will be held up because I am
being subject to unusual and unclear rules.

Sincerely,
Joan Donovan

160. HR responded quickly to ask me why I felt unsafe and to provide me with the number of

campus services. I responded to HR:

Hi Pam, I am available for a meeting on Monday morning or earlier.

Thank you for the phone number for campus services. I have a proper mental health
counselor and am utilizing them.

When I wrote that I’m saddened and scared it’s because I never imagined I would need
to make a complaint like this about someone and I’m very afraid that even reporting it
will lead me and/or my team to lose our jobs.

As for physical safety, I want to explain further. As a result of my scholarship (having to
do with white supremacism, disinformation, and the other awful things), I receive threats
weekly. These come in through my email, through physical mail, and over social media.
In some instances, people have even come into the office looking for me. In 2019,
campus security had to intervene to stop a man from contacting me and seeking
information about me by reaching out to colleagues. He had even started to show up in
public places where I was giving talks and at the office. We had two panic buttons
installed at Shorenstein because of threats to me.

I had an unwanted visitor as recently as December 12th, where a man (claiming to be
"from Wall Street" who had attended the capitol riot on January 6th), gained entry into
Shorenstein, looking for me. I was able to get him to leave and spoke to Jen about it the
next day. December 12 was the same day Laura spoke to my employee. I did not make a
report, but I expressed that I did not feel comfortable approaching Laura about issues
related to my safety at the center.

When I say I don’t feel safe, I mean that I am a consistent target of outside threats and
that when my supervisor is choosing to engage in unprofessional behavior, such as name
calling and rumor-mongering, the potential for danger is heightened for me.

Here are the specific activities that make me not feel safe:
My supervisor:
1. divulged confidential information,
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2. created and spread false information about me,
3. name-called me as a "liar,"
4. and tried to solicit an HR complaint about me.

I do not trust that my privacy and security will be protected in cases where other people
are seeking information about me from Laura. Moreover, if Laura did this with one
employee, I cannot be sure she has not done this with other people inside and outside
the university. Only an HR investigation may figure that out. While absolutely no
physical threats have been made by Laura, her active vitriol in this environment of
on-going risks worries me a lot. While this might seem outlandish, I rely on my trusted
colleagues daily for my physical safety.

Best,
Joan

161. On January 5, 2023, I met with Dean Elmendorf, Ms. Manley, Ms. Gibbs, and Sarah Wald on

Zoom video conference. I asked HR if I could have an advocate in the room and was told no, so

I opted to take the meeting from my home. Everyone else was in the Dean’s office. It was a

tense meeting as Dean Elmendorf began to read from yet another pre-written script. He

stipulated yet more new restrictions to be applied only to me. First, I was told I could not host

any event larger than 30 people. Next he stated that I could not have any prominent guests on

campus without his approval. I asked him how he heard about the spring convening and he

paused, and asked why would I want to know that? I reiterated that "I wanted to know how you

heard about the conference. Was it from Nancy and Laura?" He replied "from Laura and

Nancy", seemingly baffled. To which I said, "so it had nothing to do with the room booking?"

He looked somewhat puzzled, but his answer confirmed for him that Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley

were well aware of the months of planning and work put into the event, while also confirming

for me that they were taking advantage of their position as interlocutors between the Dean and

me to give me false information.

162. He then began to discuss the fate of my team. He directed me to create a "wind down plan"

for my project that included how long I was going to stay and what staff should be renewed. Ms.

Gibbs and Ms. Manley remained silent and stone-faced. I was crying and had to take long pauses

to process the information Dean Elmendorf was reading aloud from his script.

163. He continued on with the script to discuss the topic of "communications." He said, "You

can do more of what you want to do, some other place, which I find quite plausible. But
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different places have different ways of operating, different leaders make different decisions and

so on. I'm comfortable with the ones that I'm making and that Laura and Nancy are making

here." I wrote this statement down because it signaled to me that Laura and Nancy were also

working with the Dean, despite their grumblings to me that they could not believe this was

happening and that they did not support his decision. With regard to his concern about

communication with donors, I frankly and without hesitation told them who I was in contact

with on the board, indicating repeated contact with [Donor G] and [Donor E]. Dean Elmendorf

stipulated that my story had to be "accurate, consistent, and coordinated with the Shorenstein

Center." I understood that edict to be something akin to a "gag order" by which my external

communications required pre-approval from the Shorenstein Center. I clarified for them that

given the fact I was not invited to the Shorenstein Board meeting in the fall, I did not know what

was said to the board. I said in the spirit of clarity and his requirement of consistent messaging,

HKS should write a letter to explain what happened to the TASC project. One of the very few

times Ms. Gibbs spoke during the meeting was to say that she believed a letter to the board

would be "strange" given that I did not know where I was "taking the project."

164. I responded that I was most concerned about the rumor milling, particularly statements

made by Ms. Gibbs and Ms. Manley to [REDACTED] claiming "Joan always knew her job was

ending" or that "June 2024 was the end of Joan’s contract". In fact, the end date on my

employment contract with HKS was actually December 31, 2024. But I did not go into more

detail because I did not want to argue with them or bring up that the rumors were coming from

their side of the house. These were points Ms. Gibbs made previously to me in a meeting with

Ms. Manley and the statements are false.

165. Ms. Gibbs then went on to say that the issue with communication was that "I've written to

you about this, that the language is important and I worry that it is easily misunderstood when

you say that you've been fired." When I received the referenced email on January 5, 2023, I

understood this to be a reference to a comment I made casually to a colleague in front of Ms.

Gibbs at a reception for a documentary on December 8, 2022. I was at the event because I was

invited to be a panelist for the discussion after the film. The Shorenstein Center saw it as a

fundraising opportunity. During the reception in the lobby, I was chatting with colleagues about

being let go and "academically fired," the latter is a euphemism for being given your pink slip at

a University, which typically means you will be leaving in the next year or so. I explained to my

colleague that I was looking for a new job and asked him to connect me if he learned of any
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promising opportunity. I was responding to the HKS narrative that the plan was for TASC to

"wind down" because it did not reflect the real violence and trauma of the process. Not only was

every member of the brilliant and talented team I recruited experiencing soul-crushing rejection

and uncertainty, I was losing my whole career, my entire research infrastructure, my professional

reputation and millions of dollars in funding located at Harvard, as well as funding I had to leave

on the table because I was not even permitted to fulfill my grant deliverables and as they all

knew I did not have a place to take it.

166. Dean Elmendorf sent me an email summing up his new restrictions on January 6, 2023:

Joan,
I’m following up on our conversation yesterday by sending notes on my comments so
that we all stay on the same page. When we met in September, I explained that you
needed to wind down Tasc and other projects of yours by June 2024 at the latest.

My goal in yesterday’s meeting was to be more specific about the wind-down process. I
began by describing an overall approach and then addressed a few specific issues: On the
overall approach: I’d like you to present to me, Nancy, and Laura a plan about to how to
accomplish the winding down of Tasc and your other projects no later than June 2024.
By a "plan," I mean what activities do you intend to do given the current grants and gifts,
what staffing is needed to do those activities, and how you intend to communicate your
plans both internally and externally. I would like to receive a draft plan from you in three
weeks, which would be January 26.

Once Nancy and Laura and I have reviewed the plan and approved it, then it should be
clearer to everyone what should and shouldn’t happen going forward.

On your intended spring convening: Given my earlier decision about not raising the
profile of your projects, a convening with a large number of guests would not be
appropriate. You may host small numbers of guests for panel discussions or seminars,
but not large numbers; I think that 30 people is the upper limit on what can happen.
Other issues also may raise the question of what is part of "continuing the work" while at
the same time not "expanding it"; you need to defer to Nancy and Laura’s judgment.

More generally, because Tasc is a project of the Shorenstein Center, any convening
should be undertaken in coordination with the Center and drawing on Center staffing
(so there is no need for a separate events person for Tasc) and other support.

On invited speakers: High-profile guests at HKS need to go through a vetting process
before invitations are finalized. This is a School-wide requirement. Moving forward,
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please make sure to work with Nancy and Laura to provide lists of anyone you are
thinking about inviting, so the high-profile names can be vetted first.

On staffing: We talked in September about not expanding staff but about replacing staff
if needed to wind down your projects, and we are all concerned about transparency and
support for the staff working with you. Therefore, part of the "wind-down" plan I
mentioned should spell out staffing needs and how those relate to ongoing projects.
Most of the current staff terms, as I understand it, end between March and November of
this year. We will need to determine whether those get extended, and if so, for how long,
so that needs to be part of your suggested plan.

In terms of Fellows specifically, we are reducing the overall numbers of Fellows in all
Centers at HKS; therefore, Nancy and Laura will need to look closely at your requests
for any new Fellows for your projects, even if they are replacing departing Fellows.

On communications with supporters of the Shorenstein Center and of Harvard more
broadly: It’s important that members of the Shorenstein advisory board and other
donors and grantors hear a consistent and accurate explanation of what’s happening with
you and your project. I expect that you will coordinate with Nancy and Laura on an
ongoing basis to be sure that is happening.

As I said yesterday, I recognize that the constraints needed for the wind-down are
problematic from your perspective, and that you may have greater freedom in a position
outside the Kennedy School and outside Harvard. If you think it would be better for
your work to leave before June of next year, we will do all we can to support that
transition. As long as you are here, you and everyone else at HKS need to act
collaboratively and professionally with colleagues, with staff members, and with external
supporters.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Best,
Doug

167. Immediately after the January 5, 2023 meeting and before I received the email from the

Dean, I wrote an email to Ms. Gibbs.

Hi Nancy,

Let's keep much of our communication to email through the remainder of my
employment at Shorenstein.
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Despite you conveying to the Dean that I use the term "fired" frequently, that
happened ONLY ONCE when joking with [REDACTED] about my future at Harvard.
I said I was "academic fired" which means I was told ahead that I am being dismissed.
Whatever it meant, we laughed about it. It was not vitriolic.

Attending a fundraiser for Shorenstein at GBH was a very raw moment for me knowing
I was ousted. I played the role and didn’t disappoint. Whatever you and Laura
communicated to the Dean about the PII conference was incorrect and surely made it
seem like I was up to something that contradicted his rules.

His line about no high profile invited speakers was especially strange, which promoted
me to ask questions. He did not find out about the conference from "the room
bookings," as you said, he said he based his decision on what you and Laura told him.
Whatever was said made it seem like I was doing it to promote myself or cause
controversy, which has been a bone of contention with Doug. That was not what was
happening here. You both chose to put Doug in the middle of a dispute that you were
having with me, but why? It serves no one to mislead him about my work.

I have done everything I can to abide by these rules targeted only at me. Can we just be
straight up with each other that this is a painful experience? Halting the work of my team
or making them feel precarious helps no one. Targeting me or my employees also causes
unneeded grief and a hostile workplace. I have been nothing but truthful in my meetings
with you and Laura about wanting to move to a place where I have academic freedom
and a Dean sees the value of my scholarship. Moving the whole team is complicated.

I could have left by now but I am a person of integrity. Nevertheless, they are my
responsibility and the rules that are forced on me at HKS have negative impact on them.

By the sound of Doug, he be delighted if I left, but I don’t think he wants me to stay at
Harvard based on his actions. I’m bound by the bank I built and the responsibilities to
my team. As a queer woman with the most diverse team at all of HKS, the SIX
conferences I have held at HKS all centered on diversity, equity, and inclusion of BIPOC
researchers and journalists in this field. You’ve been at some of them and the energy is
electric. My conferences focus on field-building and cross-professionalization. I am
usually in the background as these events are designed for my junior staff to shine.

We bring together really eclectic mix of people who often don’t want the meeting to end.
Now that magic can’t happen. I ask you, why be part of that legacy? I will be requesting
work from home accommodations in the meantime. I will communicate to my team
about the PII conference and news leaders cancellations. I’m not getting fired earlier
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than June 2024 over Doug’s capricious and arbitrary rule making. I have too many people
to support and so much work I want to accomplish.

Through everything, I am certain the truth will find its way,
Joan

168. Later that night, Ms Gibbs replied,

Joan,

Happy to do this by email.

Far from putting the Dean in the middle of a dispute we are having with you, Laura and
I have been caught up in the challenge of interpreting and implementing his decision that
TASC needs to wind down.

To address your specific points: I’ve heard you use the term fired multiple times, as has
Laura. You sometimes framed it as never having heard of someone being fired for being
too successful/too prominent etc. We’ve had colleagues come to us saying you said you’d
been fired and wondering what that meant for working together in the future. Back in
September, I raised concern about the use of that word because I worried people could
think you must have done something wrong, and could make it harder for you to find
the right next role. I heard it as a measure of how hurt and confused and angry you were,
but you were using that language enough that I feared it would harm you professionally,
apart from not being accurate.

No one has misled anyone about your work; [2 NAMES REDACTED] had multiple
meetings with the core team and explained that you were planning a large conference
that involved 150 people and an evening event. I was surprised to hear you say this was
mainly about meeting student demand for exposure to people in the field, when earlier
you said you were fulfilling your grant commitment to "Create an expert network
through (virtual and in-person) convenings that combine policy and technology
approaches to creating a public interest internet. We will do this by bringing together
civil society, academics and policymakers around shared concerns related to internet
infrastructure, rights, equity, and justice, to formulate concrete responses, exchange
knowledge, ideas and build novel networks of people and technologies in the public’s
interest." That’s rather different from what you described today, of researchers and
practitioners speaking to a room full of students.

The context of much of what you heard today was not just the Dean applying his broad
guidelines to specific questions of staff, fellows, convenings etc. It was because in recent
weeks, and at our annual review with the entire school leadership a few weeks ago, Laura
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and I were admonished for not managing you strictly enough and failing to ensure that
you follow school rules. That’s the OTHER conversation that lead to today.

We were repeatedly reminded that you are a staff member; that any major travel, hires,
fellows, spending need prior approval, because that is school policy; that any large
convening needs to be faculty led; that you need to be in the office a minimum of three
days a week and, without a specific approved accommodation from HR and the Dean,
have been in violation of that school-wide rule. That OFS had flagged repeated instances
of excess spending that we had not blocked; that RAO [Research Administration Office]
had concerns about a mismatch between grant narratives, budgets and actual staff time
allocations. And on and on.

Our effort to understand the nuances of the situation and find creative solutions has lead
to our being accused of failing to appropriately oversee your work, travel, staffing,
spending and adherence to rules. What you were hearing today was obviously aimed at
providing you greater clarity, but it was also the Dean telling us that he expected us to be
much more hands on in administering the restrictions he has imposed as well as the rules
of the university. So I will follow up with a memo about how to implement this going
forward.

Yes, we can absolutely agree that this is a painful experience. Our principle goal is doing
excellent work that advances understanding, equity, truth and trust. I too am concerned
about your team and the prolonged uncertainty they are dealing with. Your insistence
that you have been nothing but truthful with Laura and me means that many other
people that have come to us must be lying. Again, I’ve attributed this to the reality that
this situation is hard and so declined to confront you when faced with a serious
misrepresentation.

To give you just one example, (which contradicts your assertion today about your
interactions with the board) [SHORENSTEIN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 1’S
NAME REDACTED] reached out to me because you’d called him, very upset that you
had just learned the board was meeting and hadn’t been invited, and that Harvard was
trying to push you out and keep your money. But you had known about the meeting for
weeks. You were invited to the dinner. And I was present when Doug explained in
detail that your grants would follow you wherever you went, and that these
transfers happen all the time.

So if anything, the message I’ve been given is that I failed to confront you about
disturbing behavior or alert others at the school about it. Laura and I were working hard
support you and your team, and try to find a path to a good outcome that caused the
least damage to everyone in a difficult situation. But from your note, it’s plain that you
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did not see it this way, and of course we’ve been clearly directed on how we are to
manage everything going forward. I too so wish none of this had happened this way.
Nancy

169. With regards to [SHORENSTEIN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 1], I had forgotten

about that conversation during the course of the brutal and emotional meeting in the Dean’s

office. For context, Nancy is referencing to [SHORENSTEIN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER

1], a member of the Shorenstein Board, a lecturer at the Harvard School of Public Health, and a

friend to Ms. Gibbs. [SHORENSTEIN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 1] contacted me to

ask for a meeting when he was in Boston for the Fall Shorenstein board meeting. He wanted me

to guest lecture in his public health course in December. On 11/8/2022, I reached out to

[SHORENSTEIN ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 1] confidentially to ask him for advice

about looking for a job at journalism schools. I was in conversation with another Dean in a

journalism department and really needed guidance professionally. He immediately offered up

that Ms. Gibbs told him that Dean Elmendorf was shutting me down. He said that Ms. Gibbs

was on my side. He warned that I did not want to make Ms. Gibbs "an enemy" and that "the

best revenge is being successful." He spoke highly of a few journalism programs. We closed the

fifteen minute call planning my guest lecture that took place on 12/2/2022. I did not ask him for

help, or to step in, nor did we get into any details. In the Dean’s meeting, I forgot I even spoke

to him because the conversation was so brief and insignificant given what was happening.

170. I waited a day to respond to Ms. Gibbs because I was so completely stunned by her

brand-new allegations of "disturbing" behaviors and misconduct. Rather than acknowledge that

she and Ms. Manley had been lying to me in a persistent and concerted way, she went on the

attack and called my behavior "disturbing". Now she was claiming I had violated numerous

workplace policies. I challenged Ms. Gibbs in my email response to document these violations

with HR. Previously, I worked at a non-profit and so I was familiar with standards for expenses.

I took great care to ensure the TASC team made economical purchases. The Shorenstein Center

Finance Manager directed the TASC team to use HKS’ "Egencia" service for travel, which I

found to have inflated some prices. I no longer held any hope about being able to stay at

Harvard. I sent this reply to Ms. Gibbs on January 7, 2023:

Hi Nancy,
Thank you for the response. You were right that I forgot to mention [SHORENSTEIN
ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 1]. He basically reassured me that you were working in
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my best interests and suggested I not speak to anyone about it. Talking to him slipped
my mind due to the intensity of the Dean’s meeting.

Please forgive the oversight. I sent a correction to the Dean. As for what happened in
your meeting with leadership, I am deeply sorry that you have to navigate this. Can you
tell me what behaviors were labeled "disturbing?" This is not a word I take lightly as it
implies a mental health problem. It’s triggering.

In the two previous meetings with the Dean, he did not bring up any behavioral issues,
nor did he cite any policy violations or other fire-able offenses. So, I find it very
overwhelming to read your listed transgressions. While I have never challenged that I am
losing my job because HKS leadership has decided to terminate me, I disagreed with the
targeted restrictions placed on my team because they are designed to throttle our
research and public impact. It has created tense working conditions, where I am now
isolated and understaffed, and imperils my projects that are designed to have broad
public impact.

I maintain that my current actions are consistent with acceptable actions in the past. As I
interpret this email, you have been asked to closely monitor my movements, spending,
and communications. My team has worked with the finance director and
communications director to ensure compliance with university rules. Below I will explain
processes we have followed for clarity.

On some level, I have to imagine that you see what is happening to my team and
understand my predicament as the steward of one of the hardest working teams in this
field. I came to Shorenstein after being given a job offer that was an utter lie. I stayed
because I thoroughly loved working with you and Setti, not only because you saw the
passion and value of my research and educational programs, but also because you had
the same mission as me; to share the light with the world. I helped recruit Laura because
I believed she could inject some energy into the center around policy and government.
Somewhere along the way, things changed, we argued about money, and it’s time to part
ways.

I accept this and still think very highly of you.

I will try to explain here what has gone into TASC’s decision-making in the last few
months.

1. On the experience of my termination, it seems to me that there is a major rift in
perspectives here. Whatever the euphemism used (fired, losing my job, wound down,
asked to leave, let go, not renewed...), you are right that I use humor to cope with this
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major blow to my career. Since you spoke to me I have refrained from saying "fired." I
don’t think telling a joke is the same as seriously claiming I was fired on the spot. This is
nitpicking though. With this most recent restriction, I understand that under penalty of
punishment, I cannot speak of my personal experience.

My experience of losing my livelihood is one of pain, loss, and confusion after all I have
done to bring the Shorenstein Center back into the good graces of donors and the
academia. After significant losses of major programs, like the Ida B Wells Society and the
Information Disorder Lab, I struggled to find donors to support research and
educational programs. You know that I put my reputation on the line to recuperate the
center in the eyes of donors, government, tech companies, journalists, and fellow
academics. My team continues to be a major draw that brings new philanthropists and
faculty interest to the center. I have NEVER stalled when it came to bringing praise and
funding to the center.

Now that I am being asked to leave- and I indicated my desire to move to Berkman- I
am perceived as competition. While grants do go with me, the $2.6M in gift funds do
not. They can only be spent at Harvard, so leaving Harvard does mean sacrificing a
significant amount of capital. I asked the Dean if he would be willing to return the
funding to [Donor E], but I doubt he will.

I have been in contact with Berkman since August about a transition, even before I met
with the Dean, which became much more complicated in September for reasons
described as "university politics." Gary King of IQSS recommended that leave Harvard
as soon as I can because I was the dean’s "persona non grata" and nothing good could
come of it.

I await advisement on the Dean’s new restriction of a coordinated effort to offer the
Shorenstein center’s supporters "a consistent and accurate explanation" of my
termination. Bear in mind though, the explanation I have been given thus far, that
"projects must be led by faculty" is not consistent with the rules of the university.

As I have told you when I look for a job at other universities and explain that "only
faculty can lead projects at HKS," I’m met with incredulity, as all major universities carry
similar rules that allow deans to grant permission for PI status. I know this is minutiae,
but this is how your version of my termination is received by academics.

As far as I knew over the last 3 years, I had been given permission to PI a project. The
most accurate explanation is that HKS and Shorenstein leadership decided to terminate
my employment and the TASC project at the Kennedy School.
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As well, on current sponsored grants, the co-PI is Latanya Sweeney, a faculty member at
FAS and HKS, who I collaborate with and has PI rights. These foundations will need an
explanation that I am being terminated. She has been faculty co-lead on the project for
over a year now.

2. As for violating the working from home policy, I didn’t realize it applied for work
travel. I worked over 40 hours a week and came in on the days I was in Massachusetts,
usually Mondays, Tuesdays, and Fridays, but didn’t always come to Shorenstein as I was
at conferences/exec ed/ and lectured on various parts of campus. My dedication to the
job has never been questioned. I took a week vacation too.

As it is implied, I did not intend to violate the policy because I was not working from
home.

Nevertheless, I am seeking advice from HR about how to proceed with WFH
accommodations due to a confidential issue that arose on December 12.
Based on this email, I am now concerned that I am being monitored in ways that I was
not aware of. How am I being tracked? Is the attendance of other staff also under such
close scrutiny?

3. On conference procedures and policies: Technically, the grant about the PII
conference is under Professor Sweeney’s name as well. Since arriving at HKS, I have
hosted six conferences and have not deviated from the processes we used in the past.
There is precedent for the PII conference design pre-pandemic. In 2019, I cohosted a
LARGE conference of over 200 people in collaboration with Berkman Klein. It was
attended by students, fellows, and faculty and led to 15 peer reviewed articles in two
special issues, including the International Journal of Communication and the
Misinformation Review. As well, our virtual "true costs of misinformation" conference
last March had 150 participants and we are producing a special issue for IJOC. Even
when I was employed at Data & Society in 2018, I collaborated with the Shorenstein
Center and Berkman to host a conference with 200 attendees on misinformation, led by
[NAME REDACTED] and [NAME REDACTED] as well as faculty at USC. Far from
raising my professional profile, conferences are opportunities for field-building and
knowledge production, a core component of scholarship and TASC’s research agenda.

4. On over-spending: In the past, I was only ever made aware of one over-spending error
related to the jackets, which [NAME REDACTED]- the [former] finance director- told
me was an acceptable bonus for my employees. When it was brought to my attention
that this was not true, I immediately offered to pay out of pocket for the expense to
remedy the issue. I was told by Laura Manley that I didn’t have to. Since then, neither I
or my staff have been made aware of any overspending problems. We are currently
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working with [SHORENSTEIN FINANCE MANAGER’S NAME REDACTED] on a
contract for the in-person newsleaders event and [SHORENSTEIN FINANCE
MANAGER] is leading the negotiations on the price. Please let me know if this is okay.
The major expenses for TASC have gone through the finance department channels,
where large contracts are paid by the center’s credit card. All travel is booked through
Egencia in accordance with university policies. Sometimes Egencia prices are higher than
other travel websites, but we go through them anyway. We continue to rely on the center
staff for help to navigate spending.

5. RAO’s concerns about grant narratives and staff allocations is something we have
been working hard on with [NAME REDACTED], the current finance director, ever
since it was discovered how poorly [REDACTED], the former finance director,
maintained records. I was only made aware of [redacted]’s egregious errors after
struggling for months to get her to provide insight to us. I believe you had the same
problem with her that led to her termination. This administrative paperwork is handled
by [NAME REDACTED], my program manager, who meets with [REDACTED]
weekly to keep this on track. If there are issues, please let me know as soon as possible
so that we can fix the errors. We will make any adjustments necessary.

The Dean suggested that there may be more restrictions to follow, but that he doesn’t
know what. This is very intimidating as it appears that I’m going to lose my job earlier
for unforeseen reasons. How to navigate that?

Lastly, and most distressing, by creating a system of new rules specifically for me, and
then apprising me of unacknowledged violations of new and standing rules, I’m very
fearful of being terminated before June 2024. With the increased intensity of scrutiny
described in your email, I am being singled out and closely monitored by HKS
leadership, and now you will micro-manage me and my team. The dean signaled heavily
that should I leave, everyone who works for me will lose the jobs and healthcare. I’ve
never been in such a depressing bind. I’m being real when I say, it was easier to get
divorced.

Nancy, whatever you’ve come to think of me, the TASC team does not deserve this. The
team consists of world renowned scholars, journalists, practitioners, and educators that
have done amazing work on some of the most toxic and violent subjects. They brave
harassment, death threats, see the most awful atrocities up close, in order to bring new
knowledge to those who need it. Their research and educational programs have
influenced governments, tech companies, journalism, public health, and advocacy. The
research is cited in multiple academic fields from sociology, anthropology, computer
science, psychology, cybersecurity and more. We stand alone in the field as a team who
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rejects the power and influence of technology corporations. I can’t tell you how rare and
magical this group is. They should be celebrated, not boxed in.

The TASC team’s reality is that we are facing isolating restrictions for the purpose of
preventing our research from becoming more publicly accessible. And for what? These
restrictions have profound impact on our careers and ability to meet grant requirements.
If we take at face value that "projects must be faculty led" then what is the real purpose
of all of these restrictions? That rationale for termination is incongruent with the
penalties, don’t you think? The most important value of a university is to generate
knowledge and use it to improve society. This is what I was hired to do and it’s what I’ve
been promoted and given raises for doing. I’m not fighting to stay. I’m advocating for my
team’s livelihood as we try to find a new place for our work.

Best,
Joan

171. Ms. Gibbs followed up via email – notably absent any references to the vague policy violation allegations

she had made earlier:

Hi Joan,

I know there’s a lot that you’re juggling, and especially your concern for your team and
how things work out for them. For now, I think the best course is for you to come up
with the wind down plan the Dean asked for; once we have that, we can figure out a
good communication plan—internal and external. Obviously nothing prevents you from
talking to people about your personal experience; it’s just that when people hear a
consistent message, there’s less risk of confusion or misunderstanding.

Also, let me know if you need any help from me or [NAME REDACTED] or anyone
else in drafting the plan. There may be issues around staffing and term appointments
that HR can help with too. If you have questions about grants and gift terms and
policies, we can help sort those out.

I’m sorry this is so hard on everyone; I really want this next process to go smoothly for
everyone.

Take care,
Nancy

172. Unbeknownst to me, at that same time, Dean Elmendorf was about to be exposed by Ken

Roth, the founder of Human Rights Watch. Mr. Roth alleged that donors influenced Dean
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Elmendof to rescind a fellowship that was offered to Mr. Roth by The Carr Center for Human

Rights at HKS. Mr. Roth's story was corroborated by the tenured HKS faculty member and

director of the Carr Center, Mathias Risse, who told The Chronicle of Higher Education in reference

Dean Elmendorf ’s claim that Mr. Roth exhibited an "anti-Israel bias," Mr. Risse was quoted,

"The point wasn’t so much that Doug Elmendorf thought that, but that ‘some people in the

university’ who mattered to him did."14 The story was national news and The Nation’s reporting

painted Dean Elmendorf in the same light that I saw him; someone eager to use his power to

please donors.15

173. Mr. Roth penned an op-ed published by The Boston Globe, which closed with this:16

As the wealthiest university in the world, it can certainly afford to take a principled stand
with donors.

To dispel any doubt about its commitment to academic freedom, Harvard should clarify
that it will not accept contributions from any donor who tries to use a gift to undermine
academic freedom, and it will prohibit administrators from penalizing academics in
response to expressed or feared donor objections. That would at least make something
positive of this sorry episode.

174. My work on the assigned "wind down plan" was made very difficult because I was having

trouble getting the Shorenstein Center’s Finance Manager to give me an audit of all TASC’s

current funding and a projected run rate for February 2023 - June 2024. Meanwhile on Jan 19,

2023, Dean Elmendorf sent a mass email explaining his reversal to allow Ken Roth to have a

fellowship at HKS after much media pressure. The very same day I received an inquiry from the

Harvard Crimson Newspaper asking for an off-the-record interview, the reporter wrote, "I am

reaching out (and cc'ing The Crimson's new HKS reporters) because we heard a tip about

tensions between you and Dean Elmendorf and that you might be departing HKS soon."

175. I immediately forwarded this email from The Crimson to Ms. Gibbs and to HKS HR because

I did not want to be in violation of the new restriction on not speaking unless it was coordinated

with the Shorenstein Center. I do not know who gave the blind item to The Crimson, but it

16https://www.bostonglobe.com/2023/01/17/opinion/harvard-needs-stand-with-its-principles-not-with-israel-or-its-do
nors/

15 https://www.thenation.com/article/society/israel-wexner-harvard-kennedy-school/

14https://www.chronicle.com/article/a-human-rights-leader-was-denied-a-harvard-post-over-alleged-anti-israel-bias-now
-a-dean-faces-calls-to-resign?sra=true&cid=gen_sign_in
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occurred to me that someone who knew about the situation was targeting Dean Elmendorf

during a vulnerable moment in his career.

176. On January 20, 2022, I received an oddly cordial email from Dean Elmendorf:

Hello Joan,

I know that you are working on the long-term plan for the wind-down of TASC. I’m
looking forward to having the chance to understand better your plans and goals, and
then to working together to find ways to support your goals. I just want to let you know
that I’ll be traveling next week and so won’t be able to respond immediately.

I also want to reiterate that we want to make this transition as smooth and productive for
you as possible. Once we have some more concrete ideas in hand, you and I and Nancy
and Laura can discuss different ways we might facilitate that.

Best,
Doug

177. I was hospitalized that entire week due to exhaustion, dehydration, and stress. It struck me

that Dean Elmendorf ‘s unusually cordial email to me was a pre-emptive effort on his part to

soften my reaction to his heartless and brutal treatment since the time of the Dean’s Council

meeting in 2021. I believe he sensed that The Crimson was going to write about shutting down the

TASC team. I responded to Dean Elmendorf:

Hi Doug,

A couple of things. First, I’m currently hospitalized at MGH and do not know how
many days I’ll be here. I’ve been very sick all week, but I’ve tried to power through it to
meet this deadline. However, my blood labs came back all out of skew and my doctor
thought it best to admit me.

Second, the finance folks at Shorenstein have been unable to get me any draft budgets to
work from and don't anticipate having them ready 'til Tuesday morning. I would like to
take some more time to weigh the different pathways before submitting them to you.

Of course, this is all pending if I'm discharged this weekend. When I get this sick, it can't
take a while to stabilize.

Would an extension to Jan 31 be okay?

91



Sincerely,
Joan

178. Dean Elmendorf responded, again in an uncharacteristically cordial way:

Oh, Joan, I am so sorry to hear this. Please take care of yourself first and foremost, and
let me know if I can do anything for you while you’re sick.

Of course we’ll just suspend the timetable until you’re out of the hospital and feeling
better. I certainly don’t want you to "power through" a medical issue. And I understand
that you need useful finance information as well.

Once you’re back on your feet *and* you have the information you need, then just let me
(and Nancy and Laura) know what timing seems reasonable to you.

As I wrote, I’ll be away for much of next week, but I’ll keep an eye on email over the
weekend, and you can reach me through [NAME REDACTED] next week if I can help
you in any way. I hope natural resilience and modern medicine will have you feeling
better soon.

With concern and best wishes,
Doug

179. I also informed Ms. Gibbs, Ms. Manley, and HKS HR about the hospitalization because they

were also waiting for the TASC exit plan.

180. On January 24, 2023, one day before I was supposed to submit the exit plan to senior

leadership, I finally received a skeleton budget from the Shorenstein Center Finance Manager:
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181. Although I doubted these numbers because I didn’t have clear insight into each budget and

expense, I used this budget to create an exit plan that carried most of my current employees

through June 2024. I submitted the plan to senior leadership on 1/31/2023 and asked for more

help with accounting.

182. I received a follow up email from Ms. Gibbs on 2/1/2023:

Hi Joan,
Thanks so much for the document you sent -- We look forward to looking at it in detail
to help us work together on the wind-down. I assume there will be some questions on
some of the items, so we’ll continue to discuss it to ensure a smooth transition for
everyone.
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I also wanted to let you know that, as you suspected, the Crimson does appear to be
doing a story on this topic and the reporter reached out. While the school commented
on the TASC project, it does not comment on any personnel matters.
Wishing you well,
Nancy

183. I quickly followed up with a reply:

Hi Nancy, Dean Elmendorf, Laura, and Sarah,

I have not spoken to the Crimson because the last set of restrictions said I must
coordinate a statement with Shorenstein. I misjudged that I would be extended the same
courtesy by the school.

Is it possible to let me know what the school has commented?

By giving them comment, something that could have just been a stub in the crimson is
now going to be a much bigger deal and might even get me or my team harmed. If it is
perceived by the far right that my employer does not support my research, I will be
targeted for harassment and maybe worse. It's unfair for the school to put me and my
team in such danger without discussing with us, particularly after insisting on my
cooperation.

As for making a comment about TASC in an article about me, I want to be clear that I
do have rights as an employee, including a right to privacy. I have never gone public
about my termination or about my job search, but your statement will force that into the
light. Further, suggesting that you're making a comment about TASC and not talking
about personnel, when you're obviously talking about my project and career, contradicts
the claim that HKS does not comment on employee matters.

Maybe it's just a technicality I don't understand because I'm not a lawyer, but it's targeted
and intimidating nonetheless.

I did not want to have it out in the press. This is really awful.

Best,
Joan

184. I knew that any negative news about me or the team would lead to serious death threats and

harassment – because this is a prior lived experience – and the consequence of my rigorous
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research methodology and commitment to public awareness. I sent this email to HR on the

evening of January 19, 2023:

Hi Pam,

Just wanted to flag this.

The Crimson reached out to me for comment about my departure from the Kennedy
school. I don't know who gave them the tip and I told them I am unable to comment.
(See email string below) I just wanted to flag this so that if they do publish, you are aware
that I have followed the dean's restrictions about me talking about my termination. The
dean said, "On communications with supporters of the Shorenstein Center and of
Harvard more broadly: It’s important that members of the Shorenstein advisory board
and other donors and grantors hear a consistent and accurate explanation of what’s
happening with you and your project. I expect that you will coordinate with Nancy and
Laura on an ongoing basis to be sure that is happening." Given all that is happening, I
don’t know how to proceed. The narrative that I was given is "that only faculty can lead
projects" and that he seeks to "reduce the profile" of my research. I was hired as a
project director and promoted to research director of the center because I do excellent
public scholarship. This is not something I want to debate in the press. The narrative I
would tell is different from the narrative of Shorenstein, precisely because of the way I
am being treated currently and how the Dean’s focus on limiting my public profile is
causing him to make up rules that only apply to me.

I am seeking a new place for my team because the dean told me that I don’t have
academic freedom and because he has ordered strict scrutiny of our budgets, forbid me
from fundraising, has made it difficult to hire anyone, and limited how we execute our
program deliverables. His made-up restrictions and Laura’s harassing behavior are
causing me extreme stress and hastening my exit. I do not believe they want me to stay
until June 2024 and any move I make will be considered in violation of some new rule
that only applies to me. In the August meeting with just me and the Dean, he told me he
would not approve any thing that involved making my research "more prominent." I
read this as reducing public access to my research, which is something that I am very
concerned about. Most of my grants and funding are a result of my "public impact" on
issues related to technology, journalism, and democracy.

I specialize in online communications, which has become an important topic in the
media. I have built my career on my independence and I have never taken money or data
from these corporations for research. I am very unique in my independence which is
why journalists routinely come to me. The dean’s focus on reducing my profile seems
calculated and extends beyond any routine level of professional scrutiny from someone
at such a high level of a university. The dean insisting that I don’t have academic freedom
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and doing what he can to prevent my team’s work from being publicly accessible isn’t
normal.

It’s one thing if I am no longer allowed to run a project, which he is within his right to
say, but it’s another thing to say "only faculty can run projects," which does not seem to
be written anywhere.

I believe he can accomplish this goal of terminating me without threat of limiting my
public stature. However, this is the route he has chosen. My reaction would be different
if we were allowed to run our program like normal and meet the expectations of our
supporters in our exit.

This is causing additional anxiety, fear of increased scrutiny and retaliation. I did alert
Nancy and Laura about this should they be at liberty to make comments to the Crimson.
Anyhow, the cat’s out of the bag and I don’t want to lose my job. I’m doing everything I
can here to try to salvage this sinking ship, but if the crimson prints a story about this, it’s
out of my hands.

Best, Joan

185. I sent an email to colleagues on the evening of February 2, 2023, to warn of The Harvard

Crimson article:

Hi all,

On Thursday, Harvard University's newspaper "The Crimson" is going to break the
news that the TASC project at the Kennedy school is being terminated in June 2024.
Dean Elmendorf recently stipulated that "only full faculty members can run long-term
projects at HKS."

While I was hired as the TASC project director in 2018 and was promoted to research
director of Shorenstein in 2020, this rationale comes as a big surprise. If I had known
that we would be dismantled before the 2024 election, I would have built our project
elsewhere.

Despite this set back, the TASC team remains committed to improving the research field
with our remaining time at HKS. In the meantime, we will be looking to find a place
where our academic freedom will be protected by university leadership.

I believe the greatest demand of any scholar is to share the light with the world. We will
not let this latest obstruction dim our shine.

Happy to field calls [redacted] on this or reach out for a meeting.
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All my best,
Joan & The TASC crew

186. Nevertheless, I filed a third complaint 02/02/2023 to HR about violating my right to privacy

as an employee by commenting to the press, no response on asking to have the balance of the

[Donor E] funding returned, failing to address the exit plan or provide proper contracts to my

employees. I messaged Ms. Cozza:

Hi Pam,

I bcc'd you on some more correspondence from Nancy about the crimson article. I don't
know who is leaking to them but I was shocked to see that the school had made a
statement. I don't think this is fair that I would be told I must coordinate a statement
with Shorenstein and then have the school make a statement about my project, while
pretending it was not a comment about my employment status.

What are my rights here? I've been doing everything I can to keep to these restrictions,
but I am aghast that the school is not required to follow them.

I believe this is another form of retaliation and an attempt to get me to resign. Moreover,
for my personal safety I need to know when the school is going to be making public
statements about me or my research.

I have put my social media on lock and depending on the harassment may have to alert
local police in case of swatting.

187. Ms. Cozza Replied that day:

Hi Joan,

Thank you for making me aware, I saw the Crimson article this morning. Regarding your
personal safety, I have alerted [HARVARD DIRECTOR OF SECURITY
OPERATIONS NAME REDACTED] at HKS of your concerns as noted below. If you
see or experience are any suspicious behaviors or activities, you should reach out to
[HARVARD DIRECTOR OF SECURITY OPERATIONS] directly at [PHONE
NUMBER REDACTED]. And if there is anything imminent regarding your physical
safety, you should contact HUPD at [PHONE NUMBER REDACTED] if on campus,
or your local police if working remotely. In the meantime, if you would like to meet with
me again, please let me know.
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Thank you, -Pam

188. I responded the same day:

Hi Pam,

I would like a meeting because I don’t understand what my rights are as an employee.

I did not make a comment or talk on background to the Crimson, but the school gave a
statement about me.

On Jan 5, I was told that I must coordinate with Shorenstein and then Nancy sent an
email to the whole center without coordinating with me.

Further, the story about this policy abdicates responsibility for terminating my project.
The statement itself does not recognize that the Dean has made this decision, along with
Nancy and Laura. That’s the truth.

The way it is worded now implies I’m not an academic or intellectual lead, a job I was
originally hired to do.

Lastly, there is no mention of Doug’s other stated goal which is to reduce the profile of
my projects.

How is it fair to me as an employee to leave these pieces out?

Most suspiciously, the article does not say that the Shorenstein Center, Nancy, or
Laura declined to comment.

At what point is HR going to help stop this harassment?

Sincerely,
Joan

189. I reported some death threats to HKS security and HR, but nothing was done. Here is an

example of an email which was sent to several hundred people with my email address:

MAKE AN IMPASSIONED FAT GIRL, STUPID FAT SLOB PLEA FOR MERCY
ON GOOD MORNING AMERICA AND AFTER THE STUDIO AUDIENCE
BOOS YOU AND GIVES YOU MULTIPLE THUMBS DOWN, THE MIDDLE
FINGERS, AND THROWS UNOPENED PACKAGES OF SARA LEE POUND
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CAKE ON THE PODIUM/STAGE...COMMIT SUICIDE RIGHT THERE ON
LIVE TELENISION!!!!!!

Another email read:

all this disinformation comes from the stupid liberals.... you fucks are the kings and
queens of lying and spewing your hate for anything you don't like..... go to a socialist shit
hole country.... O wait they have not enough food to feed your fat ass. CNN, MSNBC,
ABC,CBS, NPR, and all the other dumo rat outlets repeat lie after lie.... and you assholes
are proven wrong every fucking time.... I hope all you a holes at Harvard are visited by a
mass liberal shooter and like all you POS up... you scumbags earned it. Keep liying you
fat fucking troll

And another:

shoot yourself in the face, it would feed an entire country for decades

I received hundreds of messages on social media that were gloating, insulting, harassing, and

threatening.

190. I sent an email on 02/03/23 to Ms. Gibbs reminding her that I have a right to privacy:

Nancy,

I am cc'ing Pam from HR because I believe my rights as an employee are being violated.
You’ve effectively silenced me by restricting me to statements that must be coordinated
with Shorenstein. Now you're holding a center-wide meeting about me and my research
team that I wasn’t even asked to be part of. I have a meeting with students at that same
time.

Why do I have to abide by this restriction to my speech if you are doing nothing to
include me?

Someone also leaked your email to Shorenstein today to [REPORTER’S NAME
REDACTED] before I even saw it. Then somehow the crimson and Wapo had it. It was
a de facto press release from you and its backfiring.

If you were concerned with accuracy, then you would also tell the part where Doug said I
don't have academic freedom and then restricted our ability to have public facing outputs
because he wanted to lower the profile of my projects.

This isn't simply about a policy implementation issue and you're exacerbating tensions by
claiming as such.
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Everyone knows from here to Belfer that our research has been obstructed for months
by the Dean.

The more you say on this issue, the more questions are raised and the more the press
believes there is a cover up. I want you to stop presenting this half-truth.

I wish you would protect my right to privacy.

Sincerely,
Joan

191. Nancy responded the same day, where she admits that she does not know the policy on

employee privacy. I do not know if she followed up with HR.

Hi Joan,

I defer to Pam [MS. COZZA] regarding your rights as an employee, which she
understands better than I.

My understanding is that everyone is trying hard to protect your personal privacy.
Perhaps not surprisingly, there is a great deal of misunderstanding around all the
circumstances, starting with the Crimson headline that the Dean has pushed you out;
what he communicated was a timeline for the wind down of a project, according to HKS
policy and long-time practice.

My belief is that the most productive approach we can take is to continue to review and
discuss your plan for winddown, to figure out the best ways to keep the good work of
Tasc moving along in line with the requirements and expectations of the grants and gifts
as the wind down happens, and work together to do all that smoothly in everyone’s
interest.

Best,
Nancy

192. I had a one-on-one meeting with Ms. Cozza, where she told me that HKS is making

statements about the "wind down of TASC," but not about me personally. I told her there was

no difference between the two and that they were using my name in these statements. By this

time I understood what I was up against at Harvard and felt I needed to prove my innocence

here. On 02/04/2023, Ms. Cozza sent her this email to prove that I was not to blame here, but I

do not know if she investigated this:
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Pam,

I was not included on the email from Nancy to the board today, but it was promptly
leaked to the crimson and the boston globe, who just contacted me about it.

Yesterdays' email from Nancy was also leaked to media. The ceo of the [REDACTED] is
a good friend of Nancy and board member of Shorenstein, [SHORENSTEIN
ADVISORY BOARD MEMBER 2’S NAME REDACTED]

This time with the board email, however, neither me or my team were included on that
email. I am mentioned by name in the email. Again, Shorenstein is not following their
own restrictions they placed on me.

If there is any doubt left that I am the one leaking this information, please investigate
who received this email and to narrow down who is most likely using the press to drive
this media cycle.

This latest leak is evidence that I had nothing to do with this, but squarely shows that
someone from leadership is making this controversy.

I don’t think it’s fair and I do believe it’s retaliatory.

I raise this with you because I need help here. I am being targeted by my supervisors
who don't want the blame for dismantling my program.

All of the claims about wanting a smooth transition are just hand waving at this point. I
need an HR advocate. I need the intimidation to stop.

Best,
Joan

193. I also messaged Ms. Gibbs:

Nancy,

If you’re committed to a smooth transition, then why not include me on the email to the
board today? It was promptly leaked to the crimson and the Boston globe which asked
me for comment.

Strange coincidence, don't you think? [REDACTED].
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The meeting you held today gaslit the whole center, including several people off my team
who are now making it their business to dig into these issues. I don't want people
distracted by this bogus policy.

Just say what is happening: the Dean is deciding to shut down the program.

Doesn't matter the timescale because he is also obstructing our research and the public's
access to our work.

When you tell half-truths, the staff come back with major questions about the integrity
of you and the center as a whole.

The claim that there is no faculty PI on the team erases the contribution of Latanya for
the last year+. Remember that I recruited her to the center? She shouldn't be paraded
around in the press as someone doing misinformation research. It's a fundamental
misunderstanding of what we research and what it takes to do this work. Further, she
would disagree with this characterization of her work.

I believed you would advocate for us to get our work done and do it in a way that
benefits the public interest.

I understand you want me out of the center and I see these leaks as an attempt to get me
to resign. It's completely unfair to require that I coordinate an "accurate and consistent"
statement with you as your private emails keep appearing in the inboxes of the press.

-joan

194. On 02/06/2023, HR contacted me to approve the extension of the TASC team through

06/30/2023, while we await the decision of HKS leadership on the TASC exit plan. I responded

by saying,

Thanks Jen.

Any idea when I will know if my team is extended appropriately based on the
agreements made with me? I have been talking to Pam, but I don’t feel like I am properly
understanding my rights as an employee.

For example, there is a lot of new details in this new report from [REPORTER NAME
REDACTED]:
https://www.semafor.com/article/02/05/2023/inside-harvards-misinformation-meltdo
wn
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As well this new report contradicts what Nancy told everyone on Friday that she had
only been informed of the Dean’s decision. Here it says she agreed with him. If that’s the
case, I need to know when this agreement was made as I was being encouraged to seek a
grant for Shorenstein, to the tune of $20million, about 2 weeks before the Dean told me
of my termination.

I was also told that the press office sent Nancy’s board email about me to the crimson
and boston globe. I never saw that email, but I do feel like I’m being targeted to pressure
resignation. I’ve felt this way since Laura told my employee I was a "liar."

As well, the details in this new piece about the misinfo review retraction were surprising
so I felt I had to speak out because of all the harassment I am getting for [NAME
REDACTED]’s project. There was an attempt last October to coerce me to take the
blame publicly for the retraction via a letter. I informed Nancy, Laura, and Sarah Wald
about it. Very few people knew about this but it seems like this reporter was tipped off
about it.

I feel like someone from leadership is leaking to the press and it’s leading to harassment
and death threats. I need some help here.

As well, I believe my team’s contracts are being used to keep me from speaking up in this
difficult time. I was told by the dean in email and verbally that any statement I make has
to be "accurate, consistent and coordinated" with Shorenstein and it’s not fair that they
aren’t even including me on emails about me.

Best,
Joan

195. After missing a morning meeting with Ms. Cozza on 02/07/2023, I sent her this update:

Sorry Pam, I ended up back in the hospital last night and i am just getting released now.
My apologies.

I am grateful and appreciative of your time. Will have to reschedule for Thursday
morning, if you have time then? I could do 10-12pm tomorrow over the phone but I am
seeing doctors in the afternoon.

I am really concerned that Nancy’s emails keep appearing in the press. A journalist told
me this weekend that the HKS press office sent them the email that Nancy sent to the
board. Is it the case that the press office is releasing emails?
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If so, how am I supposed to respond to this as an employee, how do I make a
complaint?

It’s driving a media cycle where I still don’t feel like I can speak up for myself or my
team. I was surprised yesterday that the team were only renewed through June 2024,
when we have been waiting since November for an answer to the question of renewals.

196. Ms. Cozza was careful not to answer any of my questions via email. HKS HR did reach out

to extend the contracts of the remaining TASC team until June 30, 2023. On 02/09/2023, I sent

another email requesting a follow up meeting to address this and other mounting issues:

I am concerned that the crimson published another article today with new quotes from
the HKS press office about the time to exit.

None of these articles include information about the harassment by Laura of me through
my postdoc or the restrictions put on me by the school, including the decision to reduce
public access to our research.

I have one researcher, [NAME REDACTED], whose entire year of work products have
been shuttered by the dean, including the podcast and conference.

As well, I am very concerned that the one-sided story told by the university is creating a
situation where my team is increasingly feeling like pawns in the university’s hands.

It’s one thing to say publicly we have til June 2024, it’s another thing to not take action
on contract renewals for months and then respond with less than year appointments this
week.

These actions by the university continue to gaslight the TASC team and as a result they
are now spending a good deal of time looking for new jobs. The reason being that the
hostile working conditions are undesirable for everyone.

I am concerned for [NAME REDACTED] who is struggling with cancer and needs
consistent access to healthcare right now. The stress of the job renewal has become a
constant concern.

This week I was informed by my data scientist that he is taking another job because he
sees the writing on the wall.

Again, I don’t believe the university is telling a fair story to the press and it’s affecting my
employees. Again, I believe the whole story would die down if the university stopped
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giving quotes to journalists and instead help us focus on ensuring continuity of work so
that we can leave Harvard proud of ourselves.

No one from Shorenstein has reached out to coordinate any story with me, and I know
they can’t really stop me from talking to the press to defend my team, but I just don’t
know if there’s a penalty that I do not know about.

I continue to believe the school is pressuring a resignation from me and using the press
to do it.

Best,
Joan

197. On March 2, 2023, Ms. Gibbs returned feedback on TASC’s exit plan to me and the entire

leadership of HKS. She wrote,

Dear Joan,

Thank you very much for sharing your proposal for winding up the TASC project by
June 2024. I have conferred with Doug, [NAME REDACTED], Sarah, Pam and
[NAME REDACTED] to understand better the details and provide this response. At a
high level, the plan seems like a very good start, though the HKS leadership and I do
need additional clarity in a few areas. Once finalized, this plan will provide the
foundation for your team to be able to keep producing the work to which TASC is
committed, and make sure we all have a shared understanding of the path ahead.

The next step is to clarify the following:

1. Sponsored Funding: With TASC’s current staffing and run rate, all sponsored will
likely be spent down by Dec 31, 2023, except for one [Donor H] grant.

a. The [Donor H] grant currently supports two staff people ([2 NAMES REDACTED]
at 40%) and ends September 2024. We can request a re-budget from [Donor H] and
move more staff onto that grant as other grants run out.

b. Do you still intend to finalize the [Donor C] grant supplement project for $150K, in
which case the specific scope of work and budget needs to be submitted to RAO/ADO
for internal review and approval prior to OSP accepting the funds.

c. We assume this plan provides for all the terms of the current grants to be met, and the
RAO team will continue to work with you and the Shorenstein Center staff, as they do
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on all sponsored funding, to support the documentation, reporting and other
administrative aspects.

2. The Team: Based on the information and plans you’ve provided, , we can extend all of
your team that you have requested until at least September 30, 2023. (this includes all of
your six staff, two fellows, and up to eight non student LHTs. And one fellow to be
extended only until 8/30/23 per your plan.) Ideally, it would be best to extend them
once, to what we believe will be their actual term date. In order to extend individual staff
or other team members beyond 9/30/23, everyone will need to understand how they
will be funded and what they will be working on, as outlined in item #3.

3. Gift funding: As almost all of the grants will be completed by December 2023 (with
most completed by September), HKS leadership and I will need to know what research
you plan to continue through June 2024, with what staff and how that work will be
funded (presumably through the [Donor E] gift, since all grants will have ended). We
would like that plan no later than 7/1/23, but the sooner everyone can review it, the
sooner we will be able to confirm further extensions for any team members needed to
do the work beyond what is noted in #2 above.

a. Additional activities: At the moment TASC activities that are not specifically budgeted
under a grant are being funded by the [Donor E] gift. This includes some travel, events,
conferences, staff retreats, etc. As part of the plan requested above for the use of the
[Donor E] gift, school leadership will need an outline of those activities between now
and June 2024. We recognize that it is hard to fully plan for this now, but placeholders
that we can all use as guideposts would be helpful ( e.g. 3 staff attend 3 conferences with
intended purpose at rough cost of $1500 per person conference; 1 staff retreat per
quarter at $2500 per retreat). You provided some helpful information about events and
conferences in your 1/31 proposal; can you clarify which of those activities are funded
by gift or grant and which are hosted by TASC (vs. attended by TASC)? Any gathering
that TASC plans to hold at HKS/Harvard that is not already encompassed by your
grants should be specifically described.

4. Expense guidelines: as a reminder, as with any program and activity at HKS, TASC
program expenses and spending should be consistent with University guidance, including
what is deemed as "usual and customary" for a non-profit institution with a fiduciary
responsibility to its funders. [SHORENSTEIN FINANCE DIRECTOR], the
Shorenstein Center’s Director of Finance and Administration, in consultation with the
Office of Financial Services, is accountable for overseeing the proper approval of
expenditures. You can reach out to [SHORENSTEIN FINANCE DIRECTOR] with
any questions regarding spending guidance or approval processes.
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5. Intellectual Property: Once we have a greater clarity and as part of the
wind-down process, we will also need to sort out the IP issues. As we have
discussed, all the IP produced by TASC is owned by Harvard under the university
policies, in part so that the University can meet its licensing obligations specified
in various grant agreements.

Lastly, if at any time between now and June 2024, you have an opportunity to move the
TASC program to another institution, please let us know as soon as possible, and we will
do all we can to facilitate a smooth transition, including discussing the issues stemming
from Harvard’s ownership of TASC IP, so that the work may continue with minimal
disruption.

Once you have had a chance to review this, we would like to coordinate with you on
making the appropriate term extensions for your team.

Best,
Nancy

198. I responded with the same questions I asked HR:

Hello all,

I have received this email and have some outstanding questions with my own contract
and other issues. Adding Pam here who wrote me yesterday.

1. My contract with Harvard goes through Dec 31, 2024. Am I getting severance for
being asked to leave in June 2024?

2. Will you return gift funds to [Donor E] because I am not allowed to use the funds for
intended outputs, like conferences and a podcast?

3. Can I see a full accounting of our budgets and spend down according to your plan? I
am not sure we will be spending all the funding down accordingly as the exit strategy I
submitted showed a large overage if we do not make some additional hires.

4. What IP do you have in mind that is retained by Harvard? I saw in your press releases
a claim that the tech lab will keep the fb archive, but that was never discussed with me
and Latanya. I am a partner on that project despite how it was framed in the media. I
don't think it's fair that you told the media the project will continue without interruption
as my team plays a large role in the workshops once the tech platform is finished. News
leaders funding ends in Dec 31, 2023. I will inform [Donor F] of the departure.
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5. Most importantly, my team is being held in a very precarious position with these small
incremental contract extensions. If there is money in the budget to give them proper
contracts, why do it this way?

It seems to me that the point is to hasten their departure more quickly. It is creating a
hostile work environment for you to say in the press their is funding til June 2024 and
then provide contracts in 3-4 month increments for the TASC team. These are human
beings with families and medical issues that need assurances from their employer.

-joan

199. To this day, I have not been given a comprehensive and detailed accounting of TASC’s

expenditures from The Shorenstein Center, despite repeated asks over the years.

200. Discussions with HKS leadership continued via email for the remainder of my time at the

University. I believed that the school would be more accountable if we kept most of the

interactions written, but I was wrong on that front. I wrote another follow up email on

03/03/2023 to Ms. Gibbs, Dean Elmendorf, Ms. Wald, [NAME REDACTED], and Ms. Cozza

(HKS HR) and [NAME REDACTED] (The HKS Executive Dean):

I have a question about this too: "Do you still intend to finalize the [Donor C] grant
supplement project for $150K, in which case the specific scope of work and budget
needs to be submitted to RAO/ADO for internal review and approval prior to OSP
accepting the funds." I just talked to [Donor C] who said this grant is already in
Harvard’s account. I believe [SHORENSTEIN FINANCE DIRECTOR] also said this
had been finalized. This grant ends in June 2023. I have 2 students working on this
research already and it should be reflected in the ledger. I am worried that these
modifications to the exit plan are going to leave me with a major overage.

201. [ASSOCIATE DEAN’S NAME REDACTED] responded the same day:

Thanks Joan.

I can take this one. It is true that the amendment (the paperwork) from [Donor C] to
fund a $150K supplement to the existing award is in OSP’s hands. The funds have not
yet been sent over. Before the funds can flow, OSP must co-sign the amendment and
return it to the foundation. We are close to being able to do so.

I checked and apparently there is some minor work still to be done to complete the
required internal statement of work, budget and budget justification for the supplement.
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I understand that [REDACTED NAME OF SHORENSTEIN FINANCE
MANAGER], working with [REDACTED NAME OF HKS GRANTS MANAGER]
can quickly complete what we need for ADO review and approval in GMAS, which
would then signal to OSP to sign and return the amendment to [Donor C] and [Donor
B] presumably would then fund the supplement for the project period thru 6/30/23.

Let me know if any other questions on this score.

202. I suspected that HKS was slowing down my grants and now I had proof that they were

obstructing funding. I was told by the Finance Manager that the grant was good to go and had

been processed back in January. To the contrary, I was told on 03/06/2023 by Shorenstein’s

finance manager that it was indeed not finished.

203. I was nervous that I would not have the staff to complete the projects under contract. On

03/14/2023, Ms. Gibbs responded to the group of me, Ms. Manley, Ms. Wald, [ASSOCIATE

DEAN’S NAME REDACTED], and Ms. Cozza (HKS HR) and [NAME REDACTED] (The

HKS Executive Dean):

Hi Joan,

Hope all your SXSW events went really well and you enjoyed 90 degree Austin—that was
a very nice break from Boston.

I wanted to touch base about references you’ve made in emails about contacting [Donor
F] about the future of News Leaders. I completely understand your point about the
program needing to have the staff in order to operate.

But we want to be sure there is no misunderstanding here or at [Donor F], so it’s
important that you not tell [Donor F] that we will not be able to fulfill the terms of the
grant or that the program is ending.

As with all sponsored research, consistent across academia, the grant is formally awarded
to the President and Fellows of Harvard College (the University), not to any specific
individual.

The University has every intention of fulfilling the terms of the contract and will discuss
with [Donor F] in the event there are changes in personnel or approach.

Best wishes,
Nancy
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204. I replied to Ms. Gibbs and the group:

Hi Nancy,
Can someone please follow up on the last questions I asked?

This is not the approach you’ve taken with the [Donor B] public interest internet grant
that is currently failing to meet the conference objective listed in the narrative. So, I don’t
understand the difference?

I am the one losing staff and still must deliver the programming. If the TASC team is on
short term contracts, I must be clear with all funders of these risks, especially after the
statements made by you to the media that TASC has funding to run until June 2024.

I am on contract until Dec 31, 2024 and the 90% of the team expires in June. That
confused a lot of people internally and externally. [Donor F] reached out to me after
reading that and I informed them that I would contact you about the plan for staffing,
which I did.

As for [Donor F], I am the PI on the news leaders grant. For 2.5 years, I negotiated the
terms, delivered, and oversaw all the curriculum. It is specifically a program to educate
news leaders about TASC research on media manipulation and the internet. That is what
is in the grant narrative. Without my team, I can’t deliver it.

It may look easy, but we have kept up with biweekly team meetings, 1:1 sessions with
news executives, and completed over a dozen 4 hour long newsroom trainings with 5
more lined up. This isn't a blanket grant for an exec ed grant.

I remember on August 24th, less than an hour after Dean Elmendorf told me that he
intended to end the TASC team, you asked me if I would consider leaving news leaders
behind. If there is some intent to retain this IP by you or Shorenstein, you should be
clear about that now.

Matt, after having a conversations with [Donor C] and [Donor H], they both have
decided to stop payment on their grants, so there is no need for OSP to sign the contract
with [Donor C] . Forgive me for believing it was filed already. [Donor C] was not aware
it was still open either. Glad to have that sorted out now.

Best,
Joan

205. Nancy then sent a longer email on 03/16/2023 to the group:
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Joan,

Thanks for this, as it helps us be more clear; this guidance about communicating with
funders applies to ALL grants. I mentioned [Donor F] because you had referred to
telling them about a program ending; but the guidance applies to any and all grants.

Independent of our internal HKS discussions about staffing or winddown plans, you
should not be telling funders that Harvard will be unable to fulfill a grant or that they
should suspend payments.

If there needs to be any rebudgeting, revision of terms or changes in personnel or
timing, that needs to be handled formally and in coordination with RAO.

On News Leaders specifically, I’ve been told that we can extend [TWO NAMES
REDACTED] through December 31, 2023 as that is the timetable for the [Donor F]
grant and it is clear what they will be doing. In the case of other staff, as requested in my
note of 3/2, the school is waiting to hear from you more specifically about what research
they will be doing after the current grants conclude, the timeframe needed for
completing the work, and with what funding.

As for "leaving News Leaders behind" or Harvard "retaining" IP: this is not an
issue, because Harvard already owns all the IP, as previously communicated.
Convening news leaders has always been part of the center’s activities and likely
always will be; what form that takes in future years and what topics might be
addressed will be a decision for future faculty to make.

The only thing that "ends" on Dec. 31, 2023 is this specific [Donor F]grant for the
specific workshops you proposed and are leading.

[NAME REDACTED] has been or will soon be in touch separately about addressing
any communication with [Donor H], [Donor C] or any other funder, which, again,
needs to be done formally, in writing and in coordination with RAO.

Best,
Nancy

206. This response from Ms. Gibbs brought me to tears. Finally, it was out in the open that they

intended to get rid of me, but keep my lucrative programs. It’s at this point, I realized I was

living through the parable of the golden goose, where I was treated well when I was raising

funds, but later being actively gutted by those I had come to trust. At this point, I realized I

needed to get some advice on IP, so I reached out to colleagues at Harvard Law School and
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friends who understood more about the issue. They suggested that I get HKS to name what it

was they intended to keep or take action on if I were to continue elsewhere.

207. On 03/17/2023, I politely replied to Ms. Gibbs email:

Hi Nancy,

In order to answer your questions about who is on which project and for how long and
with what funding, I need you to answer the questions I responded with.

What you're asking me to do is shut down specific projects and lose staff ahead of June
2024, correct?

Most of the team works primarily on casebook with the exception of [NAMES
REDACTED] who are on specific research about infrastructure hacking and platform
accountability.

I am following all policies about grants and communication with funders set forth in the
employee guidelines. I do not talk about anything other than my own engagement and
my capacity to plan and deliver on grants. I make no statements about Harvard's
intentions or ability to deliver on grants.

If you believe I am in violation of a policy, please clearly state which one and link me to
it. I am duty bound to tell the truth to foundations when asked questions about my own
ability to deliver on research and educational programs.

It is their decision whether they take action or not. I can tell you that funders do speak to
one another frequently and they have formed their own opinions and ideas about
Shorenstein. The fact of the matter is funders were spooked by the statements HKS
made to the media about the TASC ending.

For many, this was the first they heard about tumultuous relations. Neither you, RAO, or
HKS press office let donors, funders, or the board know about your intended press
statements (and despite telling me that you would not make a statement to the media),
you and HKS freely spoke to reporters, who then called funders to verify your
statements. That put lots of risk in the hands of the program officers at foundations,
who were contacted repeatedly by [REPORTER NAMED]/Semafor and the Washington
Post, the Crimson, as well as a number of right wing publications.

Funders also witnessed the hate, harassment, and death threats levied against me and saw
you and HKS do nothing to stem the onslaught. I kept track of the harassment for the
first week, see here: [GOOGLE DRIVE LINK REDACTED]
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Just as an FYI, Newsleaders requires significantly more staffing than what you're
allowing for. To be competitive, I need much more than [NAMES REDACTED] to
fulfill the proposal. [NAME REDACTED] has been on the project from the beginning,
but has been getting most of his salary from [Donor H]. When we had to lose [NAME
REDACTED] (full employment on the [Donor F] grant), I brought in [NAME
REDACTED] to fill the content gaps. [NAME REDACTED] also spends significant
time providing support to cohort members. Neither you or the school asked about
staffing it before deciding who you would retain and who you wouldn’t. I have asked
[NAME REDACTED] to reallocate funds on this grant to more accurately reflect the
current staffing and ensure it's spent down in accordance with the grant end date on
10/14/2023.

I will speak with [Donor F] about how to draw my portion of the work to a close
properly. I have no interest in under-delivering a project that I conceptualized, staffed,
managed, and delivered. I know you and Harvard will take whatever you think you own
by rite of employment contracts. I have asked other questions about "the IP" and I have
yet to hear back about what that means in practice.

Are you willing to return funding to [Donor E] since I am not allowed to meet the
intentions set forth in the gift terms?

Best,
Joan

208. On 03/18/2023, I decided to send one more plea to get some answers.

Hi all,

I'm trying to get answers about what it is that Harvard intends to take any action
on if I or others on the team were to continue research and education programs
in another place. The vagueness about IP ownership seems rather ominous
without describing what is the IP and for whom does this apply?

As well, is there an employee policy about funder discussions related to transparency that
I should read? I have asked a few different times about resolving any outstanding IP
problems. I don't know what to do here since Nancy's answer was not helpful.

In fact, I found it chilling.

This "wind down" process continues to be unnecessarily secretive, cruel, and vindictive.
What I learned from [NAME REDACTED] is that it’s critical to stand up for oneself
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when people in power will try to put you down, minimize your contribution, and silence
you. What was communicated to me is that there needs to be a discussion about IP. I’m
trying to figure out what that entails.

What I find grossly anti-academic is that I would be left here to be fearful of a lawsuit
regarding my own research and educational programs. The TASC team strives to publish
publicly so that everyone can access our research, articles, videos, etc. If the school
intends to continue programs I named, designed, implemented, and delivered, than say
so.

Just to be clear, what I hear is Nancy saying is Harvard owns 'all the IP' and that future
faculty will decide the content of programs I started, like news leaders, but what else?

Like every cog, I am replaceable, but I have enough confidence to know that what I
contribute as a scholar is of unique value, both financially and intellectually. In academia,
we have a word for taking someone’s work and calling it your own. Maybe I’m too old
school, but I believe It’s important to stand on the merits of these ideals, where academic
exchange is about citing the contributions of those who came before us and respecting
the integrity of their work. Any news leaders program produced by Shorenstein without
TASC is just plagiarism as far as I’m concerned.

As a social science scholars, we make our careers on non-commercial endeavors, like
creating concepts and methods for the public interest. I don't own any texts, software,
technology, patents, data, or inventions that would qualify any significant trademark,
copyright, or commercial value.

So, what IP is Harvard interested in retaining? Everything I have published
(aside from the book which we settled), is either Creative Commons, open access,
or in academic journals. Who else on the TASC team does this apply to and for
what kinds of IP?

For example, we have a medium page that archived our series of "Big, If True"
discussions and a YouTube channel too. Who wants that?

For transparency’s sake, has Shorenstein received any donations for the current
news leaders program? If no funding has been raised for news leaders, then why
am I being forbidden from discussing with [Donor F] the grant that I am the PI
on? If funding has been raised for News Leaders, why was the team delivering
the project not made aware?
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Sarah, for my own knowledge because I am confused, what about News Leaders
is IP? Since it's an educational program, is it the name "News leaders?" It is also the
name of a non-profit and was suggested by [Donor F], The proposal? The lecture slides?
Course readings? The list of cohort members? The course material? The website? The
notes? All of it? The actual end date of the grant is 12/15/2023, the narrative proposal
says 10/14/2023, please forgive the wrong date in the previous email.

Nothing about this is trademarked or copyright. Underneath this IP discussion is the
possibility of a lawsuit if I make a mistake here. It’s an insidious tactic to try to make our
team fearful of legal trouble.

We are all losing our jobs, but also being told our work will be carried on by
replacements. That’s just cruel.

Legal discussions are very intimidating. I'm trying to be as non-litigious as possible, but
I'm not getting any answers for questions I asked weeks ago. I am being isolated from
critical decision-making about my staff and programs. I'm asking for guidance so that I
avoid HR violations.

As I have told Pam, I am very worried about being fired and am adhering to restrictions
even as the school does not protect my privacy or that of my team in the press.

As an employee, I should not have to struggle this hard for clarity or have to ask law
school colleagues for advice on what has TASC produced that is considered Harvard IP.
We have covered an immense amount of ground as a research team and are considered
field-leading experts. Much of our work is already in the public domain.

Does Harvard mean to imply that we can not continue our research and
education outside of Harvard? This is what Nancy’s statement suggests.

Ethically, this IP posturing is anti-intellectual and, in my opinion, is another attempt to
get me or team members to resign. To reiterate, there is no way to deliver news leaders
with only me, [2 NAMES REDACTED] on staff. Any future iterations of the programs
are not my concern or problem, other than the next version potentially tarnishing our
outstanding reputation for excellence.

I did speak to Latanya and she told me that she retains all of the IP for Facebook
archive. This is good news as FB Archive and platform accountability will be a focus of
fall research papers and workshops. What kinds of IP should I be concerned about here?
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As for casebook, it's creative commons licensing that allows non-commercial remix and
reproduction with attribution of all content, images, and design. The casebook layout is
inspired by the Council on Foreign Relations’ cybersecurity incident tracker.
Is Harvard planning to keep Casebook? Or is there a statement that can be put on
the page about the project history beginning at Harvard, like Latanya does with her
work? Please advise.

If Harvard does plan on keeping Casebook, all of the contracts related to infrastructure
are already in the possession of Shorenstein staff. It’s a complicated web design, so we
will need to train someone on the backend.

The last thing I’ll say about IP and academia is that there seems to be two ways to have
IP. On the one hand, you can be the person with the skills, knowledge, and creativity to
design and deliver research and educational projects consistently that advance science
and raise public awareness on key problems facing society. On the other hand, there’s
enclosure through one-sided contracts and institutional seizure.

I worked here for years without anyone ever uttering the phrase IP to me or anyone on
my team, but now what I see is an institution in crisis and searching for relevance by
taking other people’s work/resources and calling it their achievement.

The proper role of a university is to share the light with the world.

As I leave Harvard, I am humbled by witnessing the betrayal of this crucial principle.
What makes TASC’s work so exciting and pathbreaking is the dynamic intellect we bring
to the center’s activities as a group. Building that galvanizing culture of
INDEPENDENT inquiry is what I’m most proud to have contributed during my time
at Harvard. That can’t be captured in IP.

On communication with funders:

I approached Nancy first about the difficulty delivering the News leaders program
without having staff on contract. To be clear, I have never met with the new program
officer at [Donor F] about this project and 3/27 will be our first time speaking. I don’t
know what they intend to do as a granting agency given the negative press attention to
the TASC project. We ALL took a big loss on that.

It’s going to take me years recuperate my own reputation as being someone who didn’t
understand the risks of doing this kind of publicly minded research at a place like HKS
without tenure. I should have known I needed the basic protections of academia, but I
was naive in believing we all served the same mission.
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When Dean Elmendorf said I don’t have academic freedom, what it implied is that the
institution wouldn’t protect us if there were issues with corporations, politicians, etc. But,
I digress. Like I said in a previous email, it is not a good idea to book a new cohort for
news leaders in the fall unless there are staff contracted to deliver it. That’s just common
sense.

I believe that funders should be made aware of the risks facing TASC projects, especially
after such an awful press cycle. You all should be as concerned about completing the
[Donor B] grant as you are with this [Donor F] one.

You told the media there was funding through June 2024, so not finishing 2023
deliverables seems foolish. Of course, our motives may be different, the goal should be
the same: to meet the objectives of the TASC project with high quality, rigorous, and
scientific output.

To be clear, everyone on the TASC team is deeply distressed about their contracts. For
newsleaders to run, we need [SIX NAMES REDACTED] at minimum. Much of the
specifical research and case studies are run through the rest of the research team for
fact-checking and editorial.

By the end of September, tasc will be significantly gutted and I am merely trying to let
you know that we can not deliver the same programming with 1/4 the staff. Dismantling
the most diverse and impactful research team at the Kennedy School means that the
projects Shorenstein wants to continue doing will suffer as our team-based research is
what drives News Leaders.

I know you all have not said this, but I am inferring from your silence on the exit plan
that I am not going to be allowed to hire or replace anyone that departs before June
2024.

It’s such a toxic environment.

I do not want to be the subject of any more scrutiny or harassment as it is making me
physically ill. My team and I need safety to do this work and having our information
plastered in the press is horrible.

When you say that all "official" communication must happen through RAO, can
anyone provide clear instruction on what that means? Is it sufficient to cc [HKS
STAFF NAME REDACTED]? Do others want to join meetings? As of now, I have to
schedule a follow up with [Donor B] to update on the public interest internet
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conference (still waiting on the go ahead to plan this for Spring) and [Donor F] to meet
the new program officer (scheduled for 3/27 at 3pm). Does someone else want to
attend?

Lastly, since there's going to be a serious overage of [Donor E]’s donation by the
close of this year, will Harvard return the funding because the restrictions placed
on me by Shorenstein and the Dean are in direct contradiction with the gift
agreement?

If so, let’s discuss what it means to end this excruciating situation.

To reiterate, I will not cower to threats against IP. You must define what you are claiming
as Harvard’s work. If Shorenstein does choose to continue programs I created, be
warned it’s not as easy as we make it look.

In fact, my advice is that it’d be smarter to start fresh so you’re not competing with such
a high-profile and successful former program.

Take it from me, imposter syndrome can be really difficult to overcome.

I will not allow intimidation in the press to stop me from doing these critical research
and educational programs.

HKS can leak all it wants, but I will maintain my dignity and privacy through this ordeal.

TASC staff are being purposefully driven into employment precarity through strategically
short contracts. I did not advise that.

Let’s do better.
Sincerely.

209. On 3/23/2023, I sent an email to the Research Administration Office, including

[ASSOCIATE DEAN’S NAME REDACTED] and another grant manager for Shorenstein. I

was confused as to why no one cared that we were going to miss a grant deliverable for [Donor

B]. I saw the hypocrisy as Ms. Gibbs wanted to continue to host the Newsleader convening with

nearly 60 attendees, but was completely stonewalling any attempt to move forward with a

convening of academics on the topic of a Public Interest Internet. Despite the fact that we had

limited the guest list to 30 people, I could not get anyone to approve this small convening or the

TASC exit plan. I wrote to the administrators:
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I am going to go through the grant agreements to establish in concrete terms what is left
to deliver on grants. I am also very concerned about the [Donor B] grant about the
public interest internet that has about $180K in funding to spend down. In December, I
was forbidden by the Dean from hosting conferences with more than 30 people, but I
also have not been given the go ahead to do an event with 30 people explicitly.

The Dean’s restrictions placed on me and the TASC team are preventing Harvard from
meeting contractual obligations.

I will not be complicit in what amounts to a cover up of wasted funding.

In December 2022, we had the entire agenda for this conference set to go and I was
blocked from sending out invitations. I can’t believe I have to fight this hard to deliver
the work we are obligated to do. The Dean said his reasoning was that he did not want to
‘increase’ my ‘public profile,’ but I don’t see how a conference with 100 other
professionals/academics does anything more than complete our stated goal and promote
academic inquiry about technology.

The Berkman Klein Center and Jonathan Zittrain would like to host this conference for
TASC because they see its field-wide value. In this way, attention would be directed
towards them and not me, my team, or Shorenstein, if attention to TASC is the main
reason why it was canceled by Dean Elmendorf.

In the [Donor B] proposal, we make several references to convenings as a deliverable. I
can not get anyone to give me the go ahead to do this work and the grant closes in June.
I do not want to have to tell [Donor B]that I am being blocked from finishing this
deliverable, but I seem to be the only one concerned with this. Numerous queries into
this issue have gone unanswered for months.

I knew something was amiss when the News Leaders event was given the green light and
there is NO stated deliverable for an all cohort wide gathering (50 people) in year 2 for
the [Donor F] grant. Instead, that project was allowed to go on because Nancy wants to
continue my program after the TASC team is terminated.

What are the repercussions of not delivering on this grant, when I have been blocked
since June 2022 from carrying out this project with the correct staff ? At what point must
we let [Donor B] know that Harvard has prevented the completion of the project
despite there being funding to carry out a high quality convening? Is it your job to tell
[Donor B] this?
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We were denied by the Dean’s office from hiring an events coordinator in June, we could
not have a podcast on internet policy in July, and now this conference was blocked in
December. I can’t keep going back to the program officer with these negative updates.

Currently, I am being intentionally understaffed, so it’s not long before we do not have
the administrative or research staff in place to deliver it anyway. I believe in this regard
that if you’re not going to let the conference happen, the funding should be returned to
[Donor B].

From the [Donor B]grant narrative:

*LONG TERM GOAL: While research on internet infrastructure has made
important gains over the last decade (mostly technological), this initiative will
convene academics, technologists, and policymakers to research and discuss
policy options on public interest obligations for information technologies.

*MEDIUM TERM OUTCOMES:

1. Conceptualize, define, and outline the goals of a public interest internet, so
that the field can develop and debate a shared vision for protecting human rights
in digital environments. We will do this by hiring a post-doctoral student to
continue their research on internet infrastructure and technology policymaking,
which will diagnose core problems brought about by the current design of the
internet and social media platforms.

2. Generate new policy ideas about the internet’s tech stack to build knowledge
among key decision-makers through research and education. We will do this by
convening industry, government, academic and civil society experts to discuss
policy ideas on information, technology, and democracy grounded in empirical
research.

3. Research the actors, behaviors, content, and design of social media products
and the degree to which these contribute to spreading misinformation-at-scale in
order to create new case studies for the TASC team’s Media Manipulation
Casebook (https://mediamanipulation.org).

4. Create an expert network through (virtual and in-person) convenings that
combine policy and technology approaches to creating a public interest internet.
We will do this by bringing together civil society, academics and policymakers
around shared concerns related to internet infrastructure, rights, equity, and
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justice, to formulate concrete responses, exchange knowledge, ideas and build
novel networks of people and technologies in the public’s interest.

From the Budget narrative:

We have not allocated the grant amount equally over the term of the grant
because $400,000 is specifically for the Public Interest Internet Initiative and
$300,000 is for core support for the TaSC team. The conference and its
associated travel and personnel costs, which are large expenses, are primarily
allocated in year two.

Sincerely,
Joan Donovan, PhD

210. At this point, I was utterly exhausted by the back and forth. It felt like it was never ending

and no one was willing to make a decision for fear of Dean Elmendorf becoming upset. HR

came back to the table to discuss contract extensions from June 30, 2023 to August 31, 2023 or

December 31, 2023. After numerous meetings where I advocated for full extensions of the

entire team through June 2024, except for those cases where people wanted to leave on

8/31/2023 because they were going to school or starting a new job. On 04/03/2023, HR

informed me that they were only willing to extend a few members of staff from 06/30/2023 to

08/31/2023 and others whose contracts expired in September and October 2023 would be

decided upon in the summer. Employees were only notified of the contract extension on

04/24/2023.

211. I sent this email on 04/03/2023 to HR to advocate for my team:

Thank you,

Just to flag, the people you have suggested we revisit in the summer are both women of
color. Given the statements made to the media by the school, the extensions of the entire
team except for these two women seems an awful precedent at this stage.

[NAMES REDACTED] were just brought on last year. As well, why only put [NAME
REDACTED] on until August 31? He has been re-budgeted to be on newsleaders until
the conclusion of that program. He also has participated in the program since its
inception.
Again, I view the precarity forced on the TASC team as an impediment to doing our
work. Do I have any rights as a PI about how this funding is spent down?
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We have millions in funding, so these contract negotiations are extremely one-sided. In
particular, statements made to the media about having funding to run until June 2024 left
much of the team believing they would get appropriate and fair contracts.

I am trying to advocate for the entire group here and I don’t know what else to do at this
point.

Best,
Joan

212. This plea to extend the contracts of three employees went nowhere. It is typical within

universities for scholars to be on contract for one or two years, while they do their research and

move on at the conclusion of their contract. I had previously worked at UCLA for two years on

soft money, a term used for grant-funded research, and was able to move onto another job

seamlessly. This is what I wanted for my team. After the fateful meeting with Dean Elmendorf

on 8/24/2022, I expected to be able to run my research normally and that we would all leave

according to the June 2024 timeline, even though I was on contract until 12/31/2024. This

would ensure a smooth transition for me and my team into other jobs with a feeling of pride and

accomplishment.

213. Instead, these short-term contract negotiations produced a lot of friction and when coupled

with the IP issues, harassment by Ms. Manley, and Ms. Gibbs’ allegations that I had violated

numerous rules without any specificity, the entire TASC team, but especially myself, were

spiraling. I was hospitalized three times between January – May for high potassium, which is my

body’s immune response to anxiety and stress. I was prescribed medication to alleviate anxiety

and it seems to have controlled this issue. Unfortunately, the pummeling of the TASC team did

not stop.

214. Ultimately by correspondence dated July 13, 2023, the Kennedy School informed me that

they are ending the TASC program and my employment on August 31, 2023, and that my role as

Research Director for the Shorenstein Center is being eliminated.
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I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the

foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on November 28, 2023

_________________________________

Joan Donovan
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